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Landmarks Preservation Ocnmissdon
. f;p;g;?ar 26, 1978, Designation List- 119

I
FORT GREENE HISTORIC DISTRICT, BOROUGH OF BROOKLYN
1

BOUNDBRIES f

The property bounded by the eastern curb line of St, BEdwards Street,
part of the southern curb line of Willoughby Street, part of the western
and part of the scuthern property lines of Fort Greene Park, the remain-
ing part of the western property line of Fort Greene Park, a-line extending
southerly to the northern curb line of De Kalb Avenue, part of the northern
camblme.ofnelcalbhmm,almemmg southerly to the eastern .
b line of S. Elliott Place, part of the eastern curb line of S. Elljott -
Place, a line extending easterly to the southern line of 71 S.
Elliott Place, the southérn property line of 71 S. Elliott Place, the

line of 70 S. Portland Avenue, the western and southern

western property
- property lines of 72 S. Firtland Averuwe, a line extending easterly to the

-

=

eastern curb line of S. Portiind Averme, part of the eastern curb line of S.
Portland Avemie, part of the northern curb line of lLafayette Avenue, a line
extending northerly to the eastern line of 67-75 S. Portland Avemue/
91 Lafayette Avenue, the eastern property line of 67-75 S. Portland Averue/
91 Lafayette Averue, part of the southern property line of 65 S. Portland
Avamue, the southerly property line of 64 S. Oxford Street, a line extending
eastarly to the eastern curb line of S. Ouford Street, part of the curb line
of S. Oxford Street, a line extending socutherly across Lafayette Avenue, part
oftltaeastemcurblineofs Oxford Street, & line extending easterly ¢o
the southern proparty line of 77-93 §. (xford Streat/102~108 Lafayette -
Avenue, the southern 1line of 77-93 8. Cxford Street/loz-los Lafayette
Avenua, the western lines of 302 through 320 Cumberland Street _
partofthemrﬂmm&dttmmternmtylimofll@emeAvemm,

& lire extending scutherly to the northern curb iline of Greens Avenue, part
of the northern curb line of Greene Avenue, part of the western curb line
of Qawbarland Street, a line extending easterly to the southern proparty line
of 311 Cumberland Strest, thz scuthern property lines of 311 Cumberland Street
and 370 Carlton Avenue, & line extending easterly to the easterm curb line of .
Carlton Avemue, part of the eastern curb line of Carlton Avenue, a line ex-
tenddng easterly to the southern property line of 375 Carlton Avenue, part
of the southern and part of the eastarn proparty lines of 375 Carlton Avenue,
ths remaining part of the southern line of 375 Carlton Averme, part
of the southern and part of the westém lines. of ‘374 Adelphi Street,
the western property lines of 376 and 378 Adelphi Street, the western and the
gouthern property lines of 380 Adelphi Street, a line extending easterly to
the eastern curb line of Adelphl Street, part of the eastern curb line of
Adalphi Street, a line southerly acrogs Greene Avenue to part of
the eastern curb line of Adelphi Street, a line extending easterly to the
southarnoproperty line of 375-383 Adelphi Street/54 Greens Avenue, the
southern property lines of 375-383 Adelphi~Streest/54 Greene Averme through
62 Grezne Avenue, the western propetty line of 396 through 402 Clermont
Averne, part of the western and part of the southern property lines of 404

. Clermont Avenue, the remaining part of the western property line of 404
Clemmthveme,t}ewestempmpertylimofmsmenmtnvmm,partof
ﬂwmsﬁemandpartofﬂmmrﬂmmpmpertylhmaofwaclenmtnmme;
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‘the remaining part of the western property line of 408 Clernont Avenue, the

western property lines of 410 through 432 Clermont Avenue, the western and

the southern property lines of 434 Clemmont Avenue, a line extending easterly

v to the eastern curb line of Clermont Avenue, part of the eastern curb line

. of Clermont Avenue, a line extending easterly to the southern property line

* of 441 Clemmont Avernwe, the southern property lines of 441 Clermont Avenue

} and 434 vanderbilt Avenue, a line extending easterly to the western curb
line of Vanderbilt Avenue, a line extending northerly across Greene Avenue,
the western curb line of Vanderhilt Averue, a line extending northerly across
Lafayette Avenue, the western curb line of Vanderbilt Avenue, a line extend-
ing hortherly across De Kalb Avemie, part of the western curb line of Vander-
bilt Averue, a line extending westerly to the northern property line of 247
De Kalb Avermie, the northern property lines of 247 through 241 De Kalb Avenue,
part of the eastern property line of 239 De Kalb Avenue, the eastern and part
of the property lines of 259 Clermont Averme, the eastern property
1ines of 257 ithrough 215 Clermont Avenue, the eastern and part of the northern
property 1 of 213 Clermmont Avenmue, the eastern property line of 211
Clermont Avermie, then contimuing along the eastern building line of 64-72 .
Willoughby Avenue/201-209 Clermont Avenue, a line extending northerly to the
scuthern curb line of Willoughby Avemie, part of the southern curb line
of Willoughty Averme, a line extending westerly across Clermont Avenue, the
southern curb line of Willoughby Avemue, a line extending westerlysacross
Aelphl Street, the southern curb line of Willoughby Avenue, a line extending
wasterly across Carlton Avenue, part of the southern curb line of Willoughby
Averme, a line extending northeasterly acrogs Willoughby Avemue to the
eastern property line of 1-10 Willoughby Avere/176-177 Washington Park
ttmaghlumslﬂnghmpark,partoftrneastemarﬂpartofﬂxemrﬂ\em

lines of 173 Washington Park, the remaining eastern property line
of 173 washington Park, the eastern property lines of 172 through 160 :
Washington Park, part of the eastern and part of the southern property lines
of 159 Washington Park, the remaining eastern property line of 159 Washington,
Park,partoftheeastemarﬂpartoftmmmmmertylﬁmoflsa D
Park,partofﬂneeast&rnaxﬂpartofﬂmemrﬂmnpmpertylﬁm!-

of 158 Washington Park, the remaining eastern and the remaining northern prop-
erty lines of 158 Washington Park, a line extending westerly to the western
curb line of Washington Park, part of the western curb line of Washington .
Park.thesmtlmmrblmeofmuehm,mopuyn._

TESTIMONY AT THE PUBLIC HEARING

On September 20, 1977, the Landmarks Preservation o::missim held a
p:hlichearmgmthisammidxiammoposadasanﬂimicnistﬂct
(Item No. 7)., The hearing had been duly advertiséd in accordance with the f
provigions of law, Fifty-five persons spoke in favor of the proposed -
designation, Six persons spoke in opposition to the proposed designation.
zmmiﬁimm:eceivedmletmwmgmﬂanemfmofﬂm
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1-17 South Elliott Place, c.1868-1881,

THE NEIGHBORHOOD

204-208 Mdelphi Street; c. 1866

Photo éredit: andrew S. Dolkart, Landmarks Preservation Commission
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THE NEIGHBORHOOD

1-17 South Elliott Place, c.1868-1881.

204-208 J'\(I(}I[ahi Street; c. 1866

Photo éredit: Andrew S. Dolkart, Landmarks Preservation Comission
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HISTORICAL INTRODUCTION '

The Neighbortnod

Brooklyn, or Breuckelen as the Dutch called it, was first settled in
the late 1630s and early 1640s by Walloon and Dutch farmers who settled

-alang the shoreline just north of the Fort Greene area. and in 1645 the

Dutch village, centered where the Broocklyn and Manhattan Bridges now stand,
was incorporated. The village developed very slowly and even by 1790, two
years after the New York State islature incorporated Brocklyn as a town,
the population was only 1,603, ' C

. The opening of reliable ferry service between Brooklyn and New York
caused the first.great spurt of developmnt that changed Brooklyn from a
quiet town into the third larqest city in 19%th-century America. The first
reqular ferry service began in 1814 wheg Robert Fulton's ship Nassau opened
a route between New York and Brookl By the mid-1830s and 1840s fast,
safe and reliable steamboats were regularly plying the waters between the
two cities making it possible and convenient for a New York City business-
man to live in Brooklyn and work :m Manhat:tan.

The extensive residential development of Brooklyn began in the 1830s
in the Brooklyn lleights area, which was located near the ferry slips. The
rapid qro'.srth in the town's population led to the incorporation of Brooklyn
as a city in 1834, BAs the 19th century progressed the residential area ex-
panded outward in an easterly and southerly direction from the lleights and
by mid-century much of the area now lying west of Flatbush Avenue {including
the present-day neighborhoods of Brooklyn Heights, Cobble Hill and Boerum:
Hill) had béen substantially built up. By the early 1850s major residential
development was beginning to push farther gastward into the Fort Greene area.

Fort Greene had been a quiet, rural section well into the 19th century.
Records trace land ownership back to the 17th century when it was the
property of Pieter Ceser, also known as Peter Caesar Alberti reputed to
have been Drooklyn's first resident of Italian descent. ° Other 17th-
century landowners included Peter C. Albertus and Jan Damen., By the 19th
century much of the land within the Historic District had been divided into
four farm tracts owned by the Ryerson, Post, Spader and Jackson families.
Beginning in the middle years of the century these farms were subdivided
and lots scold for developxmnt. The widow of Jacob Ryerson began to sell
off the family land in the late 1840s. Jacob Rye.rson wags a descendent of
one of the early Dutch families of Brooklyn, and Ryerson Street,northeast
of the District, named for them. The first Ryersons to arrive in North
Iverica-were Martin and Annctje Reyerszen who settled intheWallaboutama
late in the 17th century. The family holdings spread south from the
Wallabout and encompassed much of the present day Clinton Hill and Fort
Greene neighborhoods. The Ryerson tract within the boundaries of the
District included a strip of land that extended north-south through the
district along Carlton Avenue and Adelphi Street. :
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Historical Introduction .

The Post,farm, established in' the mid-1820s by William and Gerardus
Post, included the blockfronts of Washington Park and Carlton Avenue north
of DeKalb Avenue. It was sold in small lots in the 1850s and 1860s.

The Jackson family began to purchase the land extending frum South
Elliott Place to Carlton Avenue south of DeKalb Avenue in the last years
of the 18th century. In the late 1840s the executors of Jchn Jackson and
trustees of his heir, Hamilton H, Jackson, began to divest themselves of
their landholdings. John Jackson had been a native of Jerusalem on Long
Island who came to Brooklyn after the Revolutionary War with his brothers
Samel and Treadwell., In 1791 they purchased a thirty-acre estate in the
Fort Greene v:.cmlty.

The fam of Jeremiah V. and John Spader extended north-south alom
Clermont and Vanderbilt Avenues. The Spuders seem to have aoquired their
tract of land in 1821, and Maria Spader sold the property off in many small
parcels in the 1850s anﬂ 1860s. /

Before Fort Greene developed as a middle-class residential district,
however, it was the location of a notorious shantytown, located primarily
along Myrtle Avenue. In 1849 this settlement became quite controversial.
Development was heading eastward and the presence of this shantytown was
seen as an Lrpediment. One Brooklyn resident wrote to the Brooklyn Daily

Dagle asking:

How long, Mr. Editor, shall those disgraceful nuisances,
which now infest the neighborhood of this beautiful
spot be suffered to exist. Perchance there are but

few places about...more desirable for residences, or
more pleasant for our evening walks than this; and

yet, on every side filthy shanties are pexmitted to

be erected from which issue all sorts of offensive
amells, .. It is indeed a fact that many of the irmates
of these hovels keep swine, cattle, etc. in their
cellars and not an unusual circumstance to witness
these animals enjoying side by side with their owners
the cheering rays of the sun; whilst offal and filth

of the assorted family is suffered to collect about
their premises and endanger the lives of those in 4
their neighborhood by its sickening and deadly affluvia.

A few weeks after this letter was published "the mayor and his staff
made a visit to the flourishing settlement...and ordered all the pigs,
hogs, qoats, etc., to be removed." 5 Besides the shantytown this area of
Brooklyn was also the site of a number of institutions of the type gener-
ally found on the fringes of a city in the 19th century. A hospital and
poor-house were established in 1824, and in 1825 a plot of ground was
purchased for the Brooklyn Burial ("rourxi None of the early buildings
erected for these institutions remain. ‘
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Iustorlcal Inchx’luctlon '_ . .

.o Not long after- the J.nc:1dent with t'.he pigs, frame and masoONXy Yow.
héuses began to appedr in large nimbers in the. area, particularly south
and east of ‘the park. ‘Fort Greene Park, criginally called W'ashmqt:on Park,

predates this row house development. The park had been plammed in the 1840s
' as an open space for the working class population which then inhabited the
area. Most of the houses erected in Fort Greene before the Civil War were
‘fairly modest by comparison with later constriction. . These houses included
frame dwellings and modest brick and brownstonge row houses, many of which
are stiil standing on South (ford Street, Cumberland Street and Carlton
Avenue. The middle-class residents of -these houses made the area respectable,
and this led t6 the construction of grander brownstone rows and a humber
of free 'standing mansions (two of which were located on Lafayette Avenue
between South Oxford Street and South Portland Avenue, but they have been
replaced by apartment houses) for the upper middle class. South Portland
Avenue, South Oxford Street and Clermont Avenue became the hane of wealthy
merchants, lawyers, stockbrokers, and: businessmen. W:.th this influx of a
new monied population there came a change in the park. "By 1867 when Olmsted
& Vaux were appointed to lay out the parks of Brooklyn, Washington Park had
severely deteriorated. The Olmsted & Vaux design for the park was planned
to appeal to the leisure time requirements of the middle-class families who
" were living in the newly built brownstones. Thus, the. physical am:earame
of the park was directly affected by the changing social class of the resi- -
dents of the area. 'The park did not, however, have as great an effect on
the architectural development of the area as might be assuwed, Ak nas °
already been noted, the middle—class residential districts of Rrooklym were
expanding eastward and by 1860 Fort Greene was in the direct path of this
development. The area would undoubtedly have become a prime residential
neighborhood whether or not the park had been.there. .For the most part the
buildings surrounding the park are rot larger or grander than those found
on other streets in the vicinity. The only exceptions to this are same .
extremely impressive brownstone structures located on Washmgton Park,
particularly between Willoughby ane. DeKalb Avenues.

Most of the. 19th-century row house residents of Fort Greene were
husiness and professional people who commted to their offices and factories
in Manhattan, In this respect Fort Greene was typical of 19th-century
Brooklyn. As E. Idell Zeisloft reported in 1899:

Brooklyn has always been an adjunct of the metropolis
rather than a city with a camplete civic life of. its own,
a dwelling-place for business folk and employees who
posses moderate incomes, and those of greater means who
abhor the feverish and artificial joys of the modern
Babel. Tt is a vast aggregation of home and family life,
and of the social pleasures that appertain thereto. There
is little to be seen in Brooklyn save the streets and
avenues, hundreds of miles of them, filled with rows of
dwelling houses...All of Brooklyn, indeed, with the.ex~
ception of the waterside streets and range of cloud '
piercing office buildings /In the Civic Center area/..

is the  exclusive dongm of women and chlldren dunm

the daylight hours.



FG-1D g - I o —5a-
Historical Introductlon o : .

It should be ncrted that in’ the 19th° oentury the term "I‘ort Greene"
signified the fort located on the site of the present day park. The
larger neighborhood, now called Fort Greene, was in fact the lower
reaches of the Clinton Nill area which centered along Clinton Avenue
just to the east of the boundaries of the District. It has only been
in the 20th oentury that Fort Greene has become a separate neighborhood
entity. It remained a qulet and prosperous comminity for many years.
Little change’occurred in the District until the mid-20th century when
-many of the middle-class residents left the area for the suburhs. As
happened in many American cities the poor moved into this old urban :
neighborhood and by the early 1960s the World-Telegram, in an article on
South Oxford Street texmed the area "squalid." Today the Fort Greene.
area is being rev1tallzed as many rediscover the advantages of urban llf@..
The buildings, many of which had been turmed into rooming houses, again '
are beocmmq much sought after private residences and today Fort Greene
is a v:.able and vibrant. conmunity. .
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Plan of Redesign of Washington Park; Olmsted & Vaux, architect, 1868 (From: }Eﬂ]th
Annual Report of the Cammissioners of Prospect Park, 1868).

i

Photo credit: William Alex

Martyrs' Monument; McKim,
Mead & White, architect,
1908.

Photo credit: Andrew S.
Dolkart, Landmarks
Preservation Cammission
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Fort Greene Park

The proud resting place of 11,500 Revolutionarir‘.Waf dead, and the site of
fierce fighting during the Battle of long Island, Fort Greene Park was the
first successful public park in Brooklyn. Begun in 1848, the park was largely
the product of Brooklyn Daily Eagle editor, Walt Whitman, who for two years
tenaciously kept the issue before the minds of the people ‘of the city.

Whitman had recognized and voiced the recreation needs of the growing populace
of East Brooklyn where "the mechanics and artificers of our city, most do
congregate . " 8"\ Fort Greene Park, or Washington Park as it was first called,
helped to gauge the city's need for public parks and by its success set the
stage for the city's major effort at Prospect Park and the subsequent city-
wide park systém, When Fort Greene Park was incorporated into the compre-
hensive park system in 1867, the park gained added d:.stmctmn by being re-
designed by the renowned laxﬁscape firm of Frederick Law Olmsted and Calvert.
Vawx, An integral part of the new design was the creation of a vault within
the park to house the hones of the thousands of American soldiers who had
perished on the over-crowded British prison ships anchored for six years in
Brooklyn's Wallabout Bay. 1In 1908, following efforts for over fifty years, the
remains of these brave American soldiers were finally honored with a monmument

vhich was designed by the prestigious architectural fim of McKim, Mead and
White.

Bounded by Myrtle Avenue, Washington Park, DeKalb Avenue, the Brooklyn
City Hospital and St. Bdwards Street, the 33 acres which comprise Fort -
Greene Park rise to a high prominence overlooking Wallahout Bay and the East
River. The hill, which was formed when the Wisconsin ice sheet receded from
the Island and which characterizes Fort Greene Park, played a strategic
role in the American defense system during the Revolution. This gystem was
strung out along the neck of the Brooklyn peninsula between Wallabout Bay
and Gowanus Creek. By means of this line of fortifications and the natural
protection of the rocky ridge to the south near what is now Prospect Park, -
General George Washington had hoped to protect the valuable heights of
Brooklyn fram British occupation. Surrender of the Heights and its ferry
meant surrender of the port of New York, the foothold which following the
surrender of Boston the British badly needed. Begun in March of 1776,
construction of the fortifications was hastened when the commanding American
officer called upon "all the male inhabitants of Kings county, both white
and black" to join in the work. 2 In May the job of building the defense
system was turned over to General Nathanael Greene)a Rhode Islander who had
proved ‘invaluable during the organization of the slege of Boston and who
later hecame one of Washington's most trusted officers. Greene assioned his
favorite Rhode Island regiment under the command 6f Colonel Daniel Hitchoock
to the task of building and defending Fort Putnam which was the key to the

eastern end of the defense system, located on the present site of Fort
Greene Park. :
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Fort Putnam, named for militaxﬂ; engineer Rufus Putnam who designed the
Neww York defmses was a star-shaped earthwork mounting four or five gquns.

Surrourded by a ditch, the fort with its well and store of provisions was a -

self-contained unit. Hitchocock's men felled the trees in the forest to the

east of the fort and constructed an awesome abatis, or barricade with barb-
like branches pointing towards the anticipated threat.

On Auqust 26, l??ﬁ,-when the British finally made their move, after landing
troops to the south at Gravesend Bay, thé fortifications were ready. However,
a weakness in the American lines was relayed to the Rritish by long Island
loyalists. The following day the main force of the British armmy funneled
ﬂmmqhﬂlepoorlyguazﬂedJmicaPassmﬂbeqmtolaysieqaonﬂemican
line of fortifications. Washington, scon realizing his error, sent reinforce-
ments from Manhattan but the inkensity of the fighting to hold Fort Putnam on
the 28th made clear his course of action. Retreat across the East River was
the only sure way to salvage his army from the nation's first battle. While
the British continued to pursue their siege of the fortifications, Washingrton,
with the help of a band of Marblehead fishermen, successfully ferried his men
across the East River. The Continental Army was safe but the British com-
pletely leveled the abandoned fortifications and captured the port of New York.

Following their victory on Long Island and their subsequent capture of

New York and eventually Fort Washington, the British had taken captive a
staggering munber of prisoners who very socon filled New York's two jails and
who were being held in everything from sugar warehouses to churches. With
each campaign came a new lot of captured Americans to the British base in New
York and it was finally decided to house the men on the old transport vessels
at anchor in Wallabout Bay. The account of at least one prisoner has survived:

On the camencement of the first evening we were

driven down to darkness, between decks secured by

iron gratings and an armed soldiery, and a scene

of horror which baffles all description presented

itself. On every side Brretclnd desponding shapes

of men could be seen,
For six years rotting hulks like the infamous "Jersey” were packed with
Americans who became wracked with disease and soon died. The dead were
ferried to the RBrooklyn shore and were huried in shallow graves in the sand
near what is now the Brooklyn Navy Yard.

Memories of the British course of action during the Revolution were still
very much alive in 1812 and again the Americans built up fortifications along
the neck of the Bmoklyn peninsula. Once more the prospect overlooking
Wallabout Bay was recognized for its strategic importance and in August 1814

the site of old Fort Putnam was transformed into a large star-shaped fortification

called Fort Greene in honor of the great Revolutionary general.

All the nearby towns on Long Island sent volunteers, including wamen, to
work on the mihtar.y oconstruction and although the fortifications were com-
pleted in a months time, the British chose a different plan of attack and the
fort was never used. Little was done with the land for the next twenty-five
years.
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In 1820 Brooklyn was a village of 5,210, bat by 1835, one year after the
city was itmrporated, the population had grown to 24,310, A city plan was
clearly needed. On January 1, 1839 three cannissmmrs appointed by the
Governor "to lay out streets, avenues and squares in the city of Brooklyn" filed
their map in the County Clerk's office. 11 ‘with a city plan finally established,
. wealthy Brooklyn real estate owners could safely parcel out their lands knowing
now where the future city improvements were going. The plan of 1839 did not
please everyone. lLooking jealously at New York's hroad promenade at Battery
Park, preminent citizens such as Hezekiah Beers Pierrepont, wealthy landowner,
and Alden Spooner, editor and publisher of the Long Island Star, had hoped to
preserve a similar open:space along Brooklyn Heights. while profit seeking f
landowners objected to the taxation necessary to fund such a project along the
Helghts, another 1r::c:mtinsgvent: of real estate inwvestors sought to improve their
holdings by proposing to fill a swamp adjacent to their property near Wallabout
Bay, They suggested the creation of a park by filling the swamp with free. £ill
taken from the earthworks at Fort Greene. Real estate interests ocontrolled the
order of the day. The cbvicusly spectacular park along the Heights was de-
feated and Brooklyn hecame burdened with a rather soggy developnent-a Swamp
called City Park, This park is now Commodore Barry Park.

Of the original eleven squares planned in 1839, one was Washington Park
first located by the Commissioners between what is now Atlantic Avenue,
Flatbush Avenue, Ashland Place, Fulton Avenue and Fort Greene Place. During
the 1840's, however, great numbers of immigrants, fleeing the potato famine in
Ireland between 1845-47, poured into East Brooklyn and it soon became clear to

real estate investors that the smooth site of the proposed square had potential =~

profit. In 1845, howing to the pressure of the husinessmen, the Comwon Qouncil
relocated the site of the proposed Washington Park to a section unprofitable
for real estate interests-the rocky prominence occupied by the decimated re-
mains of the 1812 Fort Greene in the center of the growing 7th Ward.

In March of 1846 another campaign was initiated when Walt Whitman, an
experienced newspaperman at the age of 26, became editor of the Brooklyn
Daily %le, “this chief of Long Island journals.” 14 whitman took a progress-

ve s as editor, somewhat after the fashion of Horace Greeley of the New
York Tribune. The demanding schedule of the newspaper, which it was suggested

1tman’s predecessor, bound the young editor to the confines of the

city where summer walks often raised issues to be used in his editorials. A
friend of William Cullen Rryant, editor of the New York BEvening Post, Whitman
was often accampanied, on these odcasions, by this great pramoter of Central
Park, Whitman clearly sympathized with Bryant's efforts to plan a publ:.c
- park for New York,and the newly-appointed editor made a similar effort in
Brooklyn. A pa.rk for the densely populated area of East Brooklyn, where each
summer cholera ran rampant and where people were trapped for life by their
poverty, was the issue he doggedly pursued. Whitman fondly recounted:
“Descending Fort Greene one comes amid a colony of squatters, whose chubby
children, and the good-natured brightness of the eyes of many an Irishwoman,

tell plainly f?ough that you are wending your way among the shanties of the
Emeralders.” ,
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Whitman follewed the arqument that the less . priviledged people of East

Brooklyn needod a park far more than those wealthy individuals on the Heights.
He aprealzd to the current interest in public health, undoubtedly intensified
by the mmbers of cases of cholera which were reported daily in the newspaper,
ard described the park as a "lung" which helped bring badly needed fresh air
into the city. 14 "1n July of 1846 the Brooklyn Common Council agreed that the
park should be developed but the means of financing the project were not yet
decided upon. The following vear it was plamned that a city-wide assessment
would provide the means for the development. A struggle ensued. Whitman saw
the fight as a manifestation of "nativism" against the immigrants, hut it
should be recalled that landowners in Brooklyn had traditionally opposed
taxation. Curiously ermqh Whig Alderman James S.T. Stranahan, the great
promoter of Prospect Park in the 1860s,was against the development of the 33
acres of Washington Park hecause it was too large. Finally a compromise plan

of assessment was agreed upon on February 26, 1848, and $90 000 was allocated
for the project.

On February 28th when "At the rising of ‘the sun....a salute of one
hundred guns was fired from old Fort Greene," Whitman was no longer in a
position to write about it. He had resigned his post in January but his park
had became a’'reality. It was suggested that Andrew Jackson Downing, the
country's foremost landscape gardener, be emploved to design the park but
this never materialized. The park was, however, developed along the natural-
istic lines which Downing preached. By 1850 the park was finished, only after
it hadbeen fully established that the residents of the neighborhood could
no longer keep their hogs on the premises, By 1858 Edwin Spooner, second of
that family to advocate Brooklyn parks, noted: “"a park of larger dimensions
than Washington, beautiful as that is, is very desirable, and will be found
essential when this city has a ation of half a million, as it will in
another quarter of a century.” 16 The seed of Prospect Park had been planted.

In Jammary of 1867 Brooklyn Mayor Samuel Booth initiated a plan for a
camprehensive park system by entrusting the design of four additional parks to
the Comissioners of Prospect Park. Now famous for their successful designs
for Central Park and Prospect Park, the' landscape design team of Frederick lLaw
Olmsted and Calvert Vaux was appointed to the task of laying. out the new
parks. Following the lead of park advocates Whitman, Bryant and Andrew
Jackson Downing, the famous author and landscape gardener with whom Vaux
had worked, Olmsted and Vaux advocated a system of parks linked by tree- -
lined streets to answer the open space needs of the rapidly growing cities.
Olmsted, in particular, sought to end the flight of the wealthy to the suburbs
by providing the city with attractive residential lots enhanced by their view
of the park. One of the first projects to cocupy the partners' attention was
the redesign of Washington Park, or Fort Greene as most people continued to
call it, By 1867 ﬂmmpopularpaxksmmwearofharduse Following
a suxrvey of the grounds, Olmsted and Vaux declared that most of the trees
were badly injured, the lawns were bare,and the park was unsafe for women and
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children.. The team, however, marvelled at the view, the fresh air and the
varied character of the terrain. The designers personally classified the
area as something more than a town square hut less than their estimation of
a proper paﬂ:. Nonetheless the "square",.as they first called it, was to
be handied in a rural manner. They specified that the rolling surface be
closely planted and be traversed by "a series of shady walks that fwould/
have an outlook over open grassy spaces at intervals." 17

Waghirgton Park was designed by Olmsted and Vaux to meet a variety of local
needs. On the crest of the hill where people might take air and enjoy the
spectacular sight, there was planned a cruciform vine-covered trellis of
worked wood which would offer shelter from the summer sun. The covered
walk was designed to share the prominence with an observatory. ~ To'the morth
of the walk was projected a formal military saluting ground which ceremon-
iously overlooked a series of steps and landings into which the vault and moma-
ment to the Prison Ship. Martyrs would be hailt.

OvertheyearstldeahadmrkedmvayatthesarﬁsdftheNavalYazdam
exposed the bones of the victims. In 1808 the Tamwmany Society made the first
effort to secure a proper burial ground for the Revolutionary dead and removed
the remains to a vault on land donated by John Jackson near the Naval Yard.
The land, however, was sold for taxes and another Brooklyn resident, Benjamin
Romaine, purchased the lot to protect the burial ground. When Romaine died
in 1844, concerned citizens again sought to secure the historic lot. An.
attmptmsmadeorwyear later to interest the national goverrment in pro-
viding an appropriate tomb and monument for the Revolutionary "martyrs” as
they have traditionally been called. In 1855, ten years after the failure to
attract the concern of the federal goverrment, "The Martyrs' Memorial ,
Association,” with representatives from each senatorial district in New York,
eanhstateandeachterntoxymsestablishedandproposedahmial site in
Brooklyn's new Washington Park.

From the projected Martyrs' Memorial the stairs in turn descended to a.great
circular area, with a 370-foot diameter which was wedged into the corner of the .
park at Myrtle Avenue and Canton Street (now Fort Greene Place). Here was
a place for a public gathering of up to 30,000 pecple and a permanent rostrum
was designed for the convenience of public speakers., With the 19th-century
polititian and soldier provided for, the desigqners finally réserved two level
lawns as playgrounds for boys and girls respectively. During the 1880s, by
which time the area arcund Fort Greene had been built up with brownstones, the
lawns were turned over to the fashionable games of croquet and lawn tennis.

In June of 1868 work on Washington Park was again bequn. Chestmut trees
were planted on the periphery of the park where tree~lined walks provided
evening stollers with a well-lit promenade when the gates of the park were
closed. Following lengthy experimentation with many types of paving, Olmsted
ard Vaux finally selected a tar-concrete surface made.by the Scrimshaw Patent
Concrete Campany for most of the walks and drives., Iron-framed benches and one
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rustic seat were set down alongside the walks. The major portion of the park
wasopenedin 1869 and the trellis was ready for use bhe next year. The eco-
nanic difficulties following the Panic of 1873 cut short many of the park plans.
Beth the observatory and rostrum were eliminated and only the vault and
foundations of the Martyrs Memorial were finished. , However, Washington Park
was enthusiastically incorporated into the life of the city. On July 4, 1876,
Brocklyn's Centennial Parade converged on Washington Park where tl'msarﬂshad
gathered to celebrate the day and pay homage to the soldiers lost. In 1897
after over fifty years of official use, the name of Washington Park was
abandoned and the popular name of Fort Greene Park was finally adopted.

On November 14, 1908, President William Howard Taft arrived at Fort Greene
Park to dedicate t.he long-awaited momument to the Prison Ship Martyrs. |
Following the discovery of additional bones in the Brooklyn Naval Yard in 1899,
interest in establishing a significant monument was again renewed. The design
for the monurent, which was supplied by the nationally renowned architectural
team of McKim, Mead and White, stood in marked contrast to the naturalistic
appmachtakenbyOhnstedarﬁVatminlBG?T McKim, Mead and White were in the
vanguard of late 19th and early 20th-century architects who took a classical
and formal approach to design. They felt that an architecture of mormmental
scale and halanced proportion hetter expressed the character of the nation.
Their solution for the design of the momment included the transformation of
the earlier series of stairs into one grand staircase with three hroad terraces
leading to the crest of the hill. From the plaza at the sumit rose a great
Doric colum crowned by a bronze lantern. As in the earlier design of Olmsted
and Vaux, the vault was set into the center of the stairway. A bronze eagle
resting on a Doric ghaft quarded each angle of the square plaza. The plaza
continued to the north and south, terminating in exedra overlooking the East
River and the city of Brooklyn respectively.

Skirted by a coursed ashlar retaining wall supported at reqular inter-
vals by Gothic~inspired buttresses designed by Olmsted and Vaux, Fort Greene
Park continues to offer the people of the surrounding neighborivad a series
of walks through easy-sloping lawns and a comanding view across the East’
River to Lower Manhattan. The early designers' work can also be seen in the
entranceways which are emphasized by carved stone posts and decorative iron
fences. In addition, McKim, Mead and white's monmumental stairway conforms
to the original layout determined by Olmsted and Vaux. Everywhere the wide
variety of magnificent trees of substantial girth prove the value of the land-~
scape architects' original selection. The most notable specimens are seen on
the high plaza where an elm, a maple and a chestnut grow up at rather irreqular
intervals through the otherwise gecmetrically designed plan.

The monument itself, a granite Doric column resting on a stylobate is
entered by two bronze doors outlined with rosettes. Crowning the top of
the 200-foot colum stands a tripod which holds a great bronze urn with a
" glazed lid. The urn,which is 22 feet tall and weighs 7% tons, was cast by
the Whale Creek Iron Works in Greepoint from designs of Manhattan sculptor
Adolph Alexander Weinman (1871-1952). Born in Karlsruhe, Germany, Weinman came
to New York in 1880 and was apprenticed to a carver in wood and ivory.
Following classes in modelling and drawing at Cooper tnion, he worked with
such well-known sculptors at Olin L. Warner, Augustus St. Gawdens, and Dandieél®
Chester French., Weirman became known for his mommental work. 1In New York
his best known projects included the sculpture for thé momumental clock at old
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Pennsylvania Station and that of McKim, Mead and White's Municipal Buildinq.
The Fort Greene Park column was originmally serviced by two winding staircases
and an elevzior which lead to an observatory deck. These features were, how-
ever, ramoved when found in disrepair.

To the northeast of the momment stands a classically conceived structure
originally dJesigned by McKim, Mead and White as a comfort station and now used
23 a maintenance building. Topped with a cresting of copper palmates, the
temple form building has two recessed entrance porticos flanked by pilasters
ard colums in antis. It is interesting to note that Weinman provided this
modest structure with the same bas relief of the Seal of the City of New York,
oaplete with beavers, barrels and windmill, that-he used on the Municipal Build-
ing in Manhattan. More recently the Department of Parks and Recreation has
provided Fort Greene Park with two modern playgoeunds and tennis oourts.

In recogmition of the sad but important role played by the Revolutionary War
Martyrs mtheh:.storyofourommtxy. King Juan Carlos IT of Spain paid an
official visit' to Fort Greene Park during the Bicentennial‘Year of 1976.

Here the King of Spain placed a commemorative plaque and no doubt marvelled at
the spectacular view. Because of its important association with the birthcéf
our country Fort Cireene Park is honored by the people of the United States.
Howenvver, the park has a more intimate relationship with the people of Brooklyn

who seek out the pleasures of its slopes as a relief from the urban
streetscape.
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The Fort Greene Historic District reflects the architectural development
of&nuldynaqrdﬂdle—classreaidmtialmjghboﬁmﬂsmﬂmmw-ﬂveyear

period c. 1855~1880. The area included within the boundaries of the Historic
. District was bullt up almost entirely during this and a large part of
the area retains much of its original 19th-cantury lence. As is typical

of Brookiyn's 19th-century residential neighborhoods, the houses in Fort
Greene are primarily three and four-story rowhouses, most built 6f hrownstone
or brick, The majority of these ware bullt on spsculation to house the
hnqmnhgmiddlechsspmlaﬂmﬂmtmmvﬁg&ﬂncityof&oddm
from New York City and
Priorhol&SOthamhndheenmquttemdhﬁJdmgmtmcdmin
Fort Gregne, It was veported c. 1848 that "the district between /Clinton Averue/
mﬁ&.m.aﬂfardmmaswsmz_ﬁmmmmacg?ma
drearymste,withhxtfmmses” The oldest masonry buildings in the
district are the two Gresk Revival style houses at 237 and 239 Carlton Averue
which date fram the mid-1840s. thildimsmtlwgrmﬂestemeknevival
structures in Fort Greans. The Greek Revival style, which bacame popular in
Awerica in the second decade of the 19th century and in the Rew York area in
tha 18308, was the last of the 18th and early l9%th-century classical revival
styles. These revival styles were f£irst popularized in England by architects,
echolars and dilettanti who traveled to Italy and later to Greece, freguently
to sketch ancient momments. thentlmsetmvelmmblishedﬂmirdrawinga
arﬂworksmmhaslbhemt%oﬂ'shﬁmofhalbecmﬂhﬂmoﬁ Th
__wnlJmest'aminsofsp_mam ST N Tal FTe) BoTE
muquiuesofhﬂmmmlymmmﬂnmhﬂzmgof
classlcal architectural forms. The Gresk Revival style, or as contemporary
writers called it, the Grecian mode, became popular in England in the mid-
18th century where it was used first for garden structures and later for
&eciandarivadfminmicada‘z Piacly ﬁt&ug:hﬁ
mm
1yﬂmaghtlmwblicatimofsinplepatmhaoksmﬂmuderegumm
mmhasﬂmaewrittmbyhﬂmhﬂjmmmmxﬁt.afwer , !

mﬂmMMkammmm.mmmmbeah@h,mmtm,
three-story brick buildings with little or no ormemantal arballishment,
window openings ave crisply cut and are articulated by simple lintels and
aills, Windows are gemsrally double hung and have six-over-six sash .. with
larga, often floor length windows on the parlor flocor and small third story
and/or attic windows, Wide cornices are ormsmented by simple rows of
dentils, The most prominent feature of the Gresk Revival row house is tha
doorvay enframemant which is frequently crnsmented by a hold stone surround
with pilasters supporting & full entsblature., Set within this enframement
are slender pilasters as wall ag gidelights and transom. The wooden door is
usually articulated by inset rectangular panels. Ornsmental cast or cast
and ~iran balustrades, areasway railings and window guards with such

class detalls as Greesk keys, anthamia, guilloche and rinceau designs add
interest to the facades.

in the late laamﬂwlmliamta, amwstylerenhﬂ/mt
of Ytalian Renaissance architectural forms, began to replace the Greek
Revival in popularity. Like earlier styles the Italianate in Amcrica was
agrestly influenced by architectural trends :I.nmglmﬂhﬂme the style had
mede its appearance in 1829 with Charles Barry's Travelers Club; it was
further popularized by Barry's Reform Club (1838~40} . The Philadelphia
Athenseam (John Notman, 1845-47), clearly inspired by Barry's London clubs,
was one of the earliest major Italianate style buildings to be erected in -
Mrerica. mrly emmples of the style in New York include J.B. ‘Snook *s A.T.
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Stsuartsm(luﬁ),mlamasme&mmimmgamm:dIafms

Brooklyn Savings Bank (1846-47, demolished).4. The first Italianate style

dwelling to ba/built in New York City was probsbly Trench & Snook's Hexman

Thorne residence, erected on West 16th Strest betwesn 1846 and 1848

{demolished) . 5  In the 1850s and 1860s the rtanmﬁe became the most

popular style for residential buildingifn the New York City area. In

Brooklyn, Italianate row houses and free-standing mansions appeared alongy

Oolumbia Heights ard other streets in Brooklyn Heights, in Cobble Hill,

Boarum Hill, Carvoll Gardens, Clinton Hill {(particularly on Grand Streat) and

elsewhere, but it is in Fort Greene that this style is particularly evident. .
The vast majority of the structures in the district wexe built in the '
Italianate style or in the related Anglo-Italianate and French Gecond Empire modes.

The earliest Italianate row houses in Fort Greens, those built in ‘the
early 18508, are generally two or three-story brick buildings with modest ,
stone trim. Frequently these buildings exhibit Greek Revival detailing, » .
evidence of the fact that the stylistic transition to the/ Italianate was
& gradual one, -Houses, such as the frame row at Nos. 293-299 Cumberland
Street (c. 1853) are primarily Gresk Rewival; this row exhibits stylized I
Corinthian porches, small attic windows and crossetted window and door en-
framements. The houses of this row also reflect the nmwer Italianateistyle
mﬁmumofmwummmmmmm%

More common are the austerely simple Italianate brick houses such as those

at Nos. 244~-246 Cumberland Strest (c¢. 1855) that exhibit door lintels with

& stylized Gresk foliate fomny such a5 that found on the main entrance

of St. James R.C. Church, a Greek Revival style building in Manhattan attributed

o Minard Lafever (1835-37), Other transiticnal houses e:dﬂbit laurelwmaths

or anthemia forms in dhe door lintels.
mmmﬂmmwmmwmmfmmuyammdwﬂh

the Italianate style. Browngtone is a form of sandstons, quarried estensively -

in New Jersey, Comnecticut and Chio, that becams popular in American arch- !

itecture in the 18408 and remained popular throughout ths remainder of the _

19th-cantury. Because the material is fairly soft, a rich variety of carved

ornsmental forms was able to be used on most Italianate buildings.

The typlcal Italianate row house is three or four-stories high with
basement and high stoop. Arched doorway enframsments with pilasters
toppad by triangular or segmental padiments supported on ornate foliate
brackets, window enframements with bracketad lintels and wide projecting
aille,@abeglassm—m—mewlrﬂwaashmdde@modenmimswith
hesvy follate hrackets are common canltalianate houses. Other typical fowrma
include floor. length parlor windows, rusticatsd basements with arched
cpanings, desply inset double doors, heavy cast-iron balusters and newel-
posts and areaway railings with bold curving forme. The Italisnate rows
were erected tw local bullders such as Thomas B. Jackson, Lawrence Kane and
Jolhn Doherty, many of whom also acted as architects and developers. Often
built in long rows, the Italianate houses such as thoge on South Portland
Avenue create rhythmisally massed and unified blockfronts, frequently of

. Besides the row houses, one extremely fine free-
gtanding Itallanate style mansion is located within the district at 1 South
Fortland Avenue. This late Italianate house was designéd in 1878 by New
York City architect Biward Kendall and is very similar in its use of decor-
ative details to the other Italianate houses on South Portland Averma.
ﬂmreamalaoammberofltaliamtefrmmsasinumdistrict,
of which have been altered.
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A varient of the Italianate is the far less oommon Anglo-Italianate
style which was used for row house construction in the 1850s and 1860s. Whereas
most Italianate style houses have high shoops leading to ornate doorway
enframsments, Anglo-Italianate dwellings have low stoops or English basement
entrances. The stoops lead to simple round-arched door enframements set into
rusticated brownstone ground to floers. .. These houses are often built of
brick&buvemegmmdfloorandfrequentlyhavesementalormmﬁuardmd
windows. ' They are generally arrangéd into unified groups or terraces in the
English tradition. - The finest Anglo-Italianate heusks in the district are
located at 55-57 South Elliott Place and 230-234' Carlton Averue. :

Mich more common than the Anglo-Ttalianate is the French Sécond Brpire
style, most strongly identified with the decade of the 1860s. As the
name implies, this style originated in Paris during the Second Bmpire petiod
of the 1850 Visconti and Iafuel's New Louvre of 1852-1857, with its flam-
boyant £ arﬂmnsazdmfs, aaught the attention of amhitecta outside
of France. Secmﬂmpirebecmequihepoptﬂarinmglmﬁandthmugh :
Enyglish influences the style reached America.

The French Smﬂmlpimstyleusesallofﬂxefmmsa:ﬂdetails
comon 0 typical Ytalianate row houses, 1l.e. hrownstone facades, ornate
door and 'window enframements, rusticated basemshts, bracketed cornices, etc.,
but has the added feature of a full-story mansard roof placed above the
cornice line of the house. These mansards are steeply pitched and clad with
slate chingles. Each mansard is pierced by dormex windows, The mansard
1s freduently crowned by an ornate cast-iron crestiing. In seny areas French
Second Empire houses are more ornate than Italianate style residences, but
this is not the case in Fort Greene where the two styles co-exist and ormate
Italianate buildings stand beside. Second Bmpire houses. Iike the Italianate
rows those of the Second Bmpire style were erectsd by local Brooklyn builders
and form extremely imposing block fronts, same of the finest rows being on
Clermont Averme and on Washington Park both between Willoughby and DeKalb | -
Avenues, ‘There are alsp two Seocond Empire mansions in the district: South
Fortland Avenue, a large four-story house built in 1876 and 373 Carlton
Averme, a more modest three-story residence.

In the 1870s a new style, the neo~Grec, replaced the Italianate and
Second Bmpire in popularity. The basic form for heo~Grec rows is very
similar to that for Italianate rows,with three or four-story, rytimically-
maszed brownstone facades, high stoops, pedimented doorway enframements, and
hracketed cornices. It&smﬂmdetaﬂhwﬁmtﬂnxm-&tcmsediffem
fmnthosebuiltinearlierstyles. The neo-Grec reflects a movement away
from the fluid, curvacetus forms of the mid-centwry period -to a sharper, more
angular and geometric taste, evident not only in architecture, but also in
the decorative arts produced in the 1870s.

: The most notable attributes of the styleamthemtemivehse
of angular forms and stylized incised . These neo-Grec forms are an
indication of the machine techmology which became prevalent in America in

the last half of the nineteenth century. Immovations in technology led to
the advent of machines that could cut decorative elements in stone more cheaply
than hand carving. Thus the naturalistic foliate detailling of hand-carved
Italianate hrackets was replaced by crisply cut angular foliate forms or mm'?
abstract gecmetric designs. Also reflecting the advent of mechanization is
the replacament of wooden cornices by pressed, galvanized iron ones. The
cornices also reflect the new taste for angularity with stylized brackets

cut with incised details. Neo-Grec houses also frequently exhibit angled

o ard chree-sided bays and stylized classical ornamental details such as
rows of anthemia and rosettes, The cast-ifon forms on nso-Grec houses tend to
belmavierﬂmﬂmaemltalimmtetnuseswithboldml—postsoftm

wabystylizedanﬂmmorumfom
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As with the transition from the Revival to the Italianate, the
transition from the Italianate to the was a gradual one. In the
mid=-to late-1870s transitional buildings, such as the rows on the west side

of Vanderbilt Avere between Greene and Gates Avenues, are Ttalianate in
fealing, but have neo-Grec angular foliate brackets and simple incised
details. Most of the purer neo-Grec houses  in Fort Greene, such as those at
11-15 and 25~27 South Elliott Place, date from the late 1870s and early

- 18808 and were designed by local Brooklyn architects or builders. Among
the architects who worked in Fort Greene during this period,were Marshall
Morrill, Robert Dixon and Benjamin Linikin,

Byahmﬁl&&ﬂﬂmenﬁm%&emamladbemh:ﬂtwarﬁ
residential development hed moved eastward and scutlward into RedSord,
&uwnﬁaiglmsmﬂmrksm 'I‘lml%GnobinsonhtlasoftheCi%of

only two vacant lots in the distr
E ﬁ'a gcopal Chutreh, which still exists today and No. 228 Carlton
The lemall amounti of building activity that took place in Fort
Gream after 1880 entailed either the redesign and "modernization” of
facadeaortrmmdevelqmmoflotspremuymutm..m
'Mﬂﬂimsmeracteﬂinﬂm&mkm,lﬁmmathmdvalmﬂm—
Renaissance styles, often by praminent Brooklyn architects such as Montrose
mis.mnmmbby Parfitt Brothers, Mercein Thomas and Frank Freeman.
Queanhsmarﬂnmnnesquenwivalstybesmboﬂlfarfmeﬂinthejr
thgm esrlier 19th-century styles. Both ugse ornately carved decora-
tlwdataﬂwmactimagainatﬂwstylizeﬁdewmtivefmof&em
Gree, Ths Qusen Anne, with its asymmetrical massing and its use of such
cepate decorative forms as sunflowers and sunburstsican be found at 171
aml 192 Washington Park. The Romanssque Revival style uses bold decorative
fozms including arches, a mix of rock and smooth-faced stone and brick,
Byzantine-style carving, stone transom bars and stained-glass transom liqhts
The moat notable Romanssque Revival style structure in the Fort Green .
district is the Roanoke Apartments at 69-71 South Oxfdrd Street, attributed
to Moptrosd Morris (1892). -
ﬁmmo—nmaissmbestylehecmmﬂarin&neﬁcaninﬂmw%s
uwnder the influence 6f the 1893 World's Oolumbian Exposition in Chicago.
This style reflects a return to the hhlanced massing of mid-19th~century .
and exhibits a use of such classical detliils as Renaissance masks, :
cartouches, follate plagques and lauwrel wreaths., Two notable nso-
Repaisssnse  facedas weare added to older buildings in the district during
tha 18903: 24-26 Scuth Oxford Street by Montrose Morris (1893) and 291
CQmberland Street by Parfitt Brothers (1894).

As ths middle~class pop:latimof&ooklynincreasedarﬂaa prospercus
rasidential neighborhoods such ag Fort Greene developed, a need arose for
now aid  larger clurch buildings 'to serve the growing commmonities and to add
a requisite moral tone to each néighborhoed. As Brooklyn evolved into &
graat 18th-century residential clity, “"there .+ .& great epoch of church’
buliding which continmied until the growing city was; €0 well supplied with
cinirch edifices as to make har fmmous the wwwid over as the 'City of Churches '™’
Tha opganization éf new church societies and erection of new church ¥
budldings was directly affected by the pace of the development of the resi-
dential neighborhocods. As each rural area grew into a new residential sectidn,
nswcmmhmcietiesu@r%fmmded,mhhavingthedesiretobhﬂdan.
imposing church edifice. FbrtGremewasmemeptionmmistre:ﬂarﬂini
tha mid-19th century a large mmber of churches of many dencminations were
erected in the Fort Greene vicinity. Today three imposing 19th-century
chrches, the lafayette Averue Presbyterian Church, the Simpson M.E. Church
(mwmmmaewimcmter)axﬂst.mrksPE.wch(mSt.Michael'
gnd St. Mark's Episcopal Church) still stand in the district. Also within
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the boundaries of the district are a large, early twentieth-century Roman
Catholic church and a small Iutheran chapel (now St. Johm's R.C. Chapel) and
a priests' residence, the only remnant of the i{ll-fated plan to erect the
Cathedral of Brooklyn in the area. Besides churches the middle-class life
style of Brooklyn also attracted otherrinstitutions such as schools, hospitals
and clubs. Although there are no notable schools or hospitals within this
“district there is one impressive clubhouse--the Brooklyn Masonic Temple
erected inlBOSmﬂmemo:ﬂneastco;mrofDeKalevmmandClmt Street.
- Most of the buildings erected’ in Brooklyn late in the 19th-century were
designed by local Brooklyn architects, many of whom were cuite sophisticated
in thédr use of architectural details. It is moke Aifficult to attribute
early and mid-19th century buildings to specific architects. Architecture
ag a dist profession did not develop until wall into the 19th~century.
It wvas not yntil 1857 that the Rmerican Institute of Architects was founded.
! Its members were the most praminent men in the architectural field in
Mmerica and ithis professionalism did not filter down to less well-known
. practitioners until later in the century. In the 19%th century the distinction
between a uilder and an architect is frecquently ambiguous and any builder
who wished could call himaself an architect.
It was common practice in Fort Greene and elsewhere in Brooklyn for
a develober to purchase a large plot of land atl then huild speculative row-
houses on the site. These were intended for sale or rent to the middle-
class families who were moving to the city in ever-increasing numbers.,
Frequentlvy these developers were also builders and their names can be
- foourd in deed: records. If not a builder himself, the developer hired a
builder or an architect/builder to erect the rows. In such cases the name

of the builder generally remains unknown. It also remains unclear” as to' who

was responsible for the specific design of the speculative row houses.

An architect would generally have been unnecessary for most mid-19th-century /
row house construction since the builders often erected large numbers of /
similarly detailed houses. The huilder was primarily responsible for the
floor plan and facade fenestration pattern. W¥hen a huilder/architect :
presented drawings to:the Brooklyn Buildings Department (after 1875) these .
were the only features illustrated. 'Specific decorative' details of the
facade cannot generally be attributed to any one hand,

Details such as foliate heackets, stone enframements and wooden
doors were produced by anonymous craftsmen who massegiroduced the forms,
Thus, houses erectad by different bullders frequently have identically
detailed facades. This method of huilding with mass-produced forms was
similar to 19th-century building practices in England. 9 Qocasionally
a certain decorative mamner canibe attributed to the work of a specific
uilder as in the case of Lawrence Kane who used rather barocue detailing on
his Italianate style buildings located on South' Elliott Place and South
Portland Avemye. The forms used by Kane quite umisual, and-he undoubt-
edly either designed the facade details o:'rﬁave specific instructions to the
craftamen enmploved as to what type of detailing to carve. ‘ .

In some cases it is possible to determine if the owner of a specific
property was also a builder of an architect. For example, Thomas B,

Jackson is listed in the Brooklyn directories as a builder in the 1860s,

but by the 18708 Jackson comsidered himself to be an architect as well as a
builder, and he undoubtedly designed the buildings which he owned and built
in the district, particularly on Clermont and Vanderbilt Avenues between
Greene and Gates Avenues. Other owners such as Litchfield & Dickinson, work-
ed exclusively with one architect-~~in this case with Charles Werner. Major
figqures in Fort Greene such as John Doherty, Thomas Skelly, Michael Murray,
‘Wwilliam Nichols, True Rollins, Joseph Townsend, william Purdy, Thamas Brush

H
r
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and Thomas Fagan ownad large areas of the district and are known to have
been builders, but their relationship to the specific design features of
the row house facades remains unclear.

Afteramlnmemsexecteditwasusuallyaoldoff,tlmsgwingthemm
a quick profit. Most houses were purchased by families for their residence
" but frequently buildings were purchased for speculation and then leased as
rental units., Thus, it is often difficult to tell who was the earliest
resident of a building,. It was also cammon for the land owner or owner/
builder to retain title to certain properties that were not sold off until
many years after the buildings were erected, as for example with Nos. 410-
412 Vvanderbilt Avenue which was retained by owner/architect Thomas B.

Jackson c. 1890, fifteen years after he had sold off the rest of the row.
Owner Backhouse retained title to the two Greek Revival houses on
' . Carlton i and they were not sold off until after his death early in

the 20th-century.

In the late 19th-end:marly 20th-centuries Furt Greens became an architectural
backwater ag wealthy Brooklynites moved farther from the city center. By the
mid-20th-century the building stock was in a serious state of decay. Today
. the mﬁgmndmd is being revitalized with the rediscovery of the beauties
of Brocklyn's 19th-century residential buildings,

With the exception of the incursion of fiwve 20m~omtury mlti-story
apartment bulldings and two post-war public schools, the Fort Greene area
retaing its original character to an astonishing degree. The graceful
Ttalianate, Second Frmpire and neo-Grec rows create a unified architectural
camposition that continues to yeflect the lifestyle of Braoklyn in the third
quarter of the 19th-century. Historic Mistrict| desigmation for the Fort

G:wnareawilllmlptoinmmeﬂxepmtectimofthiadistinctardﬂtec&mal
character,

' \

1. Charles R. Baker, Church of the Messiah: Sexmon by the Rev. Charles R. '
Baker on the %enth vermrgfhiamm 4, 1883

. TErookIyn: Tremlett & Co., 1883), p.o.

2. Dora Wiebhenson, Sources of Greek RevivalArchitecture (University

Park: Pernsylvania State tmiversity Press, 1969). ~

3. Talbot mm, Greek nwin&l Architecture in America (Hew York: '
Dover Publications 196 - repr. t o ord versity Press edition, 1944).

4, Charles Lockwood, Bricks and Brownstone York: McGrawHill, 1972), _
pp. 128-130. ‘ .. v

5 » m' p. 132 L]

6. Henry-Russell Hitchoock, Architecture: Nineteenth and Twentieth ’
Centuries (Baltim Pengum 1971) .
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Church Architecture of Brooklyn 1793-1917,* Unpublished Master's
thesis, Coluwbia University School of Architecture, 1977.

9. John Sumerson, Georaian Iondon (New York: Penquin, 1978 reprint of
Peregrine Books edition, 1945), p. 171.
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NOTE: Owners who are mentioned in the report were, unless otherwise noted, .
the original residents of the house. Original owners who were not residents
of the houge, but were absentee landlords 'or speculators are generally not

!
iI.

Street was named for Robert Adam's complex of terrace housing known as
the Adelphi and bequn in 1768 on the north hank.of the Thames River in London.
Thie complex was the first to bring the neo-Classical style, popular for
ocountry homes, into the center of London.

ADELPHI STREET; mstaidebetweenWillouqhbyardDeKalevmiues..

No. 202 is an Italianate style, three story brick residmoe dating from the

The house has been altered, retaining only its second floor cast-iron
wirdmlintels. ‘Iheatnopamimicehmbemramedmﬂabamt '
entrance has been added.

Nos, 204-208. This :{.s-anmméual Yow of Italiamm frame houses with brick
basements, The three buildings were erected c. 1866 for Henry Cullen. All

of these two-and-one-half story houses have central peaked gables, No, 204
retains most of its original details including shingle siding, a porch with
scuare, paneled posts and a balustrade, a round-arched entranceway, floor-length
parlor windows with full enframements, rectanqular second story windows with
pmeledenfrmmtamdpmjectﬂxgalablhhelamsﬂmmbmdcetsmﬂamnﬂ-
arched attic window. The house is surmounted by a hracketed wooden cornice and
retaing its original cast-iron aresway railing. No, 206 is clad in alumimm and
has lost all of its detailing with the exception of its cast-iron aresway
ralling, No, 208 has lost two of its porch poats, has had its stoop replaced
and has had its parlor-floor windows shortened.

Tn 1886 No. 204 was purchased by Lauris Ioomis (d. 1922) a dealer in rew
cotton qoods who was best known for his free distribution of $70,000 worth of
Bihles throughout the country. In the same year No., 208 was sold to Richard
W. Rockwell, a physician.

Nog,. 210-214areaqupofhmﬂaam1talimbemmwnemwhmmeaerected
€. 1866 by builder Thomas Fagan. No. 212 has been stripped of all of its
detalls with the exception of its cornice, but Nos. 210 and 214 retain most

" of thelr original decorative details. The houses were all originally raised
on rusticated bagsements (extant only at No. 210). The simple doorway enframe-
ments had paneled piers (extant only at No. 214) and simple hrackets supporting
segmental~arched pediments, The parlor-floor windows, all of which have been
shortened, have hracketed eyebrow lintels. The second floor windows have
mldedeyehu:wlintels and molded sills and the third floor windows have sills
but no lintels. A wooden bracketed cornice crowns each house. The row has
lost all of its original iremwork. In 1866 Fagan sold No. 212 to William H.
Warren and No. 214boMosM.Kidder,bothofwranerebmﬂ:erawmmrkedat
4 Wall Street.
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Nos. 216 and 218 are practically identical to the row at Nos. 210-214. This
palr was erected c. 1866 for Margaret Smith. The same craftsmen probably
worked on both gqroups of houses and Thomas Fagan may in fact have been the
builder of these homes. since the only differences between the two groupings are
slight variations in the window proportions, second-floor window lintels, and
cornice fescia. Both houses have lost their original irorwork and doors and
No. 218 has had its parlor floor windows shortened.

No. 220 is a: peak-roofed stnwtnm that has had almost all of its architectural

s obliterated by the addition of permastone siding. Remaining details,
including the profile of the slab doorway lintel and the cast-iron areaway
railing, place the house within the vernacular Italianate tradition dat.i.ng it
sametime in the 1860s.

Nos, 222~ St. Mark's P.E. Church {now St. Michael's and St. Mark's
Elm%imh)msmﬂtmthesiteofﬂnorigimlmfonmdwimpal
Church of the Messiah (see Nos. 74-84 Greene Avenue)., The cungregation of St.
Mark's Charch was founded in 1849 as a chapel of Holy Trinity P.E. Church in
Brooklyn Heights. The first chamch building was a amall board and bhatten

. gstructyre erected on Fleet Street. In 1860 this building was abandoned and
a new frame Gothic Revival church was built on DeKalb and Portland Avemes.
In 1865 this was sold to the Lafayette Avemie Preshbyterian Church which

used the huilding as a mission that later became the Memorial Presbyterian
Chaorch, now located in Park Slope. In 1869 St. Mark's purchased the brick
church (1852, enlarged 1859) arnd frame chapel bullt by the €hurch of the Messiah.
In 1885 the frame chapel was demolished and replaced by a new bhapel and
par:lshrmae,a:ﬂinlsaathehrickclmrchmsmnshedarﬁreplacedbya
large Gothic Revival church.

The amall chapel was designed bythe prolific 19th-century church ; l
architect L.B, Valk, architectofmwclmrchesinﬂmoklyninchﬂimthe '
Sixth Avenme Baptist Church (1880-188l) in the Park S Historic District
arﬂtheCenwuﬂngaptistcmrch,mwﬂmInsti L Church of God in
Christ, Inc. (1885) located on Adelphi Street just ocutside of the Historic
District. The main facade of the chapel is of ¥ed sandstome laid in random
ashlar and trimmed with terra cotta. The facade is plerced by a traceried,
- polnted~arched window and a sma}l swelled hay. The seven-bayed side facade
of the chapel is built of hrick with two levels of pointed-arched windows, now
closed up; separated by buttresses and topped by a steep slate roof. The
parish house projects from the .side of the chapel. It has a pointed-arch
mtramemﬂmllverticalwirﬂmmirgs :

The main church building was designed 1888 by the architectural firm

"of Marshall & Walters., In the same year firm designed the chapel and
&nﬂaysdmlﬂmofﬂnmmmmmmﬂmwk Slope
Historic District. The Presbyterian Church had been designed in 1882 by
the firm of Pugin & Walters, and the gimilarities in the design of these two
charches can be attributed to Walter's involvement with both. The description
of St, Mark's published in the Episcopalian newspaper, The Charchman, in
1888 is still applicable today: i

The design is pure Gothic and the general style of

the cmrch will be cruciform, with nave, aisles,

trancepts and spacious chancel. There will be a

lofty gable, with traceried windows of five lancets

and beneath five smaller lancets. Entrances at .

the side open into the north aisle and the entrance i .~
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to the south aisle passes under a massive tower
)whichisqtmxdramulartothem:!.qhtoftl'leqable
above that, attaingng in all a height

of 100 feet. The stained glass windows representing

St.Mark,atthérearoftheo!ﬂchancel will be

" used in the new church. Itisenq:ectedthatszsooo

will be raised by the time the church &s completed.
The church is built of Carlisle stone laid in randem ashlar and is twimmed
with sandstone details, including a rondel with the lion of St. Mark. There *
have been two major alterations to the church stxucture~-the bottom half of
the octagonal part of the tower has been stuccoed over and the pinnacle of
ﬁmemﬂcornexmlettemmmrmnved

In19493t.Mark'sP.E.amhmgedwithSt.MiclmlssPE Clmrch
St. Michael's had been founded in 1847 and built its first church uilding
in 1866 on High Street near Gold Street. Later Henry Oohgdon was camwnissioned
t?idesignamwdmmhmﬂdkgforthemmmgaﬂm,wﬂichhaabemdm—
olished,

No. 234 is a three story frame residence with a brick bagement erected c.
853 far Edward Anthony, a large landowner on this street. In February,
IBSSAnﬂmmyaoldthelottonev.Jolms.Gildermretairadtitletoit
until October when he sold the building to Isaac W, Silleck, a dealer in
gentleman's furnishings with a store located at 66 Fulton Street. This
Italianate style house has heen covered with asphalt shimgles but still re-
tains its simple wacketed cornice and a doorway hood.

Nos. 236-240 are a group of three frame Italianmate houses with brick basements.
The row was erected c¢. 1867 for real estate speculators John French and Samuel
Booth, 1All three houses have been surfaced with synthetie siding, but all
gtill retain their original bracketed wooden cornices. Nc. 236 retains
wooden window enframements; and Nos. 238 and 240have thelir criginal cast-iron
areaway railings, No. 240 has a segmental-arched entranceway. No. 238 best
represents . the original appearance of the group, retaining a bracketed porch
supported by four square colums that rest on paneled plinths and lovely jig-
saw-cut scrollwork brackets. The woodén balustrade and stoop also are intact
on this house as are the full-length parlor floor andrupper story window en-
framements. In 1866 No. 238hemethehmeofbookbhﬂerr‘mnklincremleaf

No. 242 isavenmﬂarfrmdwellhnraisedmahighbrickbamt. The
house exhibits Greek Revival and Ttalianate details.  Frected ¢. 1853 for
landowner Bdward Anthony, it has been resided with asphalt shingles, but it
stil) vretains Greek Rewival pilasters, sidelights and transom at its docrway
enframement and its paneled door, partly altered by the addition of a window.
Projecting, IEalianate slab window lintels and a bracketed comice are also
esttant.
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Nos. 244-248 are three very simple brick Italianate houses raised on rus-
ticated brownstone basements. No. 244 is a three-bayed structure with a
simple hracketed wooden cornice, while Nos. 246 and 248 are two-hayed houses
that share a continmuous cornice. The doorways of these houses have simple
stone-cap-molded lintels, flush stone window lintels and projecting sills.
No. 244 retains its original areaway railing and both No. 244 and No. 246
have their original stoop railings. The doorway lintel of No. 248 has been
shaved.

The houses were probably built c. 1852 for owner George F. Taylor. In
1853 Taylor sold No. 244 to John Baush (1816-1883) the senior customs
officer of the Port of New York. For over forty vears Baush was a wool and
woolen goods examiner and “he personally classified all wools coming into

this port and he was r atdedasthemsteacﬁrtinthislineofmzkasany
manigothe United Statgg.“z No. 248 was sold in 1854 to Frances Williams,

No. 250-252 is a four-story tenement built of brick with limestone trim. The

’ as "Adelphi Court," was designed in 1913 by the Brooklyn
architectural firm of Farber & Markowitz and it was to house sixteen families.
The house has an ornate limestone entryway and limestone Gibbs' surrounds at
the first floor windows. Limestone lintel blocks, keystones, brackets and
beltecourses add a note of contrast to the projecting brick pilasters, tapestry
. brick panels and raised brick dlaper patterns. The galvanized-iron cornice
has been removed,

Nos. 254 and 256 are a pair of three story transitional Greek Revival/
Italianate style frame houses erected c. 1852 by local mason Silas C. .
Burnett. The most notable feature of this pair of houses is the contimucus
porch with its seven fluted Foric colums that projects in front of the
facades, The columns support a modest bracketed and dentilled cornice
(dentils removed at No. 254). Although No. 254 still has its wooden stoop,
it has been resided with alumimum and has lostiitg window enframements and
its cornice fascia. No. 256 is clad in synthetic brick but retains its full
window enframements and wooden hracketed cornice. The doorway of the house
still has its sidelights and transom. The parlor floor windows have been
shortened on both heriges. .

No. 258 1s a three story brick, Italianate style residence raised on a high
rusticated brownstone basement. The house was erected c. 1860 and has a stone
eyehrow doorway lintel carried on brackets and stone eyebrow window lintels
and projecting rectangular sills. A simple wooden bracketed cornice crowns
the house, The stoop walls and iromwork are of a later date.

No. 260 has been cmitted from the street mmbering system.
No. 262-272 is the side elevation of the building described at 207 DeKalb Avenue.

ADELPHI STREET, east side between Willmqhb& and DeKalb.

Nog. 199-255. P.S. 20, the Clinton Hill School and playground, are built on
a plot of land that extends from Adelphi Street through to Clermont Avenue.
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Msc}bolisathmestoryaxﬂbasenentbrickstmmdesigmdinmwby

Eric Kebbob. The most notable feature of the school is its projecting central

entrance bay vhich is punctuated by a monumental stone door enframement and .

six rectangular windows with iron guards., An octagonal panel with the seal
ofﬁmNmeYorkCitmerdofEﬂucationislocatedabwemedmy. The
restofﬂxehxildhgeﬁerﬂs!nrizontallyfmthegutramebayarﬂisom— |
ammtedbysmplestonebeltomraesaxﬂpanels. i

No. 257 is a herick Italianate house built c. 1855 hy Brooklyn builder James
Iock. The building was originally a residence with an attached stable

(now a garage-No. 259). The house is very simple in itg details with a

slab doorway lintel resting on console brackets, iron basement window quards,
flush lintels, projecting sills and a later bracketed pressed-metal cornice.
The stoop walls and aréaway parapets are later additions ag are the garage,
basement entrance and fire escape.

No. 261 isau(ostoxytaxpayermwused for law and realty offices. The
amall structure is built of hrick and is topped by a simple galvanized-iron

Nog. 263-267 is the side elevation of the bhuilding described at 211 .
DeKalb Avenue. _ . |

ADELPHI STREET, west side between KeKalb and Lafayette Avenues.

Nos, 274~326. The block front of Adelphi Street is taken up by the play-
graind and main entrance facade of Simon F. Rothchild Junior High School
(T.H.S. 294). The centrally placed entrance pavilion of the school is .
built of white brick ornamented by blue sculpted panels designed by Mivola
in 1961. This section is flanked by unornamented yellow brick wings that
house the auditorium and gymnasium of the school. The classrooms of the .
school face onto Carlton Averme (Nos. 271-3192), This facade is four stories
high and has eleven bays with six windows each.

No. 328-336 is the side facade of the building described at 167 lafayette
Avenue. '

ADFLPHI STREET, east side between DeKalb and Lafayette Avemes,

No. 269 has been omitted from the street numbering.

Nos, 271-28l are a very fine row of Italianate houses erected c¢.” 1871 by

yn lder William A. Brush., No. 277 best retains its original fomm.
The three story and attic brownstone building is raised en a tall rusticated
basanent and is ornamented with boldly carved details. The doorway enframe-
ment is composed of paneled piers, follate brackets and keystone, and segmental-
arched pediment. The full-length parlor floor windows have eyebrow lintels
supported on foliate brackets that flank paneled spandrel elements and bracket-
ed table sills. The upper story windows all have eyebrow lintels raised on
console brackets and deep molded sills resting on corbel blocks. Most un-
usual is the attic level. On this floor small rectangular casement windows
are encompassed by the fascia of the wooden cornice. Paired brackets flank
these windows. None of the originmal iromwork is intact on the row. Nos. 271,
279 and 281 have had their parlor floor windows shortened and table sills re-~
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mowved., At No. 277 the parlor floor window enframements have beent shortened by
wooden panels. No. 273 has had its doorway enframement piers and table-sill
brackets stuccoed. No. 275 has had its basement stuccoed and No. 2Bl has had
its attic windows enlarged. No. 271 has had a restaurant placed in its base~
ment. This house has a brick facade facing onto DeKalb Avenue, The windows
of this facade have hrownstone lintels and projecting sills. The central
window of the parlor floor level has been enlarged and on the third floor this
window has been bricked in. l

In 1867 Brush sold No. 273 to John P. Southerland, a dealer in drugs
and pharmaceuticals, No. 275 to James H. Thomson, No. 277 to Abraham Legget
and No. 281 to Richard L. Legget, both of wham were grocers.

Nos, 283 m\ﬂ 285 are a pair of simple Ttalianate houses erected c¢. 1853 for
Edward Anthony. The bulldings are constructed of brick with stone trim that
includes a beltocourse between the basement and upper stories, flush window
lintels and projecting sills. The doorway lintels have been shaved, but the
ghosts of these lintels are still visible. No. 283 retains all of its lovely

Italianate cast-iron railings and both houses are surmounted by bracketed wood-

en cornices, .

Nos., 287 and 289 are a pair of simple Italianate houses very similar .in
their detalling to Nos. 283-285. These brick houses were erected c. 1855 by
huilder Thomas Denike. Ornament is very simple and on No. 289 includes a
stone beltcourse, flush stone lintels (shaved), projecting sills and a wood-
en bracketed cornice. - This house has a Greek Revival doorway ensemble with
heavy Doric pilasters and a glass transom. Noj, 287 has cap-molded lintels,
projecting sills and inappropriate nine-over-nine parlor floor windows.
Both houses are crowned by simple bracketed wooden ¢ornices. The cast-iron
railings remain in superb condition at this house, but have been removed |
at No. 289, " F

Nos, 291-297 are a row of four simple Italianate houses arranged in an

EBRB pattern, Nos. 291 and 293 were erected c. 1854 by builder Thomas Denike,
No, 295 was erected ¢. 1853 by builder John and No, 297 c. 1854 also by
Ross. All of the houses originally had basements, floor-lenagth
parlor windows, flush stone window lintels, projecting stone sills and modest
bracketed wooden cornices. The "A" houses have shallow triangular pediments
over their doorways and the "B" houses have cap-molded lintels over their
doorways., ‘The parlor floor windows have been shortened at Nos, 291 and 295.
and the irormork has been replaced at Nos. 293-297. No. 297 has been covered
" with brownstone aggregate and all of its windows have cap-molded lintels.

Nos, 299-305 is a six story brick aparhtmﬁ house desigmed in 1927 by Benjamin
Bromstein. The brick is laid in Flemish bond and the building ornamented
with terra-cotta, Moorish decorative details including ornmate round-arched
enframements on the first floor, blind arcades on the sixth floor, false
mansard roofs with Spanish tile and an open-arched parapet.
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Nos., 307-319 are a row of seven Ytalianate brownstone residences erected c.
1867, Nos.. 307 and 309 by builder Michael Moran and Nos. 309-319 by builder
Thamas Fagan. The detailing of these houses is typical of the 1860s. Each
house originally had a doorway enframement with paneled piers and spandrels,
foliate hrackets amd keystone and segmental-arched pediment. All of the houses
had rusticated basements with round-arched windows, full-length parlor floor
windows with table sills and segmental-arched lintels resting on foliate
brackets, upper-story windows with slab lintels supported by console brackets
and molded sills resting on corbel blocks. A bracketed wooden cornice sur-
mounted each house.: 'I‘heparlor floor windows have been shortened at Nos. 307,
313 and 319; the cornice has been removed at No. 311. Unfortunately, No. 317
has recently had its sills and lintels stripped and dcorway enframement
stuccoed. |All of the original ironwork of the row has heen rveplaced by

\ modern railings or masonry walls.

In 1868 Moran sold No. 307 to J.H. Dater, a dealer in brushes and in
1867 he sold No. 309 to Bdmmnd A. Dickerson, a hat merchant. In 1867 Fagan
sold No. 311 to commercial merchant Malecolm McInnis, No. 313 to New Orleans
dry goods merchant Samuel L. Boyd and No. 315 to gold refiner Miles Dodge.
In 1868 Fagan sold No. 317 to Kenneth M. Murchison, a merchant and No. 319
to lansing Gambrill, a flour merchant.

No. 321 is a simple Italianate style residence probably erected c. 1855.
The house has been altered but retains flush stone window lintels, and a modest
bracketed cornice.

Nos. 323-327 is the side elevation of the building described at 167-171
Lafayette Avenue. : . .

ADELPHI STREET, west side between Tafayette and Greéte Avenues. '

Nos. 338-346 is ﬂm $ide &lewvation of the house described at 156 lLafayette
Avenue,

Nos. 348-354 is a row of four Italianate bramsqone houses erected c. 1858 by

~ a consortlum of builders and speculators including Alvin Bradley, Ethelbert

S. Mills, a Wall Street lawyer who lived on Montague Street,-and local
builder Caleb S. Woodhull. The houses are very simple in their detailing .
with rusticated basements pierced by segmental-arched windows with iron quards
(rectangular windows now at No. 354), heavy slab lintels carried on foliate
hrackets over the entrace and first floor windows. There are cap-molded lintels
- and projecting rectangular sills on the upper story windows ard simple
. bracketed wooden cornices. The original cast-iron railings and.newel-posts
remain at No. 348. No. 350 has had its stoop removed; the parlor floor
windows of Nos. 348, 350 and 352 have heen and the stoop walls and

irorwork of Nos. 352 and 354 are later addi The houses at Nos. 362-368 ¥

and Nos, 372-380 are identical to these four Mildirn;s.
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Nos. 356-358 are a pair of mimple Italianate brick houses. In July,1858
hilder Caleb S. Woodhull sold the two lots to Jeptha Jones, a printer who was
active in Fort Greene real estate transactions. In Jamary, 1859 he sold the
lots back to Woodhull who did not dispose of them until later in that year.

It is unclear as to whether Woodhll or Jones, both of whom were active on this
block, actually built the houses. Both huildings have sunken browmstone
baserrents ard low stoops set behind cast-iron areaway railings. At No. 356,
the window and door lintels are flush with the facade while at No. 358 pro-
jecting cast-iron eyebrow window lintels are supported on foliate brackets and
the shadow of an ornate cast-iron door lintel is extant. Both houses have
simple projecting brownstone sills and wooden bu:acketed cornices. No. 358
retains its original octagonal newel-posts.

No. 360 is Italianate hrownstone with neo-Grec @etalils designéd in 1877 by
architect J.D. ' Reynolds for Mrs. Charles Isbill. This three story structure
is raised on a rusticated basement and has a pediménted doorway enframement
and full window enframements. The stylized brackets of the doorway enframe-
ment and .window-sills as well as the details of the wooden cornice are neo-
Grec. The house retains its bold Italianate cast~-iron Stoop railings and
octagonal newel-posts, but has lost its areaway railings,

Nos. 362-368 are identical to Nos. 348-354 and Nos. 372-380. Nos. 362 and
Jod were built by builder Caleb 'S. Woodhull and Nos. 366 and 368 for real
estate speculator, Ethelbert S. Mills, undcubtedly by Woodhull. Only Nos.
364 and 368 retain their cast-iyon areaway and stoop railings.: No. 364 also
has its original newel-posts. The stoop walls of Nos, 362 and 366 are
later additions. In 1859 Woodimll sold No. 364 to Daniel H. Gregory, a
Manhattan merchant, and in 1858 Mills s0)d No. 366 to Janes J. Phelps, a

New York City lawyer,

No. 370. Although built of brick by an unknwn tudlder, No. 370 makes use of
ornamental forms almost identical to those at Nos. 348-354, 362-368 and 372~
380. ‘The lintels are the same but the wooden cornice with its shallow-arched

fascia is different. The stoop has been removed fand the parlor floor windows

Nos. 372-380 are identical to the houses described at Nos. 348-354. Nos.
376-380 retaintheir original iromwork. ‘' At No. 376 the parlor floor windows
have been shortened. The row was built for real estate speculators

Ethelbert 5. Mills and Jeptha Jones. No. 372 was so0ld by Mills to Wright
Ramsden, a plumber who lived on Dean Street; No. 374 was sold by Jones to Ema
A. Catterfield, a widow; No. 376 was sold by Mills to Platt-S. Conklin, a
plumber who never lived in the house. In 1856 Nos. 378 and 380 were trans-
fered from Mills to Jones and Jones retained the property for a year,

The vacant lot at No. 382 is outside of the boundaries of the district.
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ADELPHI STREET, east side between Lafayette and Greene Avenues.

Nos. 329 and 331 are two unusual transitional Greek Revival/Italianate free
standing frame bulldings with brick basements erected c¢. 1848. Both houses
were undoubtedly originally two-and-one-half story, peak-roofed structures.
The most notable feature of each of these houses are their porches with four
fluted Doric colums. The original porch balustrade remains at No. 329. The
crossetted door enframement of No. 329 has flanking paneled pilasters, sidelights,
transom and dentilled transom bar.. The paneled door is also original. The
house retains its original Greek Revival crossetted window enframements and
Italianate bracketed cornice, but its shingled siding is a later addition. No.
331 also retaing its crossetted enframements, but its pilastered doorway has
been replaced. A third story has been added to this house, probably c. 1880
 when the neo-Grec cornice was added. The house retains its clapboard siding,
narrow on the front and wider on the northern facade visible through a pass-
‘ageway. Both stoops are of a later date. A two-story extension projects from
the rear of No. 329, along Lafayette Avenue.

No. 333 is a two-and-one-half story peak roofed frame structure probably

erected ¢. 1855 by huilder Bdward W. Gemung. The building is a transitional

vernaculdar structure that still retains its original Greek Revival -style

crossetted enframements and Ttalianate bracketed cornice. Most notable is

. %ts porch with square chamfered posts and ornate jigsaw carved brackets with
pendants. - The imbricated and rectangular shingles replaced the original

clapboard siding. :

No. 335 is a three story frame building erected ¢. 1855 by builder William
Frigar Hartt. The house has had its upper story fenestration altered and has
been resided with asphalt shingles. It retains none of its original details.

Nos, 337-343 and 345-359 are two rows of very similar two-and-one-half and
three story brick, Italianate houses with Greek Revival doorway lintels
(replaced at No. 345 and stripped at No. 354). The rows were erected ¢. 1859

. by Bdward Robbins. All of the houses are set back behind deep areaways and
are quite simple in their ornamentation. Brownstane beltoourses separate the
brick basements fram the upper stories and stone cap-molded lintels (replaced
at No. 345 and stripped at No. 354), table sills (extant only at No. 347

and No. 353) and projecting rectangular sills ornament the facades. Large
bracketed wooden cornices top Nos. 337-343, while more modest wooden cornices
top the other houses (removed atiNo. 337). -Nos. 341 and 349 are two-and-one-
half stories high with peaked roofs pierced by dormer windows, Portions of
the original cast-iron railings are still extant at Nos. 341, 345, 349, 351 and
355, The doorways at Nos. 345-359 are ornamented by lovely rope moldings. The
parlor windows have been shortened at No. 337, The original residents of Nos,

339 and 355 were George S. Woodman, a doctor and John S. MacKay, an insurance

Nos. 361-363. Originally a pair of residential buildings, these houses
&re now the Brookwood Child Care Hame of the Orphan Asylum Society of the
City of Brooklyn. Both are three story hrick buildings, raised on rusticated
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brownstone basements and. set back behind deep areaways. No. 363 has

had its stone moldings stripped, but No. 361 retains its original details
including a doorway enframementiwith incised piers, console brackets and a
molded eyebrow lintel raised above spandrel panels. |All of the windows of

No. 361 have stone eyebrow lintels. Wooden bracketed cornices with segmental-

arched fascias crown each house. No. 361 retains its original cast-iron stoop
railings and newel-posts. :

No. 365 has been excluded from the street mumbering system.

No. 367-373 is the side elevation of the l:uildirq'descﬁhed‘at 61 Greene Avenue.

FOOMOTES

= e—

1. The Churchman, 58 (July 14, 1888) 39.

2, New York Times, (January 3, 1883) 5.
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Carlton Averue; was named for Carlton House, Carlton House Terrace and Carlton
Gardens in London. Carlton House was built in 1709 for Lord Carlton and was
later converted into a great palace for the Prince of Wales. John Nash's plan
for London was designed to comnect Carlton House and Regent's Park. Carlton
House was demolished in 1826 and Nash replaced it with Carlton Gardens and
Carlton House Terrace, a range of monumental terrace houses that back onto St.
James Park. .

CARLTON AVENUE, west side between Willoughby and DeKalb Avenues.

Nos. 202 and 204 have been amitted fran the street mambering.

No, 206 is an Italianate style brick row house erected c.' 1865 by local

George Smith., The house has a very narrow two-bayed facade facing
on Willoughby Avemie. The entrance is in the center of the longer Carlton
Averue front. The doorway is reached by a stoop that runs parallel to the
street and is ornamented by a simple slab lintel resting on foliate brackets.
Al)l of the windows have flush stone lintels and the upper story windows have
projecting sills, A simple bracketed wooden cornice tops the house and the
areaway retains its original cast-iron railirgs.

Nos. 208-212 have been omitted from the street mrrberinq

Nos, 214 and 216 are a pair of typical Italianate hrownstone residences . -
erected by the prolific Brooklyn huilder/architect Thomas B. Jackson ¢. 1865.
No. 216 has been stripped but 214 retains decorative details typical of the
style including an ormate doorway enframement with a segmental-arched pedi- -
ment, eyebrow window lintels, a rusticated basement and bracketed wooden corn=-
ice. The stoop walls, areaway parapets and all off the iromwork are later
additions. A one story rusticated extension (No. 214A) projects to the

right of No. 214. In 1866 Jackson sold No. 216 to Charles Palmer.

Nog. 218-226 are a row of five Italianate row houses erected c. 1863-64

by Brookiyn builder John Doherty. The row of .simple brick buildings raised on
tall rusticated brownstone basements remains in excellent ocondition. All of
the houses have eyehrow doorway lintels supported on foliate console brackets,
The parlor windows were all originally floor length, but have been shortened

at all of the houses except Nos. 220 and 222. Only No. 222 retains its original
bracketed table sills. All of the windows have cap-molded eyebrow lintels and
the upper story windows have projecting sills supported by corbel blocks. A
wooden cornice with single and paired brackets and a segmental-arched fascia
crowns each house. Only No. .226 retains its original cast-iron stoop railings
with octagonal newel-posts topped by balls. No. 224 has late 19th . or early
20th-century wrought-iron railings and the other houses have had their iron-
work replaced by masonry walls. -Doherty sold the houses to real estate brokers
and in 1864 No. 220 was purchased by William W. Ayres who was in the machinery
business, No. 222 by Hezekiah S. Archer, a bookbinder and No. 226 by James
McGee, a broker, ‘

*

No. 228 is a vacant lot that has never been built upon.
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Nos. 230-234 are a group of three handsome Anglo-Ttalianate houses probably
erected in the mid-1860s possibly by John and Frances Magginson, but not
sold by them until 1898-1903. Thelnuses are typical of the style and are

. In a very fine state of repair. ' All have rusticated brownstone first floors
‘withlmstmpslaadmgtomnﬂ-ardwdentmys,eachmthakeysmm,
alﬂsinﬁlarmﬁ-amtmwixﬂwsreatmgmpaneledplaques The upper
stories are constructed of hrick and are cut by rectangular windows with cap-
molded stone lintels and projecting stome sills., A simple bracketed wooden
mmioecmmseachhmseandtheareawaysarﬂstoopsarelinedwithfm
cast~iron railings. ,

Noa 236, 238 and 238% are a group of three neo~Grec houses designed in

1880 byarchitectmaert Dixon (see 1la-l5 South Elliott Place) for builder
Thomas Fagan. The narrow huildings are arranged so that Nos, 236 and 238
have their stoops and doorways to the right and No. 238% has its stoop amd
entrance on the left. The detailing on these houses is particularly fine
and the use of angular forms, stylized ormament and inciséd decoration is
typical of the neo-Grec style. The handsome doorway enframements are oomposed
of piers with incised grooves and rosettes, console brackets, a dog-toothed
spandrel panel and an eared and incised lintel. The basements are articulated
by raised ornamental panels and brackets supporting a wide beltcourse cut by
incised decordtion. The parlor windows are pajred and set into full enframe~
ments with grooves, rosettes, incised decoration, and eared lintels. The
8ills of these windows rest on three console brackets that flank recessed
panels. The upper story windows also have full enframements with eared -
lintels and neo-Grec ornament. A simple wooden cornice with angular brackets
crowns each house. All of the original cast-iron stoop and areaway amd .
railingsardsqtmreml-posts,mﬂ gateposts are intact at No. 238%. ‘The newel-
posts and gateposts have been replaced at the other houses. All three
houses retain exceptionally fine double doors, those at No. 236 being totally
intact. These doors have glass panels with the addresses etched on them,
In 1881 Fagan sold No. 236 to Gasherie J. DeWitt, § wire manufacturer and
No., 238 to Henry Lemmermann, who either worked in or owned a hotel located on
the comer of South and Fulton Streets in Manhattan.

Nos. 240 and 242 are an interesting pair of Italianate row houses probably
BalIt ¢. 1860. The brick buildings have tall rusticated basements and umusual
stone details, The doorway enframement is composed of paneled piers (stuccoed
at No. 242), console brackets and an arcuated lintel. This type of lintel is
- an uncammon form and within the district is found only on the houses built by
Lawrence Kane at 8, 10 and 32 South Portland Avenue. All of the windows are
segmental+arched and their lintels are composed of shallow spandrel panels,
ornamented with recessed forms on the parlor floar level, and capped by cornice
slabs, The parlor floor windows have sills resting on paneled plaques. The
bracketed wooden cornices have fascias ornamented with panels and rosettes.
At No. 240 the basement level exhibits a large foliate rondel. All of the
originaliro:mlhasbemreplaoeda:ﬂﬂmwhﬁowsashatuo.2401sofa
recent period. _
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No. 260 zsomheezmmuitted fmthestreetmmberm
. No. 262-270 is the side elevatim of the b.:ildirg described at 207 DeKalb
Avernue. ‘

CARLTON AVENUE, east side between Willoughby and DeKalb Averues.

Nos, 203-211 are a row of five Italianate brownstone residences erected c.
1866 by Brooklyn builder Thomas Fagan. With the exception of No. 21l which
has lost its window lintels and sills all of the houses retain most of tiwir
pericd flavor. Ormamental features include bold doorway enframements (paired
at Nos. 203-205) with paneled piers (partly stuccoed at No. 205) and foliate
hrackets and keystones supporting segmental-arched pediments. The rusticated
basements have round-arched windows with paneled keystones while the parlcr
floors have full-length windows (shortened at Nos. 203 and 211) with table
sills (removed at Nos. 203 ard 211) and seqmental-arched pédimented lintels
supported on foliate hrackets (stripped at No. 209). The upper-story windows
have slab lintels resting on hrackets and molded sills supported by corbel
blocks. A woeden hracketed cornice crowns each house. All of the original
cast-iran has been replaced by modern iromwork or masonry walls.

In 1866 Fagan sold No. 203 to Joseph ]'.oc:kitt, Jr. who worked for the
pork. packihg firm established by his father in 1843. This firm was the first
in the city to export a variety of forms of English cut bacon and ham to the
English market.l In 1867 No. 209 became the home of Nicholas Daly, a dealer
in seeds and No. 211 became the hame of Gabriel Hoyt, a lunber dealer.

Nog, 213-22]1 are a row of five simple early Italianaté brick houses erected

6 for Whitson Colyer (Nos. 213-217) and r Harteau (219-221). Henry
Hartean was a prominent builder, President of the Metropolitan Plate Glass
Insurance Co., a member of the Board of Education, Alderman for the llth
Ward and first president of the Mechanics' and Traders' Exchange. 4 ..
Ormament is quite sparse on these houses.and is confined to rusticated brown-
stone basements (extant at Nos. 219 and 221), slab doorway lintels resting on
foliate brackets (at Nos. 217 and 221), full-length parlor floor windows with
table sills (at Nos. 219 and 221), flush stone window lintels and projecta.ng
sills and simple hracketed wooden cornices. Nos. 213 and 217 retain unusually
fine transitional Greek Revival/ Italianate cast-iron areaway railings orm-
amented by anthemia forms and No. 221 retains its original stocp railings and
amall newel-posts. In 1856 engraver Charles Burt purchased No. 217 and in
1861 No. 215 became the hame of real estate hroker Samuel Burtis.

Nog. 223-235 is a vacant lot to the rear of St. Maxk's Episcopal Churu‘ on -
2Adelphl Street. This lot has never been developed




FG-HD ' ' -33-
Carlton Avenue

Nos. 244-256 are a row of seven Italianate houses ailt between 1864 and 1866.
Although all of the houses are identical they were erected by different
builders and are evidence of the fact that the design of a building cannot
necessarily be attributed to a particular builder. Nos. 244 and 250 were owned
and undoubtedly built by Thomas Skelly. Skelly sold these houses directly

to their original occupants: Bradley R. Hard, a paper dealer hought No. 244
in 1864 and Asher D. Atkinson, president of a New York City firm pur chasi No.
250 in 1865. i Skelly transferred the property at No. 246 to builder Joseph
Townsend and No. 248 to builder Michael Murray, both in 1864 amd it is uwlear
as to who actually erected the houses. In 1865 George A. Hickox, a hardware
merchant purchased No. 246 and in 1864 James Wethered, an inventor purchased
No, 248. No. 252 was ariginally owned by Townsend and he sold the house to
John Bliss in 1865. BRliss (1831-1903) was a manufacturer and dealer in marine
chronometers and nautical instruments in New York City. Murray owned Nos.

254 and 256. In 1865 he sold No. 254 to Joseph Crowell Gore, a teller and .
256 to grocer John Hayn.

No. 250 has been extensively altered with the removal of its -cornice and
all of its ornamental details. None of the other houses retain all of their
original details either. Each house was three stories high raised on a tall
rusticated basement (stuccooed at No. 244) plerced by round-arched windows each
with a paneled keystone (removed at No. 244) and fron window quards. The high
stoops, which were lined with cast-iron railings (all removed) led to typical
Ttalianate doorway enframements. These enframements were composed of paneled
plers (partly extant at No. 248) and spandrels (extant only at Nos. 248, 254
and 256), foliate cmsole brackets ard keystone {all foliate forms shaved at
Nos. 244 and 252), and 4 segmental-arched pediment. The floor lenath parlor
windows (shortened at all but Nos. 252, 254 and 256) had evehrow window lintels
resting on foliate hrackets (foliage stripped at No. 244) and corbeled table
sills (removed at Nos. 244 and 246). All of the upper story windows, with
the exception of those at No. 250, retain their eyebrow lintels supported on

~oconsole brackets and molded sills resting cn corbel blocks and their hracketed

wooden cornices with segmental-arched fascias. None of the cpriqmal cast-iron

areaway railings are extant. The areaway railing at No. 256 is of Greek Revival

design and was probably moved here from another house {This style railing does

Qtﬂreserble)anytfdm fourd in Brboklyn and probably cames from a house locat-
sevhere

ND. 258:is a simple Italilanate house built of brick with a tall rusticated
Brownstone basement and hrownstone detailing. The building was erected c.

1860 by an unknown builder. The ornamentation on the house is quite simple

and is typical of the Italianate style. .Details incude a segmental-arched
doorway opening with an eyebrow. lintel supported on foliate brackets that .
flank a spandrel element with recessed panels and a central rondel, full langth
parlor floor windows, cap-molded eyehrow window lintels, pmjectinq sills ard
a wooden bracketed cornice.
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hbs 237 and 239 are a superb pair,of Creek Rev:wal style houses. They are
the only large-scale brick Greek Revival houses in. the distri
beingtmoftheoldestmmmthemrtmm,mm MI:IBGS.w
ThetnusesmrehultforﬁﬁwaxdT.Baddmsewhom@mdhmhaﬁﬂﬁiﬁblmk “
and were retained by him until iafter his death.in 1904." The houses were orig-
inally identical. No. 239 has been.sliglitly altered, but No. 237 retains all
of its original detailing and both houses have a mutber of forms unusuz). for
Greek Revival houses in the New York area. Most umsual are the basemerts of
the two houses, constxructed of large blocks of rock-faced brownstone rather
than the smooth-faced or rusticated stone found on most other Greek Rewival
houses. The most praminent features of the houses are the austere doorxy en-
- frawements with their bold stone pilagters supporting full entablatures
{altered at No.. 239}. The recessed entrance has smaller wooden pilasters,
sidelights amd transom. R . '

At No. 237 the- original paneled door is still extant. These entranceways

are reached by high stoops lined with cast-and mught-i!rm railings and

round newel-posts topped by lanterms. No. 237 retains the original six-over-
nine, floor length parlor windows with cap-molded lintels. Both houses huve
omate cast-~iron parlor floor window quards {(composed of classical) fem:ie
figures set within twining foliage. Such ormate iron elements are extrencly
rare in New York being far more common on Greek Rewvival houses in Philadelphia.
At Wo. 237 the six-over-six second floor windows and the smaller three-over—
three third floor windows, all with flush stone lintels and shallow projecting
8ills, are original, as is the simple dentilled cornice with its returned
fascia, “ovely cast-iron railings with Greek key motifs enclose both area-
ways. No. 239 has had its lintels and sills shaved and an Italianate cornice
added. No. 237 has a two-story side extension with projecting stone lintels
and sills and a three-gided oriel on its side facade.

Nos, 241-251, a row of six typical Italianate hrownstone residences, was
erected c. 1867 by Brooklyn builder William Flanagan. All of the houses have
been at least slightly altered, but all still refilect their Italianate origins.
Originally each house had an ornate doorway enframement composed of paneled
' plers, foliate brackets and keystone and a segmental-arched pediment strikingly
similar to those of Nos. 203-211. Other architectural details include rusti-
cated basements, full-length parlor floor windows with shallew table sills and
eyebrow lintels supported by foliate brackets, molded sills and wooden hrack-
eted cornices with segmental-arched fascias. The doorway enframement has been
removed at No. 251, the parlor floor windows shortened &t all of the houges ex-
cept No. 251 ard all of the table sills ahwe been removed with the exception
of those at Nos. 245 and 251. All of the houses except Nos. 241 and 245 re-
tain some of their cast-~iron railings and Nos. 247 and 251 still hwem their
octagonal newel-posts topped by balls. In 1867 Flanagan sold No. 243 o
ngmn, an insurance broker, No. 245 to Thomas Harward, No. 247 to 3‘§.iram

. Crozier, an insurance broker and No. 249 to Alanson att, a dry gwds
rteml'lant. \
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Nos. 253 and 255 are a pair of simple Italianate houses probably erected c.
1860. No. 253 retains much of its original detail. A low, two-stepped atoop
leads to a deorway ornamented by a slab linte) supported by console brackats.

The windows have flat stone lintels and shallow projecting sills and the :nouse

it topped by a modest hracketed wooden cornice, All of the original iron. i
railings are intact. The pressed-metal doorway and window lintels of No. 255

are later 19th century additions and the areaway railings of this house are

of a recent date.

No: 257 is a tall, Itaiianate brownstone resicence erected in 1867

" for clothing merchant John N. Eitel. The house is ornamented with such

typical Italianate details as a rusticated basement, ormate doorway enframe-
ment, eyebrpw lintels, table sills and a bracketed wooden cornice. The !

" cast-~ixon areaway and stoop railings, the octagonal newel-posts and scquare

gateposts remain in mint condition. With the exception of the cornice, t.r., _
house is quite s:um.lar to Nos 241-251 which were probably erected about i#

- same time.

Nos. 2594263 are a group of three unusual Italianate houses builts for

T. Backhouse prior to 1867. Although it has had its upper story window
lintels removed No. 263 retains most of its original decorative detail. The
doorway enframement of the house is atypical with its umusual grooved piers,
stylized brackets with rosette blocks and its shallow eyebrow lintel. The
rusticated basement, eyebrow window lintels and molded sills are of a mare
camon Italianate form. The wooden commice with its hold single and paired
foliate brackets and fascia cut by paired, round arches is of an extremely
fine and umusual farm. All of the rows original ummrkhasbeenreplaced
by modern irorsork or masonry walls, No. 259 has had its window moldings
stripped and basement stuccoed. No. 261hashadallof itsmldingsshaved
off and its cornice removed.

Nos. 265-269 are three of a group of four (see 197 DeKalb Avenue) brownstone,
Ttallanate style houses designed in 1873 by Marshall J. Morrill (see
Lafiiyette Averue Presbyterian Church, 102-108 Lafayette Avenue) for C.P,
Piper. Although the entrances of these houses are rather narrow the de-

‘tailing is typical of the pericd. The doorway enframements have grovai f‘aerS:

large foliate hrackets and foliate keystones and shallow pediments. A3l of
the windows have slab lintels resting on brackets, those of the paricr fioor
having foliate arnament. The basements of these houses are rusticat=d snd
the houses are topped by hracketed wooden cornices. None of the irovwcyl i3

" original.

No, 269 has had its shoop removed and first floor windows clesad up #n thelr
enframements removed. On its brick (DeKalb Avemwe) facade, a stors [riric has
been placed on the street level. This facade has a rear, three-sidsd. tull-
height bay and openings with stone lintels and sills. Same of the cpenirgs
have been bricked in., .
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CARLTON AVENUE, west side betwesn De¥alb and lLafayette avenuves.

No. 272-276 is the side facade of the building described at 186 DeKalb Avenue.

3 No. 278 is a brick Italianate residence built in the 1860s. The simple but '
' Imposing structure is ornamented with restrained stone details that include

an eyebrow doorway lintel resting on console brackets that have been stippped

of their foliate decoration, segmental-arched, flush stone window lintels,

projecting sills and a modillioned wooden cornice. The basement has been

stuccoed, the first floor windows stnrtenedarﬂ thestoopwalls and areaway

parapet added at a later date.

Nos. 280-282 are a pair of early Italianate houses with Greek Revival de-
tailing erected in the early 1850s. Both houses are abardoned and have
severely deteriorated. No. 280 still retains some of the decorative forms
that were original to the huilding. Italianate details include the segmental-
arched basement windows, flush stone window lintels and projecting sills and
the hold hracketed wooden cornice. Most notable, howewer, is the curvilinear
Greek Revival doorway lintel with its central palmette form., As was typical !
of the late Greek Revival lintels found on houses in the Fort Greene area
this lintel is supported on Italianate console brackets that were probably
originally omamented with foliate forms. At this house the parlor flcor
windows have been shortened and the basement stuccoed. At No. 282 all of
these alterations are also visible as is the loss of the cornice and alter-
1'aanj-i::h::ema: to the design of the doorway lintel. All of the original iromwork is
ssing, o

tws, 284~292 are a row of five hrick transitional Greek Revivial/Italianate |
houses erected c. 1853-55 by Lyman Mason and Francis Mason, a builder.

Although it has a new door, its rusticated basement has been stucooed

(extant at Nos. 286 and 288) and it has lost its table sills (still extant on
the parlor floor window of No. 288), No, 290 best retains its simple de-
tailing. The most notable decoratme form on the Puilding is the curvilinear
doorway lintel ormamented by a centrally placed laurel wreath (see also

Nos. 406-410. Clermont Avenue) . The full-length parlor floor windows have
modest cap-molded lintels and the upper story windows have flush stone lintels
and projecting stane sills. The house i5 crowned by a simple bracketed cornice.
No.. 290, along with No. 288, retains its original Italianate iromwork. In

1855 Lyman Mason sold No, 284 to punch cutter Andrew Gilbert. This house

has had its doorway amd parlor floor window lintels shaved, its parlor floor
window sash altered and a neo-Grec cornice and neo-Grec -iromwork added, c.
1880. No. 286 has had its cornice removed and iromwork replaced by masonry
walls, AtNo.ZBBthedoozwaylintelhasbeenreplacedbyalaterpressed- _
metal slab lintel resting on stylized hrackets and the parlor floor window |
lintels have been shaved. No. 292 has had its ironwork neplaoed by masonry

walls and its window sash altered.
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No. 294, a three-story brick Italianate house with Greek Revival detailing,

was probably erected ¢. 1853 by house framer Henpy Case, Jr. for his own use.
The building retains most of its mid-19th-century form. The heavy Greek
Revival doorway lintel resting on Italianate console brackets (probably stripped
of their foliate ornament) is the most notable feature of the house. All of
the windows have flush stone lintels and projecting stone sills and the house
is surmounted by a wooden cornice with single and paired hrackets. All of the
lovely cast~iron railings and octagonal newel-posts topped by urn motifs are
intact. The basement has been stuccoed and parlor floor windows shortened.

Nos. 296-302 were originally a row of four two~and-one-half story brownstone
houses raised on tall basements. Each house was ornamented with very simple
decorative forms that included slightly projecting rectangular doorway,
parlor floor and basemént window lintels, cast-iron eyebrow window lintels
amd projecting stone sills on the second floor, a bracketed wooden cornice
with segmental-arched fascia and a pair of dormer windows. All of the iron
railings have been replaced by masonry walls. No. 298 has additional third
and attic stories surmounted by a very fine cornice that encampasses the

windows of the attic level. The land upon which thg houses were
built was owned by Aaron S. Day. Day’s executors sold the land for Nos. 296
and 298 to house framer Henry Case, Jr. in 1858 and Nos. 300 and 302 to
builder Jonathan Forker, who briefly resided at No. 300 before moving across
the street, and sold No. 302 to Bdward Hood, a gouger in 1859.

Nos. 304 and 306 are a pair of typical mid-19th-century Italianate brownstone
residences. The pair were erected c. 1863 by Richard Claffy, a builder who

was quite active in the area. Aamong the Italianate details used by Claffy

are the rusticated basements pierced by round-arched windows with paneled
keystone and iron guards, doorway enframements with paneled piers and spandirels,
foliate brackets (altered at No. 304) and keystone and segmental-arched pediment
eyebrow window lintels supported by foliate brackets at the floor-length

parlor windows, eyebrow lintels with console brackets and molded siils rest-
ing on corbel blocks on the second floor, cap-molded lintels and sills on the
.third floor and bracketed wooden cornices. at. No. 306 the floor length parlor
windows have bracketed table sills, but at No. 304 the windows have molded

- 8ills supported by stylized neo-~Grec brackets that flank paneled plaques
(probably an alteration). The original cast-iron railings have been replaced
at both houses and No. 306 has had a slate mansard roof with pedimented

dormers added. In 1863 Claffy sold No. 304 to fruit importer Francesco

Nos. 308 and 310 are a pair of simple Italianate houses both of which have
- been altered.” The land on which these houses were built was owned by
David B. Day who s0ld No. 308 to builder Joseph W. Campbell (b.1819) who
"gince 13@3 has been prominently identified with building interest of
Brookiyn” ¢ and No. 310 to builder George Mitchell who lived _
across the street in a now demolished house, No. 310 retains much of its ,
original detailing. All of the openings of this house have flush stone
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lintels and the upper story window$ have projecting sills. The rusticated
basement and double doors are extant., 'The house retains its bold cast-iron
railings and octagonal newel~posts and square gateposts all topped by
balls., These have been replaced at No. 308 which also has had a large,
late 19th-century pressed-metal dooxway lintel added and has had its full-
length parlor floor windows shortened. No. 308 rethms its original wooden
bracketed cornice, but this is missing at No. 310.

No, 312 is a simple brick Italianate house built in the mid~1850s by builder -
Jonathan Forker. The stoop of the house has been removed and the parlor
floor windows shortened, but the flush stone lintels, projecting stone sills
and bracketed wooden cornice still remain in place.

Nos. 314 and 316 are a pair of simple Italianate houses with the curving
Greek Revival doorway lintels found on many of the early Italianate houses
in the district. The houses were erected c. 1857 and are identical to the
row at Nos. 320-326. No. 316 remains relatively intact and exhibits a
rusticated bhrownstone basement with segmental-arched windows, full-length
parlor floor windows, flush stone window lintels, projecting sills on the
upper story windows and a sinple bracketed cornice. Unfortunately, the
house has recently lost its original cast-~iron railings and octagonal newel-
posts topped by urn motifs., No. 314 has had its basement stuccoed and iron-
work replaced by masonry walls.

No. 318 is a tall Italianate brick house raised on a stone basement (stuccoed).
1 mgwaspmbablyerectedinthelate 1850s. Ornament on the house
is bolder than that on the flanking.groupings. The doorway of the house has
a pedimented lintel resting on foliate brackets while the full-length parlor
floor windows have slab lintels and the upper,story windows have cap-molded
lintels and projecting sills. A simple bracketed wooden cornice with un-
1.:.1¢:|.1.a.‘u.hmu3e jigsaw carved end hrackets and a large rectangular fascia surmounts the

L] . ‘l
Nos. 320-326 are a row of four houses jdentical to the buildings described
at Nos. 314-316. Nos. 320, 324 and 326 have had their basements altered
and No. 326 has had its stoop removed and two of its windgws shortened. No,
324 has table sills on its parlor floor windows. This is the only house to
have these sills and it is not knowm if they were once found on all of the

houses of the row. No. 320 was built for Cormelius B, Timpson,
a hardware merchant and No. 322 for William vail, a confectioner.

No. 328-334 is the side elevation of the building described at 149 Lafayette
Ame.
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CARLTON AVENUE, east side between DeKalb and Lafavette Avenues,

Nos. 271-319 is the classroom facade of J.H.S. 294 and is described at Nos.
274-32¢ Adelphi Street.

No. 321 is a large Italianate dwelling built by owner/architect William A.

1 (see Nos. 201~211 Clermont Avenue) and sold to William Thompson, a
Wall Street broker in April, 1875. The house is an imposing structure with
a wide stoop leading to a round-arched doorway with a full enframement com-
posed of paneled piers, foliate brackets and keystone and a triangular pedi-
ment. The rusticated basement is pierced by two round-arched windows with
large, paneled keystones, The full-length parlor floor windows have table
sills and full enframements with raised lintels. The upper story openings
also have similar enframements plus sills resting on small corbel blocks.
A wooden cornice with bold brackets and a guilloche decorated fascia tops

i

the house.' The iromwork is all of a later vintage.

Nog. 323 and 325 are a pair of narrow transitional Italianate/neo-Grec style
structures erected c¢. 1875 by Brooklyn builder Thomas RBrush, These two-
bayed, four story stuctures have decorative details typical of the 1870s, but
many of; the moldings have heen plastered over. High stoops with bold
cast-iron railings and large square newel-posts lead to the dcorway that is
enframed by paneled piers (stuccoed at No. 325) amd spandrels and foliate
brackets and keystones that support padiments. The single, large parlor floor
windows have full enframements with lintels raised above decorated friezes.
All of the o ther windows have full enframements and the houses are topped

by a continuous cornice with stylized neo~Grec brackets. The houses are raised
on tall basements with projecting beltcourses. ; Both parlor floor windows seem
to have been altered in the early 20th century from their original plate glass,
one-over-one form, to the milti-paned arrangements now visible. In 1875

No. 323 was so0ld to Henry T. Richardson, a stove merchant.

No. 327 has been anittet‘l from the street numbering.

1]

No. 329-337 is the side facade of the house described at 151 Lafayette Avenue,
———— : ‘ .
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CARLTON AVENUE, west side between l‘..afayette and Greene Avenues.

Nos. 336-342 J.s the side facade of the house described at 138 Iafayette
Avenue,

No. 344 a French Second mpire structure istthree gtories, with mansard

above a high rusticated basement with round-arched windows and projecting pan-

eled keystones. The facade detailing is typical of the period c. 1870

and includes a narrow entranceway with paneled round-arched double doors

enframed with paneled piers and spandrels, a pediment resting on blocks !
that are supported by foliate hrackets and a paneled keystone. The parlor ,
floor windows have full enframements with raised lintels and sills supported

on paneled blocks that flank a recessed plagque. Theupperwuﬂwshave

- full enframaments with raised lintels. A modillioned cornice with guilloche

patterned fascia is placed over the third floor above which rises the steep :

slate mansargd.- 'I‘hemansardhastamdomsmthtrlangularpedments ¢
supported on volute panels. { : '

Nos. 346-356 are a row of six simple brick Italianate structures. In 1853-
>4 Samel J. Underhill conveyed the lots on which the r ow is erected to
various builders including John Ross at 346, Gilbert DeRevere at 348-350 and
Alvin Dunham, a mason and builder from Jamaica, Queens, at 352-356, Although
three builders were involved in the constfiiction of these houses they were
originally all alike. Nos. 354 and 356 retain all of their ariginal details
including rusticated brownstone basements, slab stone doorway and parlor floor
window lintels supported on foliate hrackets, stone table sills with hrackets,
cap-molded lintels and projecting sills on the upper story windows, simple
bracketed wooden cornices and cast-iron stoop and areaway railing with small
newel-posts topped by urns. Nos. 346, 348 and 352 are missing their table
sills. The lintels have been shaved at No, 346, the iromwork is missing

at No. 352 and the rusticated stcne basements have been stuccoed at Nos.

346, 348, 350 and 352. 1In 1856 No. 350 was sold to Benjamin Otis, a cammer-
cial merchant and No. 354 to Alvah S. Mulford, alcashier.

No., 358 is.a brick Italianate residence built c. 1854 for Samel J. Underhill,

is identical to the row at 246-356 except that its stone basement
is higher than those of the other houses. This basement has been stuccoed
over.

No, 360 is a brick house that is set back fram the street behind a lawn. The

was exected ¢. 1850-55 by Brooklyn mason Thomas Richardson. The
house was probably only two stories tall when built. The neo-Grec cornice
and slate mansard were added at a later date. The ornament is simple and
includes flush stone lintels and projecting sills.

Nos. 362-368 is a row of four neo-Grec brownstone residences.
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Nos. 362 and 364 were designed by Brooklyn builder/architect Benjamin
Linikin, while the identical houses at 366 and 368 were designed by Wlllwn
H. Mundell (see Simpson Avenue M.E. Church, 201-211 Clermont Avenue).

No. 362 is a narrow two-bayed house with only a single parlor floor window.
The other houses are three bays wide. All of the ornament on the houses is
typical of the neo-Grec style including stylized hrackets with incised window
doorway enframements and stylized bracketed wooden cornices. All of the
enframements have been stuccoed over at No. 366 as have the basement enframe-
ments at Nos. 364 and 368, No. 362 retains its original stoop railings, but
all of the other ironwork and the areaway and stoop walls of No. 368 are
later additions. In 1882 No. 362 was sold to Charles F. Guyon, & hardware
merchant and No. 364 to John Waxd, -a salesman,

No, 370 is a large neo~Grec brownstone residence erected by real estate
speculator and former Brooklyn mayor Samuel Booth sometime between 1872 when
he acquired the land and 1883 when he sold it to Charles and Kate Glatz.
mehousehasveryfmmo-ﬁrecdetailspartimlaﬂyﬂ)estyhzedmgular
brackets that support the window lintels and sills, The similarly detailed
brackets of the doorway enframement, rest on paneled pilasters and support -

a padiment. The modillioned arvi hracketed roof cornice echoes the angular.
forms used below. Portions of the original cast-i.m sboop railings and
areaway fence are extant.

"I.he Bmoklyn Eye & Ear Hospltal (1928) at 372-380 Carltm Mvenue is outside
of the district.

L

CARLION AVENUE, east side between Lafayette and Greene Avenues.

Nos. 339-34 is the side facade of the house described at 140 Lafayette Averme.

Nos. 349-353 are a group of three early Italianate houses erected for
bullder Caleb-S. Woodhull ¢, 1858. These houses are particularly interesting
for their low, three stepped stoops, those of 351-53 being shared. The
houses show very little ormament with only flush stone lintels and projecting
sills to enhance the facades. Modest bracketed wooden cormices top each
house and the areaways and stoops have very fine Itallanate cast-iron. At
No. 349 the stoop, areaway walls, ddorway, parlor floor window lintels and
the Gothic sash are all later additions. The six-over-six windows of No.
351 also are later additions. Woodhull held on to these houses until 1864,
but a deed agreement dated April 26, 1859 between Woodhull and George A.
'.l'read\gﬁ, owner of Nos. 355-359 noted that Woodhull's houses had already
ml t‘
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Nos. 355-359 are another group of simple early Italianate brick row houses.
These three buildings were erected by builder George A. Treadwell in 1859,
The houses have low stoops, palred at Nos. 357 and 359, that lead to narrow
door openings topped by Greek Revival style lintels ornamented with carved
classical faces {(lintel spalling at No. 355 and shaved at No. 359). Other
ornament consists of flush lintels, projecting sills, bracketed wooden
cornices and cast-iron areaway and:stoop railings (parts of which are
missing on all of the houses).

Nos. 361-367, another row of four simple hrick Ttalianaté houses, are
arranged into two groups with each pair sharing a stoop. All of the

~ houses remain basically intact and retain thelr pedimented doorway lintels,
flush stone window lintels, projecting window sills, wooden bracketed cornices
ard iromwork, In 1860 Daniel Armold, a merchant who lived in Brooklyn
Heights and speculated in real estateacquiraithese lots, hut they were not
sold off until 1865-67. In 1866 P.G. Bech, a weigher, purchased No. 361
ard in 1865 wWilliam T. Phipps, vice president of a firm in New York City,
bought No. 367.

‘ .
Nos. 369-and 371 are a pair of early Iltalianate houses very simflar to the
pairs at Nos. 363-369. In 1857 lawyer and real estate speculator Ethelbert
A, Mills sold both lots to printer Jeptha Jones who sold the lot of No.

371 to huilder Caleb S, Woodhull in the same year. Although Woodlmll never
owned No., 369 he probably built both houses. Like other houses on the block
these two huildings have low, paired stoops. The doorways are ornamented
with pedimented lintels with ears. The lintel has been removed at No.

371. All of the windows have flush stone lintéls and the upper story win-
dows have projecting sills. A bracketed wooden corhice surmounts each house
amd all cf the very fine cast-iron areaway and stoop ra.i.lings and octagonal
newel-posts topped by urns are still extant,

No. 373. The :imposihg French Second Brmpire hrownstone'mansion at No. 373,
Bailt in the late 1860s, is one of the largest houses in the Historic District.
It is four hays wide and two-and-one-half staries high. A rusticated basement
with round-arched window supports the main mass!of the house. A broad stoop,
spaming the sunken areaway, leads to the handsome doorway located in the
second bay. The dooxrway is enframed by paneled piers and narrow, attenuated
brackets ‘that support a slab lintel. This unusual enframement is virtually
identical to that at 35 South Oxford Street.' The large parlor floor windows
have enframements similar to those of the doorway, but with projecting molded

- sills resting on corbel blocks. The second floor window enframements are
similar except for their lintel hrackets which are of a more common console

" form. A sinple bracketed cornice extends across the house, The steep slate
nmsardhasbmw:dedomerseachwithbmrectangulaxwindmarﬂlmmg
vertical brackets supporting unusual cornice slabs. Iron cresting distinguishes
the roofline of the mansion.which is in serious need of restoration.
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No. 375 is a neo~Grec house designed in 188] by architect T. Concannon and
Eiilt for Fdmond Mclaughlin. The brownstone structure is typical of neo~Grec
residences with its angled bay, eared enframements with incised decoration
and stylized foliate forms and a wooden cornice with anqular hrackets. A
slate mansard roof pierced by three dormers with eared enframements and
central anthemia crowns the house. Iron cresting abdve the bracketed mansard
cornice adds a picturesque element to the roofline. The original cast-iron
areaway and stoop railings still remain. :

The vacant lot at 377-387 Carlton Averue is outgide of the district.

FOOTNOTES ! )
Pttt et e— f

1. Henry R. Stiles, The Histary of the County of Kings and the City of
Brooklyn, New-York (New York: W.W. Munsell & CO., 1884}, p.13/i.

2. Ibid, p.8s5d,
3. Ibi!d, p.842.
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Mundell opened his own office and in 1866 joined his former instructor w. o
partnership that lasted for six years. Besides this church the fimm designea’
many institutional buildings including the Poppeniuzen Institute in College
Point, Queens, a designated New York City landmark. Mundell, a prolific
architect, was responsible for many residential buildings in Brooklyn, includ-
ing examples in Fort Greene (see 307-311 Cumberland’and 368 Carlton). Mundell
also designed the Long Island Safe Deposit Company Building (1868-69) a cast-
iron structure located in the Fulton Ferry Historic District, the 47th
Regiment Armory (1883) on Marcy Averme in Williamsburg, and the l4th Regiment
Armory (1891) on Eighth Avernue in Park Slope.

The church was designed in the early Romanesque Revival style that had
originated in 1846 with Richard Upjohn's Congregational Chuxch of the
Pilgrims (see Lafayette Avenue Presbyterian Church, 102-108 Lafayette Avenue)
and is evidence of the lingering popularity of this style in the post-Civil
War pericd. The church is more typical of early Revival style
ecclesiastical structures than either the Church of the /Pilgrims or the
lafayette Avenue Presbyterian Church in that it is built of red brick.
‘These twin-towered red brick churches were built by dissenting congregations
in urban areas all over the United States. Two of the finest examples of
" early Romanescue Revival style brick churches in New York City are the South

ational Church on the northeast corner of Court and President Streets
(1857) in Brooklyn and the First Reformed Church, Jamaica, Queens (1859).

The congregation of the Eighth M.E. Chaxch was organized in 1851 and
erected its first church, the Carlton Street M.E, Church, in that year. In
May, 1869, the cornerstone of the present building was laid. The Philadel-
phia brick and New Jersey brownstone structure was dedicated in April, 1870.
In the late 1860s the official name of the church was changed to honor Matthew
Simpson (1811-1884), bishop of the Methodist Episcopal church and a prominent
statesman during the Civil War period. In 1933 the Simpson M.E. Church merged
with the nearby Clinton Avenue Congregational Chuyrch and formed the Cadman
Memorial Caommmnity Church. The church building subsequently sold to the
Fort Greene Jewish Center. ,

The massing of the Simpson M.E. Church 1is gimilar to that of the church
on Lafayette Avemie. Both of these structures are camposed of a gabled facade
flanked by towers of unequal height. On the gabled facade a flight of steps
leads to a centrally-placed projecting pedimented entry with a round-arched
entrance and double doors flanked by buttresses. On each side of the entry
are small round-arched brick window cpenings with sloping stone sills. A
raking stone beltcourse separates the entrance level fram the main gabled
facade and also serves as the sills for two of the upper level windows, On
the gabled front a large round-arched window is flanked by two smaller windows
and is sumounted by a small ocular opening. The arch of the entrance pedi-
ment projects into the central window. These gabled windows are enframed by
projecting corbelled brick arches. A corbelled brick round-arched:cornice
runs along the edge of the gable.
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The two towers of the church are framed by paired stepped buttresses.
The smaller tower has a round-arched entrance with double doors and a
stained-glass transom above which is a tall narrow round-arched window and
a blind brick oculus. The upper level openings are enclosed by a projecting
enframement with corbelled comice The tower is surmounted by a pealged
roof . | :

The taller corner tower is divided into four sections, At street
level there is a round-arched entrance with a stained-qlass transcm on the
Willoughby Avenue facade and a pair of window openings on the Clermcnt Avenue
facade. On the second level, both facades exhibit tall round-arched openings
placed within rectangular projecting brick enframements with triangqular
corbels supporting their top moldings. -Pairs of narrow round-arched open:l.ngs
subsumed by larger brick arches mark the third level. The fourth level rises
abwethesancbaaryroofaxﬁall four facades are marked by paired round-
arched ventilator openings that originally had louwvered panels. Above each
pair of windows is a blind rondel and a corbelled hrick cornice., The
tower is crowned by a gabled roof. Crocketedpirmaclesmceroseabovethe
roof line of each tower. The polygonal bases of these pinnacles st:.ll rest
on the corner hbuttresses,

The Willoughby Averme facade is six bays long with each bay marked by
stepped buttresses. Each bay is pierced by a small round-arched window with -
raking stane sill and brick voussoirs at street level and a taller window
above. Each upper level window is placed within.a rectangular krick enframe-.
ment simjlar to those on the second level of the corner tower. Many of the
original windows have been closed up and much of the remaining glass has been’
severely damaged. The original: cast-iron fence with its octagonal newel-~

-posts and lamp standards still swrrounds the church site. The building is
igi a state of disrepair and is in need of immediate gtabilization and restor-
ation,

'Ihe parsonage (No. 211), adjacent " to the cjurch, acts as a transition
betweenthechurchmildmgatﬁthe_mhmsesthatarehailtontlmmst _
of the block. The building is designed in the early Ramanesque _!_'levival style,
but takes the form of a row house. It is very simple in its massing with
cleanly-cut openings and no ornamental -detailing. Constructed of brick on
a rusticated brownstone basement with segmental-arched openings and iron
guards, the parsonage is three stories high with a round-arched corbelled
brick cornice. A high stoop leads to the round-arched, stone door enframe-
ment. All of the windows are round-arched and exhibit hrick voussoirs and
rectangular projecting brownstone, sills that rest on-corbel blocks. With
the exception of the loss of one newel-post all of the original ironwork re-
maing intact.

Note: All of the row houses on this blockfront were built on lots that
originally extended to Vanderbilt Avenue,
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Nos, 213-235 are a row of twelve very fine French Secand Empire style brown-
stone residences huilt ¢, 1868-71, Nos. 213-219 were erected by builder
Patrick O'Brien while the identical houses at Nos. 223-235 were erected by
Joseph Towmsend. The builder of No. 221 is unknown Most-of the row still
has its original form with No. 223 retaining almost all of its original
details. This house is three stories raised on a high rusticated basement
and topped by a steep slate mansard. The basement, set back behind cast-iron .
areaway balustrades and gateposts {one replaced). is pierced by segmental-
arched windows with iron guards. A grand stoop with cast-iron balustrades
and octagonal newel-posts (one missing) topped by balls leads to round-arched
paneled double doors (with additional outer doors). The doorway enframement
consists of paneled piers and boldly carved foliate brackets and keystone
supporting a trianqular pediment. The floor length parlor windows have full
enframements with raised lintels and table sills resting on brackets. The
second story windows also have full enframements with raised lintels as well
as molded sills with brackets. The third story enframements have projecting
molded sills and lintels. A bracketed cornice with a paneled fascia is placed
above the third story and supports the mansard. roof. The mansard is pierced
by two dormers with segmental-arched windows and eyebrow lintels. Stone

piers with round-arched paneled cornice blocks separate each mansard of the |
row.

Only Nos. 223, 225, 227 and 231 retain same of their original 1.romnrk.

No. 219 has been stripped of all of its decorative moldings. . Nos. 219, 221, R

233 and 235 have lost their table sills' and Nos. 233 -and 235 have had their
stoops removed.

In 1871 Patrick O'Brien sold No. 215 to James Miller, a publisher and
No. 217 to Iscdore M. Bon, a merchant, both of New York City. In 1870 O'Brien
sold No. 219 to John Stote, a shoe merchant. In 186% Joseph Townsend sold
No. 225 to Elias Humbert, a New York City lithographer and in 1861 he sold
No. 231 to Randolph Loomis, an insurance brokex.

Nog. 237-255 are a row of nine Italianate brownsgone residences erected c.
1867-1868. Nos. 237-243 were built by Joseph Townsend and Nos. 245-253 by
Michael Murray. In their use of ornamental detailing, the row is very
aimilartotheFrethecomarpuemthatitadjom A}l of the houses
have suffered same alterations. As is .typical of Italianate residences these
buildings are three stories raised on high rusticated basements. Ornament
includes paneled doorway enframements with boldly carved foliate brackets and
keystones supporting segmental-arched pediments, eyebrow lintels resting on -
console brackets, table sills, iron basement window guards and bracketed
cornices with arched fascias. All of the stoop walls, areaway parapets

and iromwork, except for that at No. 249 were added later. The table sills
are missing at Nos. 239 and 249 and many of the houses have new doors. No.
237 has had a mansard roof added. In 1868 No. 237 was sold to George H.
Sackett, a Manhattan jeweler and in 1867 No. 243 was sold to Thomas S.
Shortland, a cooper. In 1867 Murray sold No. 247 to New York City lawyer
Henry R. Qumings and in 1868 he sold No. 249 to Joseph Fahys, a watch-

case mamifacturer, No. 251 to C‘narles Schurig, -a watchmaker, No. 253 to
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Philander Stevens, a New York City.drygoods merchant and No. 255 to liquor
dealer, Arthur Mchvoy.

Nos. 257 and 259 are a pair of brownstone- Italianate buiidmgs erected c.
1867-68. wWith the exception of the foliate forms of the hrackets and the
rondels of the .door enframements these two houses are identical to Nos., 237-
253.

_ In 1867 Maria Spader, a local landowner sold No. 257 to Patrick C.
Keely. Patrick Charles Keely (1816-1896) 1 was cne of the most prominent
19th~century American ecclesiastical architects. Xeely was born in Ireland
an August 9, 1816, and emigrated to the United States in 1842. He settled
in Brooklyn and began to work as a carpenter. In 1846 Keely's friend,
Father Sylvester Malone, was sent to.Williamsburg to form a new congregation
andaskedl{eelytodesz.gnactmrch for him. The church of Saints Peter and
Payl, built in-.1848, was Keely's first important architectural commission,
and he went on to design many other churches J.nBrooklynandelsewhere ‘He
is reputed to have dengnad avery cathedral in New York ‘State with the g
exception of St. Patrick's and to have been the architect of approximately
600 churches nationwide. Most of Keely's churches were designed for Irish
congregations, and they are simpler than those used by French and Italian
congregations. Most are built of brick with stone trim and are often raised
on high basements that served as temporary churches. In Brooklyn Keely's

" major designs included those for St. Anthony's, Greenpoint (1875), St.

Stephen's, Carroll Gardens (now Sacred Heart and St. Stephen's, 1875), the

Episcopal Church of the Redeemer on Fourth Avenue and Pacific Street (1865), -

St. Charles Borrameo, Brooklyn Heights (1868), and St. Vincent de Paul,

Williamsburg (1869). He also was responsible for the design of the ill~.

fated Brooklyn Cathedral of the Dmmaculate Oonception which was to have

- been built in Fort Greene (see 363-371 Clermont Avenue).

‘No. 261-265 is the side elevatmn of the building described at 231 DeKalb
Avene.

CLERMONT AVENUE, west side hetween DeKalb and Lafayette Avenues.

No. 280-282 is the side elevation of the building described at No. 228
Avenue.,

Nos., 284 and 286 are a pair of simple two-story brick Italianate houses with
tall basements. Ornamental detailing is limited to doorway pediments rest-
ing on stylized brackets, flush stone window lintels and projecting sills
and lovely wooden cornices with paired brackets. The houses were built in
1865 for John F. Caree. No. 284 was the home of builder William Bedell.

No. 288 is a simple brick Italianate residence probably erected c. 1865
along with Nos, 290-296. The tall narrow house has had its stoop removed
but retains its rusticated basement, flush stone window lintels, projecting
8ills ard very simple wooden cornice identiéal to that of the neighboring
row. The window sash has been altered and the irommork is hew.



FG-HD -50-
Clermont Avenue

No. 288 is a simple hrick Italianate residence probably erected ¢. 1865
along with Nos. 290-296. The tall narrow house has had its stoop removed
ut retains its rusticated basement, flush stone window lintels, projecting
sills and very simple wooden cornice identical to that of the neighboring
row., The window sash has been altered and the iromwork is new.

Nos. 290-296 are a row of brick Ital:.anate residences erected c. 1865 for
Tsaac Carhart. All four houses have rusticated brownstone basements and a
simple continucus wooden cornice.. Nos. 290 and 292 have ornate doorway
lintels resting on large stylized brackets. Thé doorways of Nos. 294 and 296
have modest cap-molded lintels and all of the windows of the row have flush
stone lintels with projecting sills on the upper stories. No. 292 is

three bays wide (all of the other houses being only two bhays wide) and has a
one story and basement, 'three-sided bay with four segmental-arched windows and
a nuiillimed cornice.

- No. 298 is an Italianate frame dwellmg erected c. 1851 for house and land
agent John Morris. The house is clad in imbricated shingles (not original).
A street level wooden porch with four shingled colums shades the handsome
round-arched doorway and two round-arched windows. The upper stories have
full enframements and the house is suwrmounted by a bracketed wooden cornice.

No. 300 probably was erected c. 1851 by Stephen Bedell, a carpenter who also
seems to have lived in the house. The vernacular frame structure is two-and-
cne-half stories high with a peaked roof, crossetted Greek Revival window en—
framements on the first and second floors, a 'small rectangular attic window
and a simple Italianate hracketed wooden cornice. The brick entry portico and
stoop were probably added in the 1920s. 1-
No. 302 is an Ttalianate house that was probably erected in the mid-1850s by
Willlam Freeland, a mason. The three-story, brick house with stone basement
{(now stuccoed) has a new stoop, but'retains its flush stone lintels, pro—

~ jecting sills, bracketed wooden corm.ce, and handsame déuble doors.

Nos. 304, 304A and 306. 'I'he land upon which this group of houses was erected

. was owned by Nathantel Burtis, a hardware and crockery merchant who lived

at No. 9 South (xford Street. He sold the three lots separately in 1870 which
seems like a logical date for the construction of these houses, although

the name of the builder is unknown. Of the three Italianate houses, No. 306
best retains its decorative forms including its rusticated basement, doorway
enframement with paneled piers (slightly altered here), stylized brackets, and
segmental-arched pediment, full-length parlor floor windows with eyebrow lintels
. supported on brackets,.and molded sills resting on paneled blocks. The upper
stories have eyebrow’ lintels with console brackets and molded sills resting

on paneled blocks. The upper stories have eyebrow lintels with console .
brackets and molded sills resting on corbel blocks. A wooden hracketed cormice
tops the house. Nos. 304 and 306 have both had their basements stuccoed and
have lost the paneled blocks beneath the parlor floor windows. All of the
houses have new irormwork and the basement porch at No. 304 is a recent addition.

‘Nos., 308 and 310 and Nos. 312-316 were all erected in the early 1860s, but
exactly who built these houses is unclear. Three Brooklyn builders owned the
land and since builders frequently acted as speculators as well, it is
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difficult to determine which of the three was actually responsible for the
construction of the five houses. In 1860 real estate broker Charles Lowery
sold the land .to builder John Doherty who sold Nos. 312-316 to builder -
Richard Claffy in 1861 and Nos. 308-310 to Claffy in 1862. Claffy sold off
the single lots in 1861 and 1862 and it was probably he who built the houses,
but this has not yet been determined without a doubt. In 1862 Claffy sold
No. 308 to Francis M. Cecil of the United States Navy, No. 312 to Mary A.
Higgins, and No. 316 to Benjamin Wood, Jx. 4

Nos. 308 and 310 are a pair of brownstone houses with very Sﬁfpleand e

restrained detailing. The modest doorway enframements have narrow piers and
glab lintels supported by console krackets, The houses are further ormamented
by rusticated basements, full-length parlor windows with cap-molded lintels,
upper story windows with projecting sills and no lintels and bracketed wooden
cornices with segmental-arched fascias. None of the ironwork is original.

|
Nos. 312-316 are three simple bhrick houses with rusticated brownstone
basements (stuccoed at No. 312). The doorways of these houses have slab
lintels resting on oonsole brackets, flush stone window lintels, projecting

' stone window sills and simple hracketed wooden cornices. At No. 314 the stoop

has been removed and the casement windows of this house are an inappropriate

alteration. All of the houses have lost their original irorwork hnd the parlor

windows of Nos. 312and314havebems}mrterﬂi

Nos. 318-322-are a lovely group of Anglo-Italianate residences erected c.

Alfred Treadwell. Although, like the other houses of the
row, No. 318 has lost its iromwork, the house hest retains its period look. .
as is typical of the mxglo-Italianate style a 1 stoop leads to’a round-
arched doorway with an unornmamented enframement. Aisimilar window further
articulates the rusticated first floor, above which rise two stories oon-
structed of smooth-faced brownstone and crowned by a wooden cornice. On
the second floor the windows are capped by slab lintels and on the 3rd

floor by very shallow rectangular lintels; all of these windows have progeét-

ing sills resting on crabel blocks. No. 320 and 322 have had their seoond_
floor windows shortened and No. 320hasanadditmna1 fourth story. The
awning at No. 318 is a recent addition. In 1865 Treadwell sold all three

. houses--No. 318 to Paul Weidinger, a merchant, No. 320 to Elias C. Humbert,

a Wall Street broker, and No. 322 to Henry MocClosky, a clerk at City Hall.

No. 326 is a brick Italianate house erected in the 1850s. Ornament on the
' s extremely simple and is limited to a stone beltcourse separating
. the basement and upper stories, a shallow triangular pediment over the door-
way, flush stone window lintelé, projecting stone sills and a modest wooden

: cornice. _ !
Nos. 328 and 330 are a pair of gimple French Second Enpire style houses
probably bullt ¢. 1865. Both houses have been extensively altered but No.
328 petains_its wooden bracketed cornices and hoth houses have their slate
mansards, each pierced by pedimented dormers., All of the window lintels

have been shaved and the hrick stoops, entrance vestibules and areaway walls .

were added in the 20th century.

(]
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Nos, 332-336 have been amitted fram the street numberirng.

No. 338 is an extremely narrow (13'1") Flemish bond brick, Georgian Revival

. style house designed in 1911 by William E. Foster II and built for E.C.
Williams of 208 Washington Park. This cormer building has its main en-
trance on Clexrmont Avenue. An entrance portico with fluted Doric colums
shields the paneled door that is surrounded by fluted Ionic pilasters and
ormately leaded sidelights and transom. All of the rectangular windows of
the first floor have flush stone lintels with guilloche ornament and the
upper story windows are articulated by splayed stone lintels and stone sills.
The Clermont Avenue facade is further ormamented by an oval window, a two—
story, pressed-metal rectangular bay and a rear entrance enframed by pilasters
that once supported a broken pediment (recently removed). On the lafayette
Avenue front the second floor is articulated by stone panels and a round-
arched window set within a blind brick arch. A mmght~iron balcony orn-
aments this opening. A galvanized-iron dentiled cornice swmounts the
house which is* toppedbyabrickparapet. i

i

CLERMONT AVENUE, east side between DeKalb and Lafayette Avenues.

. No. 267-269 is the side elevation of the lmildmg described at 230-236
Avenue.

271-275 are a group of three Italianate hrownstone residences erected

ﬁ3’7 by builder James Shannon. The buildings are typical of Italianate
houses erected in Brooklyn during the 1860s. The ornament includes full
docrway enframements with segmental-arched pediments, rusticated basements,
full-length parlor floor windows with table sills, foliate brackets and eye-
brow lintels, upper story windows with eyebrow lintels and molded sills,
and wooden hracketed cornices. The balustraded iron stoop railings and
octagonal newel-posts topped by balls are extant at No. 271. The only notable
alterations to the row are the shortened parlor floor windows and the
stripped brackets of the doorway enframement at No. 273. In 1868 Shannon

sold No. 275 to oil cloth merchant John lapsley and in 1869 he sold No. 273
to Theodore and Adele Girand.

Nos 277-287. This row of six fairly simple Italianate houses was erected
William 0. Purdy. All.of the houses, with the exception of No.
279,havebeena1tered No. 279 is the only house in the row to retain all
of its doorway enframement details including paneled piers, foliate hrackets
arnd an éyebrow lintel raised above a segnental-arched spandrel panel. The
house also has a rusticated basement, floor-length parlor windows with
table sills and slab lintels supported on foliate hrackets, upper story eye-
brow lintels and molded sills and a bracketed wooden cornice., This' house,
like all of the others in the row, has lost its criginal cast-iron railings.
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No. 277 has had its upper story window moldings shaved off and the hrackets

of its doorway and parlor floor window lintels altered; No. 281 has had its
foliate hrackets shaved and a mansard roof with two dormer windows added;

"No. 283 has had all of its moldings shaved, its parlor-floor windows shortened,
cornice and table sills removed and a mansard roof with two daymer windows
added; No. 285 has had all of its moldings shaved; No. 287 has had its table
sills removed, parlor floor windows: slnrtened and its facade clad with

permastone siding.

In 1868 No. 285 was sold to Charles W. Cox, a grocer, In 1869 No.
279 was sold to William W. Stephenson, a lawyer.

|
Nos. 289-293. The group of houses at Nos. 289-293 is similar to the row at
- Nos, 277-287 and also was built by William O, Purdy c. 1868. These three
houses are a bit taller than the neighboring row, but the major difference
between these two groupings is that Nos. 289-293 have doorway enframements
. with slab lintels. All three houses have been altered. At No, 289 the
foliate hrackets have been shaved; at No. 291 the doorway enframement and
-table sills have been altered; at No. 293therusticatedbasenen1iandthe
decorative moldings have been removed. All of the original cast iron has
been replaced by modern irorwork or masonry walls. In 1868 Purdy sold No.
293 to Gerard Washington, the treasurer of a fimm in New York City.

No. 295 is a simple French Second Bwpire style residence erected c¢. 1867
for real estate operator Julius Davenport. The two story and mansard, brick
house is raised on a brownstone basement (stucooed) and ornamented with ‘
brownstone window lintels and sills (stuccoed) ahd a brownstone doorway en-
framement composed of pilasters supporting a pulvinated frieze and pediment.
A vooden bracketed cornice supports a slate mansard that is pierced by
three round-arched dormer windows. 'Iheongmalcast-imn stoop and area-
way railings are still extant. 1

Nos, 297—303 are four neo-Grec brumstom residences designed in 1879 by
BrockIyn architect Robert Dixon (see 11A-15 South Elliott Place)for builder/
owner Thamas Fagan.. The houses are typical of the neo-Grec style and Nos.

- 297-301 still remain virtually as built in 1879. The houses have smooth-
faced basements with raised beltoourses ornamented with stylized neo-Grec
forms. The doorway enframements have grooved piers with blocks of incised
detailing, incised spandre)] panels and keystones and stylized brackets that
support trisngular pediments. fThe windows all have full enframements, those
-of the first floor having lintels with triangular pediments raised above .
" incised friezes and molded sills supported by stylized corbel blocks that . .
‘flank paneled plaques. ' On the second floor:slab lintels are raised above
decorated friezes. A wooden hracketed cornice tops each house. All of the
original cast-iron railings have been replaced by modern railings. No. 303
has had its decorative molding stripped. In 1880 Fagan sold No. 299 to
John Barberie, 'a shipchandler and No. 301 to Chauncey Marshall (1850-1915) ,
who was to became director of the Union Bag & Paper Co. and president of the
Brighton Beach Development Co. '
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‘ On a base of magnificent height and great sim-

; plicity, are superimposed eight Ionic columns-on
each of the two facades fronting on Clermont and
Lafayette avs., On the other two sides are flat
piers or p:.lasters against the wall surfaces, all
ofwhlchlsumxedbyacommofgreatnchmss,
with appropriate balustrade and superstructure.

To approach the great standards of exterior decor-
ation and color treatment, without employing the
expensive materials cawmonly used for these pur-
poses, a Combination of colored terra cotta, marble
and facehr:.ckmreenployed the marble and terra
cotta being used in alternate courses in the base, .
the terra cotta and brick in the treatment of colums
- auicaps,axﬂtheooloredterraoottamthemin
cornice and portions of the superstructure, the idea
beingtoconstuctthelomrportwnsofthemwmg
with the greatest simplicity possible, increasing 4
the r:l.chness as we approach the crowning features.

The main entrance to the building, which is still wide as a Masonic
Tample, is on Clermont Averme. 'The centrally-placed entry enframement
is surmmounted by a pediment with acroteria. The entrance is flanked by
cast lamp standards, manufactured by Mitchell, Vance & Co., New York,
These lamps are ornamented with BEgyptoid foliate forms and topped by
stained-glass globe lights. The lLafayette Avenue facade has two crossetted
entryways surrounded by simple enframements with slab lintels. The north
facade is of brick with large and small stretchers and headers massed in
decorative patterns.

"~ The mix of white marble and terra cotta on the ground floor, the
brown bricks and gray mortar of the upper stories and side facades,
cream-colored colums with amber shadin; in the fluting, green oopper,
ornamental window guards and cornice, arnd the cream, red, green, blue,
buff and purple terra-cotta decorative ornament creates an exciting
polychramatic structure.
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No. 305-311 is the parking lot of the Masonic Temple.

Nos. 313-323. The Brooklyn Masonic Temple was built in 1906 by the

Manhattan architectural firm of Lord & Hewlett in association with Pell &

Corbett. Austin W. Lord (1860—1922) was born in Minnesota and studied -
architecture at M.I.T. and later in the office of McKim, Mead & White, where

- he worked on the Brooklyn Maseum, the Metropolitan Club and Columbia University.

In 1895 he began to practise with Washington Hull and James M. Hewlett. Hewlett
(1868-1941) studied architecture at the Brooklyn Polytechnic Institute,

Columbia University and the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris. Among the build-

ings in Brooklyn designed by Lord & Hewlett are the Polytechnic Preparatory
Country bay School, St. John's Hospital, St. Jude's R.C. Church, the Bedford
Branch of the Brooklyn Public Library, and the Second Battalion Naval Militia .
Armory. - : ‘ v

The Masonic Temple was built‘'on the site of the Thamas Vernon residence,
one of the landmarks of...the borough."? The Vernon family owned the entire
blockfront on Lafayette Avenue between Clermont and Vanderbilt Avenues.. The
site was split in half and a semi-detached house built along the center line |
in 1857. Thomas Vermon lived on the Clermont Avenue side and his brother owned |
the Vanderbilt Avenue portion, now the site of Queen of All Saints Church. |

The Brooklyn Masonic Guild was uworporated by the New York State
legislatuke in 1902 and authorized to:
oconstruct., ,maa.ntainarﬂmnageatenplemthe
Borough of Brooklyn for the use of Masonic Bodies .
and other Fraternal associations, and out of the funds
derived from rent and incame thereof to maintain ,
and manage -an asylum, a have or homes, a school or
schools for the free education of the children of
Masons, and for the relief, support and care of
~worthy and indigent Masons, their wives, widows and
orphans, and to render direct relief toworthya:ﬁ3
indigent Masons, their wives, widows and orphans
A om@etltmn was held among fourteen architectural fimms and the wmn:l.ng
design of Lord & Hewlett was constructed. The building looks almost exactly
as it did when built and a contemporary description is still applicable today:

In style it is Grecian, divided, practically,
into three vertical heights, which might be
likened to the proportions of an ordinary
pedestal covering the hidght of the aunditorium,
the die of the pedéstal covering the two

lodge room floors and the cap of the pedestal
covering the roam devoted to the uses of the
comandery. The auditorium, the s.aller lodge -
rooms on the second and third floors and the
oamandery room have been given their due prom-
inence in the camposition of the exterior.
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CLERMONT AVENUE, west side between Lafayette and Greene Avenues.

No, 340-346 is the side elevation of the building described at 174
Lafayette Avenue.

Nos.348 and 350 are.a pair of simple Italianate hrownstone dwellings erected
c. 1865 for merxchant and real estate speculator Barlow Stevens of Monroe
Place in Brooklyn Heights. The three story structures are raised on
rusticated basements and ornamented with simple slab doocrway and parlor floor
window lintels that are all supported on foliaté brackets. Additional
ornament includes parlor floor table sills that are supported on brackets,
molded lintels on the second floor, flush lintels on the third floor, pro-
jecting rectangular sills, and simple bracketed cornices. The stoop walls
and areaway: parapets are later additions. :

Nos, 352-60. Now a parking lot and garage, this was once the. site of a
Targe frame dwelling and a three story brownstone row house.

No. 362,is a simple three story Italianate structure built of brick raised
on a rusticated brownstone basement and ornamented with brownstohe details
that include a full doorway enframement with grooved piers, console hrackets,
paneled spandrels ard keystone, and pediment., The first and second story
windows have molded lintels while those of the third floor are flush with
the facade. -The projecting sills of the upper story windows are supported
on corbel blocks, This building was the home of E.G. Cowley, a cutlery
merchant in Manhattan.

Nos, 364-368 are a group of three simply detailed Italianate row houses.
story buildings all have brick facades and are raised on
rusticated brownstone basements, Italianate crnament includes slab door-
way lintels resting dn foliate brackets (stripped at No. 366), flush stone
window lintels, projecting sills and simple bracketed wooden cornices. No.
366 has handsame neo-Grec cast-iron stoop railings and newel-posts that are
topped by urns. No. 364 has fine late 19th-century iromwork. In 1856 No.
364 was purchased by Samel F. Keese, aNewYorkcitydryqoodsmerchant.

Nos, 370-374 is a parking lot that replaces three, three story hrownstone
residences.

Nog. 376-378. The four story brick Roman Catholic Chancery Residence was
- designed in 1938 by Brooklyn apchitect Henry V. Murphy and replaces two-
and-one-half story brownstone residential structures. Therrectangular

" building is very simple in its massing, the major ormamental form being
the entranceway with its broken arched pediment with central um.

No. 380-384 is the side elevation of the Chancery of the Roman Catholic
Diocese of Brooklyn, described at 73-79 Greene Avenue.

’
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CLERMONT AVENUE, east side between Lafayette and Greene Avenues.

No. 325-361. Most of this blockfront is taken up by the playground and
side facade of Bishop Loughlin Memorial High School (see 91-99 Greene
Avenue) .. The Clermont Avenue facade of the High School is quite simple in its
detailing A projecting brick entrance bay is ormamented by a Tudor-arched
stone doorway and Gothic panels. - The roof parapet of this facade is orna-
mented with pointed arches and a foliate plaque'with the coat of arms of
the school. The rear elevation of the school, facing onto the playground,
has stone entryways and a three-sided, multi-windowed Elizabethan Revival
style central stone bay topped by a stepped parapet with niches, CGothic

\ arches, and coats of arms, The projecting end wings are built of tapesty
brick and are topped by centrally placed niched pinnacles.

No. 363-371. The building on the northeast cormer of Clermont and Greene

' Avenues 1s the Episcopal Residence of the Roman Catholic Church. Designed
in 1883 by Patrick Charles Keely (see 257 Clermont Avenue), the huilding was
planned {to be the residence for the bishop and clergy attached tb the Roman
Catholic Cathedral of Brooklyn. The block bounded by Clermont, Greene,
Vanderbilt and lafayette Avenues was intended to be the site of the Cathedral
of the Dmmaculate Conception. This Cathedral was designed by Keely and its
cornerstone laid on January 21, 1868. The Cathedral of the Immaculate
Conception was to have been the second largest cathedral in the country and
"an enterprise of magnificent proportions, such as only a prospercus and
grwingcityomldsustam“s The Cathedral design was based on Rouen
Cathedral and was called “French Gothic of the thirteenth century, revived
by the elder Pugin. This style abound$ in...clustered shafts, moulded bases,
decorated caps, richly traced windows, varied statuary, pinnacled and
gabled canpopies."” & fThis style was chosen "as offering the greatest scope
for supplying m::dem wants, while retaining tl-? breath and beautles of the
most perfect period of pointed architecture

TheCathedralwastolnvebeenbuiltofbluegranitea:ﬂms to have
. been 354 feet long with its main entrance on lafayette Avemue. The
Lafayette Averue frontage was to have been 160 feet wide with two square
corner towers rising to a height of 350 feet. On the interior the 98 foot
high nave was to have been built of white granite with buff Chio freestone
"and gray Bellville freestone decoration and red granite pillars. The roof
.was to have been of oak timbers, the floors of encaustictiles, the windows
of stained glass and the altar, reredos and tabernacle of marble.
Y ' y

The Cathedral was the idea 6f Bishop John Loughlin who felt that .
although the Diocese of Brooklyn was still young (formed, 1852) it could
support the construction of a mommmental cathedral. The comerstone laying
was attended by 40,000 people, but the walls of the building only reached
a height of ten to twenty feet before construction was halted. In 1907
it was reported that building was stopped because "men high in the
counsels of the church said the development of that section of the city

Greene and Clinton Hill7 did not at that time justify the on
of a cathedral there, and upon their advise the work was abandoned."
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Since this section of Brooklyn was a prime area for development in the 1860s

and 1870s it seems more likely that construction was halted due to the difficulty

of raising adequate funds for the construction of such a grand structure.
Only St. John's Chapel on the Greene Avenue frontage (demolished) and the
Bishops Residence were campleted,

The Bishop's Residence was not begun until 1383, many years after con-
struction on the main church had been abandoned and its oconstruction is
evidence of the fact that completion of the Cathedral on this site was
still contemplated. The building no longer houses the Bishop of Brooklyn.?
but row contains offices and a Brother's Residence for the Catholic Church.
The building is.a very fine Victorian Gothic structure and one of Keely's
most notable works in Brooklyn. The gray granite and buff sandstone
structure is three stories high and surmounted by a steep copper mansard.
Cn the Greene Avenue facade a stoop leads to the entrance porch that is
attached to a projecting central bay. The buttressed pogch with its cusped-
arch entrance and quatrefoil balustrade is the finest feature of the build--
ing. Other ornament includes complex sandstone window enframements, simple
projecting sn.lls, an angqular doorway enframement on Greene Avenue, and .
dormer windows in the mansard.

L

am AVINUE, west side between Greene and Gates Avermes.

Nos, 386-394, ‘this is the side facade of the house dwcribed at 54-72 Gree.ne
Avenue,

Nos. 396 and 398 are two Italianate residences built c. 1857 by real estate
broker Thomas R. Lush. Although not identical, both of these brick houses
use similar Italianate ornamert. The details are simple and include rustic-
ated brownstone basements, iron basement window guards, flush stone window
lintels and projecting sills, simple slab doorway lintels resting on small
console brackets, and wooden hracketed cornices. The irormork of No. 398

is original, but its basement has been stuccoed.

No, 400 is a simple Italianate row house erected c. 1858 by real estate broker
Thomas R. Lush. As with many brick Italianate houses in the district this
building is ornamented with subdued stone details including a wide beltcourse
between the basement and upper stories, flush lintels, projecting sills and

a triamgular doorway lintel. A wooden bracketed cormice crowns the house.

The irorwork is all of a later date. .

No. 402 is another simple Italianate dwelling built of hrick. This house,

c. 1860 for Robert Bonnet, has later 19th-century bracketed pressed-
metal lintels., The original Italianate motifs include very fine cast-iron
railings and newel-posts and a simple bracketed wooden cornice. The original
resident of the house was Charles D. Willits, a Brooklyn coal and wood merchant.
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No. 404, Although it has suffered alterations, No. 404 still retains its

basic Ttalianate form. Erected c. 1860, this residence retains its flush d
stone lintels and. projecting sills and its bracketed wooden cornice. The
doorway lintel has been shaved, but still retains its original profile and

the box stoop is a late 19th century addition. The third story casement windows
and the door are also later alterations.

Nos. 406-410 are a group of transitional Greek Revival/Italianate brick row
houses erected ¢. 1855 by Brooklyn uilder Aquila B. England. No. 406 re-
tains most of its original details including a very fine curved Greek Re-
vival doorway lintel ornmamented by a wreath (see also Nos. 284-292 Carlton
Avenue) . The rest of the detail on the house is very sinple with a stone basement
, £lush stone lintels, projecting sills, and a modest kracketed wooden cornice.
'I'he stoop irdnwork is original at this house. No. 408 has lost its doorway
lintel and cornice moldings, hut retains its original cast-iron stoop and
© areaway railing, now éncased in a concrete frame. At No. 410 the pressed-
metal bracketed lintels, stoné stoop,. areaway parapet, and ironwork are all
later additions. In 1855 England sold No. 406 to New York City statiomer
Charles Bainbridge and No. 408 to W. Newton Woodoock, a Marthattan
hardware t. In 1856 No. 410 was sold to Manhattan merchant John Marsden.

Nos, 412-414. . Like Nos. 406-410 Nos. 412 and 414 are simple brick transitional
Greek RevIval/Italianate residences., This pair of houses was erected c.

1856 by Brooklyn builder Aquila B. England. The houses are taller than their
contemporary neighbors, but, with the exception of the arnate curving Greek
Revival doorway lintels with their centrally placed palmettes and Italianate
foliate brackets, the detailing is almost as restr; . The facades are
articulated by rusticated hrownstone basements { at No. 412), flush
stone lintels, projecting sills, and wooden cornices with foliate brackets.
The stoop walls, areaway parapets, and iromwork of both houses are later
additions and both houges have also !ud their parlor flmr windows shortened.

No. 416 is a fon.:r-family apartment house designed !in 1905 by Brooklyn architect
George F. Roosen for Archilbald Wilson. Roosen designed many of the early 20th-
century tenements that were erected in Brocklyn and there are examples of his
work in Clinton Hill, Prospect Heights, Crown Heights and in the Park Slope
Hisporic District. This building is constructed of kwick laid in Flemish bond
with burned'headers and the detailing is loosely based on Colonial precedents.
These Colonial Revival forms :an}ude a crossetted doorway enframement, splayed
brick window lintels with stone volute keystones on the first floor, stone
panel lintels and plagues on the!second and third floors, and splayed brick
lintels on the fourth floor. Stone beltoourses run across the facade above’
the first and third floor and a galvam.zed-irbn cormice with blocks and guttae
tops the house.
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Nog. 418-430 are a row of seven brick Italianate houses erected ¢. 1860 by
Brocklyn builder John Doherty. RAll the houses in the row have suffered some
alterations, but each house has at least ohe of the original details. The
three story houses were all originally raised on high rusticated hrownstone
basements (as at No. 422). The basements are pierced by segmental-arched
windows with iron guards (as at Nos. 418, 422, 424 and 428). The doorway
enframements have paneled piers (at Nos. 424, 426 and 430) and eyehrow lintels
resting on foliate brackets (at all of the enframements except that of No. .

428). The entrance lintels are raised above stone elements with inset panels

and a central rondel (at Nos. 426 and 430). The full-length parlor floor win-
dows (shortened at Nos. 418 and 420) have hracketed table sills (Nos. 422 and
428). All of the windows have stone eyebrow lintels (shaved at No. 424) and
the upper story windows have projecting rectanqular sills resting on corbel
blocks. A wooden cornice with segmental-arched fascia and foliate brackets
(best preserved-at No. 420) surmounts each house. Only No. 428 retains its
original cast-iron stoop and areaway railings, and square newel-posts and
gateposts topped by urns. No. 420 has had its stoop and doorway enframement:
removed =

In 1861 No. 420 was sold to George G. Reynolds, a prominent Brodklyn
judge. In 1863 Doherty sold No. 422 to John French, a real estate broker, who
the house until 1863 when he sold it to the Rev, William I. Budington

(@. 1879), pastor of the Clinton Avenue Congregational Church for twenty-
four years. In 1861 No. 426 was aoquired by Caroline M.0. Rose, a widow and
in 1861 No. 430 was purchased by Charles H. Stewart

Nos. 432 and 434 are a pair of Italianate houses erected ¢. 1857 for John’
Halsey. These brick buildings are raised on rysticated hrownstone basements .
(stuccoed at No. 434) and have unusual doorway and window lintels. Each door-:
way lintel has a projecting stonre slab supported on garlanded brackets. The
brackets flank flush stone placues with recessed panels and rordel. The
window lintels are designed in a similar, but more stylized form, and lack

the brackets of the doorway design. Other ornament includes iron basement
window guards, projecting molded stone window sills supported on corbel
blocks, and simple wooden modillioned cornices. The irorwork and doors are
later additions. In 1857 No. 432 was sold to James Cole, an auctioneer.

The vacant lot at Nos. 436-450 is outside of the boundaries of the district.
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CLERMONT AVENUE, east side between Greene and Gates Avenues.

The vacant lot at Nos. 373-389 is the site of the Reformed Eplscopal Church of
the Messiah and is discussed at 74-84 Greene Avemie.

Nos. 391 and 393 are a pair of typical Italianate hrownstone row houses, both
of which have lost portions of their original detailing. No. 391 has had its
rusticated basement. and doorwvay enframement piers stuccoed, but it still re-
rains its stoop, pedimented doorway lintel, and decorative brackets, all
missing at No. 393. Both houses retain their slab window lintels and on the

. upper stories have projecting sills resting on corbel blocks. A wooden hracketed
cornice crowns each building. As with most of the houses erected on this block

. these two wexe built by Brooklyn builder/architect Thamas B. Jackson (c. 1869).

Nog. 395-405 are a row of six Italianate brownstone residences erected by
T.B. Jackson ¢. 1869. All of the houses, with the exception of No. 401 which

- hag been stripped, retain most of their original Ttalianate details including
rusticated basements, paneled doorway enframements with segmental-arched ped-
iments xpsting on foliate hrackets, eyebrow lintels, projecting sjlls, and
bracketed wooden cornices with segmental-arched fascias. Only No. 405, which
has had its parlor floor windows shortened, retains all of its original stoop
and areaway irenwork. In 1869 Jackson sold No. 385 to Fayette R. Gridley, a
dealer in Queensware, No. 397 to Pugene Burtis Brainard, a drugs merchant,
No. 399 to Margaret Woodcock, a widow, No. 401 to James F. Pierce, a lawyer
and No. 405 to George Barlow, a Wall Street hroker.

Nos. 407 and 409 are a pair of modest Ttalianate s erected c. 1866 by
Thomas B. Jackson. Both houses are built of hrick with stone trim. At

No. 407 a stone beltcourse, removed at No. 409, separates the basement £rom
the upper stories. No. 409 retains its simple projecting doorway lintel. All
of the other windows have flush lintels and shallow projecting sills. The neo-
Grec doorway and parlor floor window lintels of No. 407 were added later in
the 19th century. A continuous hracketed wooden cornice runs along the roof-
line of the pair of houses.’ The neo~Grec cast-iron railings at No. 407 were
probably added to the house when the lintels altered., The stoop walls,
" areaway parapet and ironwork of No, 469 are much later in date and the parlor
floor windows of this house have been shortened. In 1866 No. 409 was sold to
James P. Pearson, a clerk.

No, 411. The three story Italihnate row house at No. 411 is the widest build-~
'ing on the street. The deta:.lihg is typical of Italianate brownstone houses -
a:ected c. 1865. Ornamental forms include a paneled doorway enframement with
'a segnental-arched pediment that rests on foliate brackets, with cartouches
eyebrow lintels with foliate hrackets that flank recessed panels with rondels
on the parlor floor lewvel, eyebrow lintels with console hrackets on the second
floor ardl similar lintels on the third floor. A hracketed wooden cormice with
a segmental-arched fascia ornamented with jigsaw-carved scroll work crowns the
house. All of the original iromwork has been remowved.
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Nos. 413-419 are a row of four simply detailed brick Italianate houses

_ erected c. 1866 by T.B. Jackson. The detailing is very restrained and includes
flush stone lintels, shallow projecting sills, and a continuous wooden

- hracketed cormice. No. 413 has lost its stoop, No. 415 has been radically
altered and retains none of its original form, No. 417 has very fine late
19th-century ironwork, and No. 419 has later lintels, newel-posts, and area-
way railing. In 1860 Jackson sold No. 413 to Catherine L, Williams, a widow and
owner of a tinware firm in Manhattan, No. 417 to James F., P:.erce, a lawyer,

and No, 419 to Timothy Deswmond, a butcher, ;

Nos. 421-427 are four very simple Italianate row houses erected c. 1867

By Thamas E. Jackson. The most notable features of these houses are the
flush stone doorway lintels with their centrally placed ornamental rondels.
All of the windows with the exception of the square-headed basement openings
are segmental-arched and have flush stone lintels and projecting sills. The
houses are arranged in groups of two and each pair is surmounted by a con~
timuous bracketed wooden cornice. The stoop walls and areaway parapet at
No. 421, stoops at Nos. 423 and 427, window sash at Nos. 423 and 425'and all
of thelromnorkareofalaterdate. With the exception of those at No. 427,
al) of the parlor floor windows have been shortened. In 1867 Jackson sold
Nos. 421 and 423 to David B. Young, a ocooper who lived at No., 421. No. 425
was sold vto Edward Fosdick, a slate dealer.

Nos, 429-439 are a row of six Italianate brownstone dwellings erected c.

B. Jackson. All of the housés have been altered. The .
decorative details have been stripped on all but No. 437 which still retains
its paneled doorway enframement with slab lintel resting on foliate brackets,
similar lintels and hrackets over the parlor floor windows, slab lintels resting
on console hrackets on the second floor, cap-molded lintels on the third floor,
and projecting sills supported by corbel blocks on the second and third floors.,
'nmemsesaremssedingmmsoftwoandeachmehasabracketedvnoden
cornice. The only original iromnwork to survive encloses the areaway of No.
437, No. 429 has had its stoop removed, but along with No. 437 still retains
its original rusticated basement; Nos. 431 and 433 both have later stoop and
areaway railings; the parlor floor windows of Nos. 431 and 437 have been
shortened; No. 439 has a later box stoop. In 1867 Jackson sold No. 433 to
Otis Packard, No. 435 to James A. Whitlock and No. 437 to Graham and Isabella
Wickes.

No. 441, a simple brick Italianate residence, was erected c. 1860 and is

the earliest house on the block. The doorway enframement of the house
exhibits typical deta:l.luv; including paneled piers and a pediment but the
details are arranged to give an unusually studied and awkward effect, Flush
lintels and projecting sills articulate each window opening, and the house is
surmounted by a wooden bracketed cornice. The parlor floor windows have been
shortenad. The original occupant of the house was John H. Edwards, a New York
City cammercial merchant,
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The vacant lot at Nos. 443-449 is ocutside of the district,
|
FOOTNOTES

1. Francis W. Kervick, Patrick Charles Keely Amhitect A Record of his
Life and Work (South Bend, Indiana: pcr:ivatel_ printed, 1953).

2. long Island Histora.cal Society, ”Scrapbook " Vol. 88, p.55

3. Plan and Description of the Bmold Masonic Tewple to be
Erected- by the Brooklyn Masonic Guild, Brooklyn, New York (nd),pS.

4. “Brooklyn Masonic Temple," Real Estate Record and Builders Guide,
gNovember 28, 1908) 487,

5. Brooklyn Daily Eagle, 28 (June 22, 1968) 2.

6. Patrick Mulrenan, A Brief Historical Sketch of the Catholic Chuxch on
Long Island (New York: P. O'Shea, IB7/1}, p. 35.

7. New York Times, 17 {(June 22, 1868) 8.

3._ New York Tribune, (July 29, 1906).

9. The Bishop of Brooklyn now resides in the old Charles Millard Pratt .
Residence located on Clinton Averme between Willoughby and DeKalb Avenues.
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CQumberland Street was named for Cumberland Terrace, London, one of the
terrace groupings designed by architect John Nash to surround Regents

Park. This terrace "easily the most breath-taking architectural panorama

in lLondon,”" ~ was designed in 1827 and named for a btr:ot:her of King George IV.

CIMBERLAND S‘I‘REEI‘ west side between DeKalb and Lafayette Avenues.

No, 210~216 is the side elevation of the building described at No. 166
Avenue.

No. 218 is a five story tenement de31gned in 1895 by Brooklyn architect

A.L. 5p. Spicer and built for James Burke. The brick building with limestone
trim is a transitional late Romanesque Revival/neo-Renaissance style'structure
erected to house six families, The most praminent feature on the facade
of the building is the four story swell-bay topped by a balustrade. Roman-
esque Revival details include the round-arched windows with stained-glass
transomes, rock-faced hrickwork, rock-faced limestone lintels and dwarf
columns at the doorway enframement. Evidence of the neo-Renaissance style
that was just beginning to become popular in 1895 can be found on the
lirestone window enframement located above the doorway, and on the doorway
spandrel panels. The galvanized-iron cornice that is ornamented with swags
and rosettes, and the galvanized-iron cormice of the bay with its triglyph
and metope forms also are evidence of this style of architecture.

Nos. 220-224 are a group of narrow neo-Grec style browns.one residences
erected in 1875 by owner/builder Thamas A. Brush. Nos. 222 and 224 still
retain most of their neo-Grec details including a pedimented doorway en-
framement with paneled piers and stylized hrackets, raised beltcourses on
the basement level, single parlor floor windows with full enframements, and
slab lintels raised above incised friezes.- The upper level windows also
have full enframements, all with slab lintels ard molded sills resting on
corbel blocks. The second floor lintels are raised above unornamented
friezes. 2 wooden carnice with stylized brackets tops each house. No.

220 has had-its stoop removed and has been stripped of all of its decorative
forms with the exception of its cornice, All of the original irorwork has
been replaced. In 1876 No. 222 was sold to stove dealer Dwight S, Richardson.
Richardson was also a real estate speculator and 195~196 Washington Park were
built for him. The original resident of No. 224 was John N. Cady.

is a three story structure pmbablyerectedc. 1876 and first
occupied by A.C. Hannah, a . A modern hrick facade of no
architectural interest now projects cut from the original building, but
the house is still topped by a hracketed cornice.

Nos. 228-232 are a group of unusual transitional Greek Rewival/Italianate
houses erected ¢. 1853 for James Wear. None of these houses retains all of
its decorative forms. The houses rest on tall rusticated brownstone base-
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ments. The parlor floor windows, which have been shortened on all of the
houses of the row, have shallow pedimented lintels. The second floor
windows have similar lintels and projecting sills while the third floor
windows have projecting sills and unusual rectangular lintels with carved
ogee-arch forms. This very fine detail occassmlly is found on other
Greek Revival row houses in New York City including the superb row at 16-34
Bank Street (1844-45) in the Greermwich Village Historic District. A single
frame house at 122 India Street in Greenpoint also uses this motif. All

of the doorway lintels and the irorsork of Nos. 228 and 230 date from c.
1880. Only No. 228 retains its bracketed wooden cornice.

NoS. 234~240 are a row of Greek Revival houses erected in the 1850s. The
red brick houses are very simple in their ornamentation with pedimented
doorway lintels, cap lintels and prOJecting sills at the windows and a

brick and wooden denticulated cornice. Only No. 236 retains any of its cast-
iron railings. At No. 234 the doorway lintel has deteriorated badly. No.
238 has had its stoop removed and parlor floor windows s}nrtemsd, No. 240

has a late 19th-century dcorway lintel.

No. 242 is another of the many early Italianate houses on the street that
are ornamented with handsome Greek Revival doorway lintels. On this
bailding, erected c. 1852, the form still retains its original foliate de-
tails, The house is built of hrick raised on a tall stone basement with
its original rustication stuccoed over. The windows all have cap-molded
lintels and on the upper stories projecting sills and the house is crowned
by a bracketed wooden cornice. The eriginal iromwork has been replaced .
by masonry walls. In 1852 the house was purchased by Rev, Baynard R, Hall,
principal of the Park Institute which was located in this house.

Nos. 244 and 246 are a pair of early Italianate houses with simple Greek
Revival doorway lintels. The houses were erected c. 1855. In

1855 real estate broker Augustus Knoulton sold the two sites to builder
Thamas H. Robbins. Robbins did not retain the lots for long, selling No.
244 to builder Caleb S, Woodhull. The hrick houses are ornamented with
stone detailing that includes beltcourses between the basements and upper
stories, flush stone window lintels and projecting sills. A hracketed
wooden cornice tops each house. At No. 244 the bagsement windows now have
(fseen Anne style sunburst lintels. The window sash on the parlor floor at
No. 246 have been altered and both houses have had their iromwork replaced
by masonry walls, °

L4

No. 248 is probably an early Italianate house built ¢. 1855 by Brooklyn .
carpenter/builder John J. Duryea and altered c. 1880 by the addition of neo-
Grec details. The scale of the house is basically Italianate as are the

cast-iron areaway railing and basament window guards. The pedimented lintels
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with their neo-Grec incised details are a bit ocut of scale with the

house and lead to the conclusion that they are a later addition. The
grooved panels under the parlor floor windows and the wooden cornice with
its sitylized brackets are also neo~Grec forms,

Nos. 250 and 252 are a pair of vernacular frame houses erected c. 1852 by
carpenter/builder George puryea, probably for fish dealer Ira Ketcham. Both
houses have been resided and radically altered. No. 250 still retains its
crossetted Greek Revival upper story window enframements with slab lintels
and the dentiled transem bar and clear transom light of . its dcorway and its
Italianate wooden cornice with paired brackets., No. 252 retains its frame
doorvay enframement.

Nos. 254 and 256 are a pair of typical Italianate brownstone residences

dating from tha mid 1860s. No. 254 best retains its original form. At this
house a high stoop lined with cast-iron railings and octagonal newel-posts

{one missing) topped by balls leads to a doorway enframsment with paneled piers
and console brackets and keystone supporting a segmental-arched pediment., A
rusticated basement set behind cast-iron areaway railings is pierced by
segmental-arched windows with iron guards., The parlor floor windows -originally
entended to the floor and had projecting sills. These have been altered at

No. 254, bhut are extant at No. 256. At No. 254 these windows have eyebrow
lintels supported by foliate brackets. The second and third floor windows

are ormamented by eyebrow lintels resting on console brackets and molded

sills supported on corbel blocks. A bracketed wooden cornice with segmental-
arched fascia tops each house. At No. 256 the iromwork has been replaced by
masonry walls and the brackets that support the doorway pediment and parlor
floor window lintel have been stripped. A rretal terrace has been added to
this house,

No. 258 has been amitted from the street numbering .,

No. 260 is a five story apartment building designed in 1912 by the architectural
of Cohn Bros., a Brooklyn firm that was quite successful in the design of
apartment buildings in the borough. The brick and limestone structure known
as the "Cumberland” was built forthel(ahanOm‘nstmctJ.on{b., Inc. to house
twenty families. The building is Beaux Arts in style using the boldly
carved classically derived forms popular with the style, The rusticated
limestaone first floor has a central entrance flanked by plaques with carved
fruit forms and topped by krackets that support a large.slab lintel with a
parapet ornamented by a cartouche and lion's heads. Flanking the doorway
enframement are limestone brackets that support second story brick plinths
on which rest projecting brick piers. These piers flank three-sided, three-
story galvanized-iron bhays, above which are pairs of round-arched windows set
into blind hrick arches ornamented with polychromatic tiles and pairs of
rectangular windows topped by limestone plaques each ornamented with a shield
ard swags. The central windows of the second, third and fourth floors have
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splayed stone lintels with projecting keystones. On the fifth floor the
windows have blind segmental brick arches and on the sixth floor blind brick
round arches. The large galvanized-iron cornice has been removed. The poet
Mariagne e lived on the fifth floor of this huilding from 1931 until the
mid-1%50s. -

No. 262 has Lqen omitted from the street numbering.,

No. 264 is a modest hrick Italianate house probably erected c. 1860. The
Bullding is ornamented with a stone beltoourse set between the basement and
upper stories, a slab doorway lintel resting on console brackets, rectang-
ular stone window lintels, projecting stone sills, and a br tﬁgim
cornice with paneled fascia. The paneled double doors are original, but
the chain 11.nkfeme J.sarecentaddmon

No. 266. The exact history of the church building now housing the Capilla
Catolica San Juan is ambiguous. Stylistically, the small neo-Gothic chapel
seems to date from the late 19th century which would agree with the fact that
the earliest record of the sites being owned by a chmrch is 1895 when the
land. was purchased by the Evangelical Lutheran Church of the Holy Trinity of
Brooklyn. This, however, does not seem to agree with a report published

in the Brooklyn Dail le on April 26, 1897 at the time of the consecration
ofﬂxeman%._ﬁ%.%élemtesﬂutthem»mswdmsedbyum
Lutheran Charch ¢of the Holy Trinity, remodelled and beautified. 2 Holy
Trinity Lutheran used the building until 1915 when it was sold to the
Deutsche Evangelisch Lutherische St, Lucas Kirche. In 1919 the Roman
Catholic Diocese of Brooklyn purchased the chapel. The peak-roofed build-
ing has a central projecting entrance porch with a hrick pointed-arched
entrywvay and a corbelled brick cornice. This entry vestibule is flanked by,
narrow pointed-arched windows and brick end buttresses surmounted by
octagonal wooden pinnacles. 2Above the entrance are a row of five small

pointed windows and a rondel window. All of the pointed windows have stone
lintels and sills,

Nos. 268 and 270. This vacant lot was, the site of two frame Italianate
houses that had been radically altered before they were recently demolished.

Nos. 272-274 is a peak roofed frame building (No. 274) with a brick extension
(Mo, 272). It is a vernacular structure with Greek Revival and Italianate
details. Although stuccoed over the building retains its denticulated
cornice and full window enframements. The profile of the Greek Revival
pilastered doorway enframement of the main house is also visible, A

lovely porch with a fluted Ionic colum supporting a full entablature with a
dentiled cornice leads into the extension. A very fine Italianate cast-iron
areaway railing extends in front of the house.
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No. 276 is a one-story brick garage.

No. 278-282 is the side facade of the building described at 129 Lafayette
Averne.

CUMBERIAND STREET, east side between DeKalb arnd Lafayette Avenues,

Nos. 213-221 are a row of five French Second Empire houses erected c. 1867

by bullder William A. Brush. All of the houses have suffered some alter-
ations. Although it is spalling badly, No. 221 best retains its period
details. The detailing is similar to that found on many of the Italianate
and Second Bupire houses in the district. The doorway enframement is oom-
posed of paneled piers (altered) and spandrels, foliate' hrackets and keystone
aryl segmental-arched pediment. The three story and mansard house rests on

a rusticated basement cut by round-arched windows each with a keystone and
iron quards. The full-length parlor floor windows have segmental lintels
resting on foliate brackets and. bracketed table sills. The upper story windows
have slab lintels supported by console brackets and molded sills resting on
corbel blocks (removed on the second floor). A bracketed wooden cornice

is located above the third floor. A steep slate mansard pierced by a pair
of dormers with eyehbrow lintels surmounts the house. The building retains
all of its cast-iron balustrade and square gateposts topped by balls, but is
missing most of its octagonal newel-posts also topped by balls. These are
extant at No. 215. Nos. 213 and 217 have had their parlor floor windows short-
enad and table sills removed. All of the foliate hrackets have been stripped
at Nos., 213, 215 and 217. No. 219 has had its doorway enframement removed.
All of the other doorway piers of the row have been stuccoed. No. 213 has
had its basement window keystones removed ard areaway iromwork replaced, but
it retains its lovely iron cresting. The hrick facade of this house facing
on DeKalb Avenue has had its fenestration altered. All of the iromwork at
"Nos. 217 and 219 and the areaway railing at No. 215 are new. In 1868 Brush
s0ld No. 215 to Don A. Dodge, No. 217 to E. Hoogland, No. 219 to William
Collins, and No. 221 to Thamas G. Carson, a stevedore.

Nos. 223-227 are a group of three, simple Ttalianate houses erected ¢. 1865
tor George Walsh, a dealer in surgical instruments who lived on Adelphi
Street. The brick buildings have tall stone basements (all stuccoed).
Ornament includes slab doorway lintels resting on oconsole brackets, flush
stone window lintels and projecting sills and simple hracketed wooden cornices.
The cast~iron areaway railings of No., 225 are original, but all of the rest of
the ironwork has been replaced. All of the parlor floor windows have been
shortened, In 1865 and 1866 Nos. 223 ard 225 were purchased by expressmen
Oliver J. Munsell and George W. Corwin, respectively. Both men worked at S
James Street in New York City. In 1866 No. 227 was sold to Peter Skinner,

a stationer. :
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No. 229 is a small frame backhouse probably erected in the mid-19th
century. The building is now sided with cedar shingles and retains its original
:wooden window enframements,

Nos. 231~235 are a group of frame transitional Greek Revival/Italianate
houses raised on brick basements. The three buildings were erected c. 1852;
Nos. 233 and 235 by builder John Ross. Only No. 235 retains evidence of

its original decorative form. The house is clad in modern wooden shingles,
but retains its full window enframements with Italianate slab lintels and
its Greek Revival doorway enframement composed of pilasters flanking a
recessed entryway with smaller pllast:ers, sidelights and transam. A hood
that was once supported by columns and is still crowned by an Italianate
bn:acketed cornice projects fram above the doorway. A bracketed wooden
cornice’ surmounts the house. No. 23} retains its original entry enframement,
but has had its facade stuccoed. No. 233 retains its cornice but is now clad
with asphalt siding and hisg had its stoop removed.

No. 237. This vacant lot was, unt11 recently, the site of a trans:.t::.onal

Greek Revival/Italianate house with a particularly fine porch with fluted
stylized Corinthian colums. _ _

No. 239 is a vacant iot.

No. 241 is a simple vernacular house with restrained late-Romanesque Revival
ing., The house was designed in 1890 by Brooklyn architects J.C. &

W.C. Dodge for Julia M. Thurber of Washington Avenue. The brick building

is three bays wide with the entrance bay slightly recessed. A frame porch

with stylized colonnettes and a spindle screen is set in front of the doorway

and small leaded-glass window. A two~story, three-sided bay rises to the

left of the porch. The bay rests on a rock-faced brownstone basement and is

ornamented with smooth~faced stone bands that serve as window lintels and

a rock-faced stone band. On the second floor are terra-cotta foliate forms

that serve as capitals for the brick pilasters that separate the windows.

This terra cotta design becomes a beltcourse across the flat part of the facade.

The building is topped by a galvanized-iron cornice. All of the windows on the

flat parts of the facade have flush stone lintels and projecting sills and

the building is swmounted by a galvanized-iron modillioned cormice with a

fascia ornamented by rosettes.

No. 243, The frame building at No. 243 has been totally resided ard is
now abandoned. The only remaining-original decorative form is a portion of
the cast-iron areaway railing The building probably dates from the early
1850s.

Nos. 245 and 245!-5 are a pair of extremely narrow (12'6") neo-Grec houses
Jesigned in 1879 by J.S. McRea for D.K. Baker. The houses use typical neo-
Grec decorative forms including rusticated basements, full window and doorway
enframements with stylized hrackets and incised ornament and wooden cornices
with stylized brackets. Most of the cast-iron railings are still in place.
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No. 247 is a three-story frame building probably erected in the 1850s. The
s had:its stoop removed and has been resided with synthetic brick,
The neo-CieC cornice was probably added in the late 1870s.

Nos. 249-251 have been cmitted from the street numbering.

No. 253 is a six story brick apartment building with terra-cotta Gothic
detailing erected in 1928. The central entrance bay of the building is
deeply recessed and ornamented with a segmental-arched entrance. The main
portions of the building flank the entrance and are asymmetrically massed.
Ornamentation on the apartment house includes rope-colonettes, drip meldings,
blind brick arches, decorative plaques, crenellations, diaper ornament and
decorative chimneys.

No. 255 has been amitted fram the street numbering.

No. 257 is an Italianate brick house raised on a tall rock-faced stone

t. The wide house has a doorway with a slab lintel ornamented
with modillions and supported on foliate brackets. The windows have flush
stone lintels and on the upper floors projecting sills resting on corbel
blocks. A hracketed wonoden cornice crowns the house.

Nos. 259 and 261 are a pair of very narrow (12‘6") transitional Ital:.anate/
neo-Grec houses erected by owner/builder/axchitect Thomas Brush in 1876.
The doorway enframements have paneled piers and spandrels, and stylized
hrackets supporting pediments. All of the windows have full enframements
with the slab lintels on the first and second floors being raised above -
unornamented friezes. The molded sills of the parlor floor windows are
setaboverecessedpmelsmletlnseoft}mupperstoryamsupportedm

corbel blocks. A wooden cornice with angular neo-Grec brackets tops the house.

No. 261 has beautiful Italianate cast-iron balustraded stoop railings,
octagonal newel-posts and ornate areaway railings. The ironwork of No. 259
is of a recent date, The double doors at No. 261 are particularly fine
examples of 19th-century paneled doors.

No. 263 is a four-family tenement designed in 1899 by Brooklyn architect

J. Morrill (see 2-4 South Oxford Street) for Charles Visel of 304
Cumberland Street. The four story huilding has a Longmeadow hromnstone
first floor and brick with stone trim above. The doorway of the building
is framed by Ionic colums that support a fall entablature. A full height
rounded-hay rises to the right of the doorway. All of the upper story win-
dows have full stone enframements, those of the seocond and third floors
having -slab lintels raised above unornmamented friezes. The buailding is
surmounted by a galvanized-iron comice ornamented with swags. The lovely
wrought-iron railings and cast-iron fence posts are original.



FG-HD - , -71-
Cumberland Street :

No. 265 is a frame building probably erected in the early 1850s. The

Bailding has been extensiwvely altered, but its upper story windows still retain
their full enframements with denticulated slab lintels resting on tiny console
brackets. The bracketed doorway hood is also extant, but now rests on

modern piers. The neo-Grec cornice was probably added in the late 1870s. The
original clapbrard siding remains on the south facade

No. 2¢7 is a two-story hrick house raised on a tall stone basement and
crowmed by a steep slate mansard roof. The building was probably erected c. -
1863 by bm.lder William B. Nichols. The house has an eyebrow doorway

lintel resting on console brackets (stripped of their foliate ornarrentatmn)
Al)l of the windows have flush stone lintels and the second story windows

have projecting sills resting on corbel blocks. The original cornice has
been reroved but the mansard still retains its dormer windows with eyebrow
cornices. The stoop railings and the stained-glass transam lights of the
parlor floor w:.ndms are later l19th-century additions and the cinder block
areaway wall is of recent vintage. 4
No. 269 is a three-story brick house raised on a rusticated rownstone base-
ment. The simple transitional Greek Revival/ITtalianate building was built

in the early 1850s. Ornament is limited to flush stone lintels and pro-
jecting sills and a dentilled brick and wooden cornice with modest end brackets.
The stoop walls, areaway parapet and ironwork are 1ater additions auud the
parlor floor windows have been shortened. .

No. 271-275 is the side elevation of the building described at 133 Lafayette
Avenue.

CUMBERLAND STREET, west side between Lafayette and Greene Avenues.

No. 284-292 is the side facade of the rwuse described at 118 Lafayette
Averme.

No, 294 isavacantlotmausedasapark.

Nos. 286-300 are a group of three early Italianate residences erected c.

1859, The houses are built of brick and are raised on rusticated brownstone
basements. The ormament on the buildings is simple and includes iron guards
on the .segmental-arched basement windows (at Nos. 296 and 300), bold cast-iron
areaway railings (at No. 296), carved lotus leaf moldings around the doorways,
shallow stone window sills, flush stone window lintels and wooden'bracketed
cornices with paneled fascias. The most interesting feature on these

houses are the curvaceous Greek Revival style doorway lintels~-that at No.
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296 still being crowned by a central anthemia leaf. These lintels rest on
Italianate foliate brackets. The stoop walls at No. 296 and the box stoop
and window sashes at No. 298 are later additions. No. 298 has had its

cornice removed and No. 300 has had its stooPrermeda:ﬁabasa'rententrame
added, .

No. 298 was erected by builder Nicholas Rlndes and Nos. 296 and 300
were probably built by Rhodes for owner David Winans. Nos. 298 and 300
were purchased in 1861 by Brooklyn real estate agent Daniel McCabe. In 1867
McCabe sold No. 298 to New York City drygoods merchant Herman Chapin and
No. 300 to David Rait,

Nos. 302-310 conpose a row of five brick early Italianate houses erected c.
1859 by builder Thomas Skelly. The row is very similar in its detailing to
the residences.at 296-300 Cumberland Street and are most notable for their
rope molded doorway enframements and Greek Revival doorway lintels ormamented
with small, centrally placed cartouches. Original.stoop iromwork is extant
at Nos. 306, 308 and 310. The stoop walls and areaway parapets of Nos. 302
and 304 are later additions as is the iromwork on the stoop of No. 310 and
the window sash of 306. The stoop has been removed at No. 308, Skelly
so0ld the entire row to Brooklyn real estate agent Daniel McCabe in 1859.
McCabe held on to the houses until the late 1860s, selling No. 306 to

New York City real estate broker Augustus Cruikshank in 1868, No. 308 to
Josephine Cleland in 1867 and No. 310 to Mitchel and Anna Packard in 1867.

Nos. 312-320 are five simple, but finely detailed Italianate residences erecbed
c. 1859 by builder Thomas Skelly. No. 320 retains most of its ,

original detailing. This house is a three-story hrick structure with a
rusticated brownstone basement, floor length parlor windows with brownstone
table sills, brownstone eyebrow lintels on all of the segmental-arched
windows and a carved wooden door enframement topped by a heavy brownstone
eyebrow lintel supported on foliate brackets (stripped here, but original
at Nos. 314 and 318). A hracketed wooden cornice with arched fascia crowns
the house. No, 320 has lost its original irormork but this can be seen in
its entirety at No. 312. All of the houses with the exception of No. 320
have had their window lintels shaved.

In 1861 No. 312 was sold to Aaron H. Neff, 4 South Street ship- -
chandler, No. 314 to Ralph Noble, a pilot, No. 316 to John M. Wardwell,
a merchant, No. 318 to Charles C. Bartling, a liquor merchant and No.
320 to Thamas W. Leonard, an olil merchant, all of New York City.

Nos. 322-330 is the side facade and garage of the house described at
19 Greene Avenue.
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CUMBERLAND STREET, east side between Lafayette and Greene Avenues.

Mo, 277 is a modest Italianate structure built in the mid-1850s. The house is
a three-story brick structure with a camércial ground floor. The only
ornamental forms on the lm:.lding are the simple bcr:ownstone sills and lmtels
and the bracketed wooden cornice.

Nos. 279-283 are three early Italianate row houses built for lewis N.
Baldwin c. 1853-55. Nos. 279 and 281 were an identical pair while No.

283 is a taller ut similarly detailed structure. The three houses are
built of brick with stone beltcourses separating the basements and

upper floors (basement of No. 28l has been stuccoed over). No. 281 retains
all of its original cap-molded lintels and projecting rectangular sills.
All three houses have identical hracketed cornices. The stoop has been
removed at No. 279 and the present stoops of Nos. 281 and 283 are later, as
are the areaway walls and iromwork. In 1854 No. 281 was sold to Timothy
M. Talmage, a local builder.’ :

No. 285 is a simple hrick early Italianate residence with a finely de-
tailed bracketed wooden cornice and lovely Italianate iromwork. The stone
lintels have been stripped, but the deor lintel has the profile of the
Greek Revival lintels found over the doors of the houses on the west side
of Cumberland Street. The house was built c. 1853 for Iewis N. Baldwin.

No. 287, like Nos. 279-285, was built c. 1853 by Lewis N. Baldwin. The
Ttalianate frame structure has lost most of its criginal details, but
surprisingly it retains its wooden stoop, stoop railings, cast-iron area-
way railing and parts of its door enframement and porch. The house was
criginally owned by Jacob Reynolds, a local carpenter.

No. 289 is an Ifalianate frame structure dating from c. 1855. The clap~
Bcard building has simple doorway and window enframements, a modest bracketed
ocornice and paneled double doors. The most notable feature of the house

is the finely carved Queen Anne style porch added late in the 19th century.
Typical of the carved forms popular late in the century are the finely
modeled baluster porch posts, railings, and triangular entrance pavilion with
open work carving, turned spindles, and pendant.

No. 291 was built in the mid 1850s and was a typical Italianate frame
structure. In 1892 the property was purchased by James White who commissioned
the architectural firm of Parfitt Bros. to design a new facade for the
structure. Parfitt Bros. were responsible for a wide variety of huildings

in Brooklyn built during the last decades of the 19th century. The firm was
oamposed of three brothers who emigrated to Brooklyn fram England. The most
important of the three was Albert Parfitt {(1863~1926). 'The firm designed
neo~Grec, Queen Anne and Raomanesque Revival style row houses and apartment
buildings throughout Brooklyn as well as the Grace United Methodist. Church
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(1882) in the Park Slope Historic District, St. Augustine's R.C. Church
(1892) in Park Slope, a number of Brocklyn firehouses and the Knickerbocker
Field Club (1892~3) a designated New York City Landmark.

The new pale yellow pressed brick facade is an elegant essay in a
transitional Romanesque Revival/neo-Renaissance style. The narrow entrance-
way is reached by a box stoop with a balustrade of carved dwarf colums. The
form and detailing of the stoop are stylistic holdovers from the Romanesque
Revival style that Parfitt Bros. had designed in during the 1880s and early
1890s. The double doors and transom light are topped by a limestone plaque
ornamented with Romanesque foliate.forms and nec-Renaigsance putti heads,
garland, and lion's head. The lion's head panel supports the sill of a
small second floor window with a splayed lintel of narrow vertical voussoirs
and a carved keystone. ' To the right of the doorway is a two story, three-
gsided stone bay. The windows of the first floor have stained-glass
transams and all of the windows of the upper two levels are flanked by paneled
~ Corinthian pilasters. Spandrel panels, each surrounded by an egg-and-dart

molding and ornamented with a rondel that incorporates a cartouche, separate
the first and second floors. The central panel is further enhanced by fleur-
de-lis'. The bay is crowned by a roof of Spanish tiles. The third level is
plerced by a long, four-window wide bay. Each window is flanked by twisted
Oorinthian columns that rest on a continuous sill ‘and support a gingle lime-
stone lintel. A beautiful, bracketed galvanized-iron cornice with wreaths
between the brackets and lion's heads along the top molding, crowns this
handsame building.

Nos. 293 and 295 and 297 and 299, are two pairs of unusual, vernacular, late
Greek Revival frame houses, built c. 1853 for Samwel I. Underhill. Although
the houses have been altered, all but No. 299 retain much of their original
appearance. Nog. 293-295 were originally two-and-one-half stories above
tall brick basements. The most striking feature of the houses is their shared,
one~-story high porch with balustrades, stylized Corinthian colums that sup-
port & dentilled cornice with modest jigsaw-cut brackets, Originallyv hich
stoops led to the porches that shade the entrances with typical Greek Revival
crossetted engramements, double doors, transom lights and dentilled cornices.
The narrow four-over-six floor length windows of the first floor have en-
framements similar to the entrance. On the second floor, the two-over~-two
windows also have crossetted enframements and projecting lintels. Small,
two—over-two windows with simple enframements mark the third floor.

" Immediately above these w:.rﬂows is a wooden bracketed cornice.

Nos. 295 and 297 were 'orz.glnally quite similar to Nos. 293 and 295,
although only two stories in height. The mansard roofs were added about
twenty years after the houses were completed., All four houses have been
resided and No. 295 has had its attic story raised, its comice raised
and its upper story window enframements replaced. No. 299 has had its
porch and door and window enframements removed.
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Nos, 301-303. The apartnent house located at Nos. 301-303, known as the

imne,” was built in a Moorish Revival style in the 1920s. The six
story bulldmd is constructed of brick with terra-cotta ornament on the
first and sixth floors. The entrance and end windows of the first floor are
round-arched and are ornamented with terra-cotta decoration. A similar devise
is found on the central window of the sixth floor and its two flanking
windows. Above these three windows is a lion's head cornice flanked by a
false mansard roof that is clad with Spanish tiles. The mansarxds rest on
terra-cotta panels decorated with round arches. .

No. 305 is a lovely Italianate frame residence set back fram the street
behind a garden. The house was erected ¢. 1851 and sold to John Trappal,

a butcher. The luilding retains its original clapboard siding and such
ormamental features as a molded doorway enframement, beautiful beveled °
glass double doors, floor length parlor windows with full enframements,
upper story windows with full enframements and, on the second floor, pro-
jecting lintels. A wooden stoop leads to a columnar porch with a balustrade
and spindle screen. A neo-Grec wooden cornice surmounts the house.

Nos. 307-311 are a row of three narrow neo-Grec row houses designed in 1876
by Yocal Brooklyn architect William A. Mundell (see Simpson M.E. Church, -
201-211 Clermont Avenue) for Mary A. Sherman. Unfortunately all of these -
houses have lost much of their original detailing. No. 309 still retains

its basement window enframement which is ornamented with incised carving

and Nos. 307 and 309 both retain their original upper story window en-
framements with raised lintels. Wooden ocornices with stylized brackets crown
each house. .

The Brooklyn Eye and Ear Hospital (1918) at 313-321 Oumberland Street is
outside of the historic district.

FOOINOTES

1. John Smmerson, Georg:.an London, (New York: Per:.gr:.m Books, 1978),
p.184,

2. Brooklyn Daily Eagle, (April 26, 1897) 7.
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DeKalevemxe’wasnarmd for General Baron-de Kalb, a German general who
fought for the Mserica.ns during the Revolutiomry War

DEKALB AVENUE, south side between Stmth Ell:l.ott Place and South Portland
Avemie,

No. 136~142 is the side elevation of the building described at 1 South
Elliott Place.

No. 144ispartofavacantlotdescribedatzsouthmlarﬂmerm.

DEKALB AVENUE, south side between South Portland Avenue and South Oxford
Street. :

mestmetm;nberirgismntinmuswithevmandoddmxmersonﬂemside.

No. 145-148 is the side elevation of the mansion described at 1 South Port- °
land Avenue. )

Nos., 149 and 150 are a pair of trmee-story brick houses raised on msticated
brownstone basements and set back behind larga front vards. The Itallanate |
style hoases date from the 1860s. !

No. 150 retains much of its original character. The doorway opening of
this house retains its eyebrow lintel resting on simple foliate brackets.
The full-length parlor windows rest on table sills supported by brackets and
are toppad by molded eyebrow lintels. The upper story windows have similar
eyebrow lintels as well as projecting rectangular sills that rest on corbels.
A bracketed wooden cornice with arched fascia completes the facade. The
stoop of this house retains its original irvomwork. At No. 149 the stoop has
been removed, a basement entrance added and the stone basement has been

stuccaed, meparapetwallatNo. 149,mﬂtmstomfencesatbothl-nuses
are more recent additions.

Nos. 151 and 152 are a pair of brownstone Italianate residences erected c. 1865.

Of the two, Noi 152 retains more of its original detail. This three-story
house rests on a rusticated basement that is piercad by segmental-arched
windows with iron quards.  The house is set back behird a large front yard
ﬂntiaenclosedbyanironfermwithsqmgaﬁepmtstog:edbyacoma,

a surbol of hospitality. e high stoop with its cast-iron balustrades is
missing its original newel-posts. The double doors and round-arched transom
are set into a paneled enframement swrmounted by an eyebswwr lintel that rests on
typical Italianate foliate brackets. The floor-length parlor windows have
table sills supported on brackets and eyebrow lintels carried on simple

- brackets. The upper windows are articulated by mplded sills and shallow
molded eyebrow lintels. A hracketed wooden cornice with arched fascia

surmeamnts the house., No, 151 has been stuccoed over, 1ts door enframement
gtripped, and its ivomwork replaced.
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Nos. 153~155. See 2-4 South Oxford Street.
No. 156 has been omitted from the street mambering. .

E

DEKALB AVENUE, south side between South Oxford and Cumberland Streets.
The street mmberim isj-omtimnus with even and odd mmbers on the same side,

No. 157-161 is the side elevation of the house described at 1 South
Cxeford Street.

Nos. 162, 163 arid 164. These three Italianate houses are the survivors of a

Mt}aatmmwt}mmmer of Cumberland Street. The
residences were erected ¢. 1868 by Brooklyn builder William Brush.

- With the exception of the missing cast-iron stoop and areaway railings, No.
163 bhest retains its ' original character and is mpst notable for the bold
foliate brackets that support the segmental-arched pediment of the door
enframement and the segmental-arched parlor floor window lintels. Other
Italianate features are the rusticated basement with its segmental-arched
windows with iron guards, bracketed table sills, projecting window lintels |
and s8ills, and bracketed wooden cornices. The! original areaway railings are
extant at No. 162. ;
No. 165 is a four-story ocommercial and residential at:mcture built in the
early years of the 20th century. The building ismnstnmtedoftapestry
brick and is topped by angled crenellation.

No. 166 is a two-story brick residential stxructire built in 1940 and '
designed by Ahraham Fisher:to house two families and a dentist's office. -
© The gmall structure isbuiltofyellowhridcornmmtedwlthslxbmﬂsof

mcessed red bricks. o .

f

. l" ,
' DEKALB AVENUE, north a:v.de betvieenm.ahingbonparkmﬂc:arltm Avenue.

' No. 167-175 is the mde elmtion and garage of the house described at 209
Washington Park. »
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Nos. 177-183 are a row of four Italianate residences probably erected c. 1867
by William or Thomas Brush. MNo. 179 best retains its detailinq The facade

of the house has a typical Italianate docrway enframement comprised of paneled
plers, foliate brackets and keystone, and a segmental-arched pediment. Other
ornaments’ include a rusticated basement, parlor floor tsble sills and seg-
mental-arched window lintels, slab window lintels ard projecting molded sills
on the upper story windows and a bracketed wooden cornice. The stoop iromwork
and octagonal newel-posts topped by balls are original, but the areaway
parapets are of a later period. No. 177 has recently had its doorway en- ‘
framement removed. Nos. 181 and 183 have had their cornices removed, ormamental

enframements shaved off, and ironwork replaced by brick stoop and areamay
walls.

Nos. 185-187 is h large Italianate : residentia)/ocomrercial building prchably
erected c¢. 1860. On DeKalb Averme the commercial ground floor has old store-
frents supportell by slender colomnettes located just inside the plate glass
windows. A simple cornice separates the stores from therresidential stories
above. Ornament on the hrick upper floors of both facades is limited to flush
stone lintels, projecting rectangular sills, and a bracketed wooden cornice.

TERAIB AVENUE, south side bemeen Cumberland Street and Carlton Avene .,

No. 168~176 is the side elevation of the mildinq deacrﬂved at ¥No, 213
Cuberland Street,

No, 178-180 is a four-story O_uem Anne style bullding constructed of brick
with a commercial ground floor. Ornament is limited to two amall foliate
terra~cotta placues, fourth floor window enframements composed of molded !
hricks, and a terra-cotta frieze surmounted by a brick parapet with recessed
gouare panels and crnate triangular terra-cotta pediments. A classically
inspired doorway enframement with paneled double doors provides entrance to |
the residential space.

No. 182 is a three-story, four-hay Italianate brick structure with a cammercial
gromd floor. The huilding was probably erected ¢. 1866 for Isaac C. Delaplaine,
The commercial space has been modernized, but the upper stories retain their
molded stone lintels, projecting sills, and bracketed wooden cornice.

No. 184 is a three-story brick Italianate building with a modern commercial
ground floor. The building is very simple, with ornament limited to flush
stone lintels, projecting sillaa!ﬂanrﬂestbracketedcornice. The building
was probably erected c. 1853 for Isaac C. Delaplaine.

No. 186 is a four-story cormer building with three apartments plus a
camercial space on the ground floor of the DeKalb Avemue facade. The build-
ing was designed in 1899 by Charles Werner and built for Mrs. H. Newman. The
front facade is ornamented with brick window enframements, limestone window
sills and terra-cotta beltoourses ornamented with egg and dart moldings. The
Carlton Aveme facade has clagsical details including a shallow, two-story
pressed-metal curved bay ornamented with garlands .and rosettes, and a brick,
round-arched doorway enframement with pilasters supporting a molded hrick arch
In addition the ground floor is ornamented with bands of nrﬂ-nnically-placed '
recessed bricks. A galvanized-iron cornice tops the uilding.
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DERALB AVENUE, north side between Carltcn Averue and Adelphi Street.

No. 189-193 is the side elevation of the building described at 269
TarTEon Kenue.

195isame-stou:ybrickta:q:ayerhxiltmt&mrofthelotﬁo.
235 Carlton Avemie. The building ds of little architectural interest.

No, 197 is a tall ,: three-stoxy Italianate with rusticated basement
designed in 1873 by Marshall J. Morrill and huilt, along with 265-269 Carlton
Averme, for C.P. Piper. The doarway enframament of the house has been
removed, but the building retains its slab window lintels, projecting sills
andbmcketedmodencornice A store front now projects from the basement
of the building and the irorwork is a modern addition.

Nos. 199-203 are a row of hrownstone Italianate houses erected c. 1864 for
Baward T. Backhouse, a local landowner who retained title to Nos. 199 and
201 untll his death early in the 20th centwry. Of the three houses No.
199 retains its original Italianate form with full doorway enframement

by an eyelrow lintel, projecting eyehrow lintels resting on hrackets
over the parlor floor windows, molded sills and eyebrow lintels at all of the
cther windows, and a hracketed wooden cornice with a segmental-arched fascia.
The rusticated basement, visible at No. 203, has been stuccced at No. 199
and the stoop walls and areaway parapets are later additions. A 20th century
brick storefront projects from the facade of ¥oy 201 at basement and first
floor level. No. 20 has lost its doorway enffanment piers and has stoop
railings 6f arlater period. . :
Nos. 205 and 207 are two radically altm*ed Italianat.e }mses dating from the
1508, No. 205 has had all of its moldings stripped, but retains its hracketed
wooden cornice, lrmbaaanmtsﬁmguardsamm In the 1890s this house
was the hare of pr. ‘Susan McKinney, the first black woman qraduate of a :
medical college. No. 207 has had its second and third floor window lintels
shaved and has bean faced in synthetic hrick. Anuﬂernfirstflooramibase-
mtstorefrmrtprojectsfranthe facadeoftl-nebuilding

No. 209 has been cmitted from the street mumbering.

' * DERALB AVENUE, wmh'amebeuéenmrlbmnmueammlm Street.
' No. 188-206 is the pl&ygmmd attached to J.H.S. 294 described at No.

mmsueet

DEKALB AVENUE, north side between Adelphi Street and Clemmont Avenue.

No. 211 DeKalb Avenue at the cormer of Adelphi Street is a four-story hrick
building with a camercial ground floer. The structure is a simple Italianate
building with flush lintels, projecting sills, and a very fine cornice with
paired hrackets. The storefront is supported on colonnettes that are located
behind plate glass windows. The Adelphi Street facade has a two-story, three-

. sided oriel that rests on a table supported by four large hrackets with jigsaw-
- carved sides and incised grooves. The wooden oriel is larger oh the second

floor than on the third and is surmounted by a modest bracketed cornice.
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Nos, 213-221 are five simple, early Italianate row houses erected in the

late 1850s by Brooklyn builder James Lock. Built of brick the houses are

raised on rusticated brownstone basements. No. 215 best retains its detailing.
At this house the basement is pierced by crisp rectanqular windows with iron
quards. The stoop leads to double doors surmounted by a transom light and
flarked by rope moldings. Foliate brackets support a Greek Revival style

lintel which was originally ormamented by a centrally-placed anthemia. The win-
dows are ornamented with flush store lintels and projecting sills,-and the build-
ing 15 crowned by a bracketed cornice. Nos, 213, 219 and 221 have projecting
storefronts plaged at basement level. At No. 213 the doorway lintel has been
stuccoed over., At ¥o. 217 this lintel has been removed. No. 219 has lost its
cornice. The stoop walls, areaway parapets and irvonwork of Nos. 213, 215 and
217 are later additions. In 1866 Lock sold No. 217 to Mhrian E. Bridt;man.

New York City fancy goods merchant.

Nog. 223-227 are three brownstone structures with oconmmercial ground floors
and residential floors above. The buildings were erected c. 1869 by, Abram
Purdy, a Bropklyn builder. The ground floor spaces have all been modermized,
but the upper floors retain their simple molded lmhels and rectanqular sills
and their wooden modillioned cornices.

No. 229 is an Ytaliapate structure built c. 1857 hy builder Effingham Nichols.

~story brick building has a commercial gqround floor with two res-
idential stories above. All of the windows on both the DeKalb and Clenmont
Avemue facades have pressed-metal lintels. A pressed-metal cornice with
paired brackets surmounts the house. A one-story extengion projects from the,
rear of the building along the Clermont Avemie faczde.

DEY2TB AVENUE, scuth side between Adelphi Strest and Clermont Avenue.

No. 208-214 is the side facade of the house described at No. 271 Adelphi

No. 216 is a one-story commercial taxpayer of liftle architectural interest.

Nog. 218 and 220 are a pair of Italianate hrownstone residences erected c.

1868 by builder William Brush. No. 220 retains much of its original detailing
including an umisual basement with segmental-arched windows topped by s~
burst motifs that flank an ornamental foliate rondel. Other detailing is
typical of the Italianate style and includes a full doorway enframement with

a segmental-arched pediment, slab window lintels on the parlor floor, molded
lintels on the second floor, projecting stome sills, and a bracketed wooden
cornice. The stoop walls and iromwork are later, No. 218 has had a projecting
storefront added to its basement facade, its stoop removed, and first floor
enframements altered.
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No, 222 is a small two-story mm‘cial/msidmtial structure probably built
In the 1860s. The ground floor has been altered but a pressed-metal cornice
still separates itfrcmtheupperstory 'ﬂasecmdfloorretains its window
enframements and simple hracketed cornice; -

Nos, 224-228 are three one-sbory brick taxpayers probably erected in the 1920s.

s laid in Flemish bond and the buildings are unornamented with the
exception of a amall scquare placque beneath a shallow pediment at No. 224.

DEKALB AVENUE, north side between Clermont and Vanderbilt Avemues.

Nos. 231-249, This unified blockfront of Ttalianate hrownstone buildings
wag erected c. 1867 by Brooklyn builder William Bedell. These ten buildings

have camercial ground floors with two stories of residential space above.

The segmental-arched two-over-two windows of the upper floors are unornamented
with the exception of shallow rectangular projecting sills.that rest on corbel
blocks on the third floor. The row is stomounted by wooden hracketed corndces.
The storefronts are constructed of cast-iron piers that support iron cornices.
These piers have been covered at most of the stores but are still visible, in
part, along the street. The sides of the cormer houses are huilt of hrick ard
are devoid of ormament with the exception of stone lintels. This is the only
unified blockfront of cammercial buildings in the Fort Greene Historic District,

and it represents an exceptionally fine street fromt.

DEIALB AVENUE, south side between clernﬁnmt and Vanderbilt Avenues.

No. 230-238 is a three-story brick building with a commercial ground floor
and two stories of residential space above. The building was designed in
1876 by the prominent Brooklyn architectural firm of Parfitt Bros. (see 291
Cmberland Averme) and built for J.W. Dearing. The DeKalb Avenue frontage is
fourteen bays wide and is articulated by stone quoins. Most of the commercial
space has been modernized, but at Nos. 236~238 an orig:mal wooden storefront
wiﬂ\aneomeccomice,hmpim:smﬁtmmtrmwayawimpmeleddouble
doors remains. The upper floor windows all retain their neo-Grec lintels and
sills. A wooden cornice with stylized brackets surmounts the house and is
crowned by a centrally-placed segmental-arched pediment. Thke windows of the
Clermont Avenue facade also retain their lintels and sills and an entranceway
on this facade retains its slab doorway lintel.

Nos. 240-248 are a row of five Ttallianate hrownatone residences, most of
which now have comercial first floors and basements. The houses were erected
c. 1868 by builder Michael Murray. No. 240 best vetains its original appearance.
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This house has a doorway enframement with segmental-arched pediment resting on
foliate hrackets, full length parlor floor windows with slab lintels and
foliate hrackets, secord floor slab lintels with console brackets and molded
sills resting on corbel blocks, third floor molded lintels and sills, and a
bracketed wooden cornice. No. 246 retains its original rusticated basement
with arched windows and iron guards. An early 20th-century brick storefront
projects fram the facade of No. 242. No. 246 has a handsome late 19th or
early 20th-century oriel storefront on its parlor floor and No. 248 has a
street level storefront with iron piers and corpice. This house extends back
along Vanderbilt Avenue to a residential and commercial section with projecting
window lintels and sills and a crenellated roof parapet.

:
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GREENE AVENUE ' .

Greene Avenue was named for Nathaniel Greene (1742-1786). Greene was born

in Potowamit, Rhode Island. In 1775 he was appointed a brigadier-general

by the Rhode Island Assembly, and he served during the Revolutionary War,

first at the sieqe of Boston, laterastheo:rmﬂzérofthedefenseofﬂew
York City, and then as the commander of the continental forces in New Jersey.
In 1778 Greene became cuarter-master-general and having promised to support his
troops was obliged to sell his estates to pay for the cost of feeding then. :

GREFNE, AVENUE, .north side between South Oxford and Cumberland Streets .
. 19 are mts:.de of the district.

Nos. 11-15 are an umsual wnified grouping of three-stm:y Ttalianate Imses
erected C. 1860 by builder Nicholas Rhodes. The houses were originally
residential structures, but are now mixed use residential/commercial buaildings.
The most interesting features of the houses are thedr projecting two-bayed
sections topped by pedimented roofs. Although altered to comercial use,

much of the priginal detailing remains, including doorway lintels with triangular
pediments and cartouche keystones, second floor windows with rectilinear
lintels, and round-arched third floor windows. In addition, the stoops are
extant at Nos. 11 and 13. Nos. 1l and 13 have one-story, three-sided wooden

store fronts whereas No. 15 has a wo-story three-sided pressed-metal store-
front.

Nos., 17 and 19 are extensively altered French,Second BEmpire houses thatnwmve
oomercial ground floors. The pair of bulldings dates ¢. 1865 and were built’
by Nicholas Rhodes. All of the moldings on these houses, with the exception
of the third floor window lintels of No. 17, have been removed. Both houses
have steep mansards each with two dormers. Only the mansard of No. 17 re-
tains its original slate siding. meCmﬂJerla:ﬁStreet facade of No. 19 is
faced with red brick.

poth sides of Greene Avenue between Cumberland and Adelphi Streets are outside
of the district.

GREENE AVENUE, sorth side between Adelphi Street and Clermont Averme.

Nos, 61-69 are a row of five Ttalianate residences most of which have been

y altered. The row was erected c. 1860 for Brooklyn physician John
Betts who lived on Clinton Avenue. Only No. 67 retains most of its original
details., This house is raised on a rusticated brownstone basement and retains
a slab stone doorway lintel that rests on follate brackets, slab parlor floox
window lintels supported on incised console brackets, table sills, upper
story molded lintels and projecting rectangular sills, wooden bracketed cornice,
and cast-iron areaway railing. The stoop walls are a later addition. Nes,
61arﬁ63mehadﬂn1rstoopsrmedmﬂtheirnmtlcatedbasmentssumd
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The facade of No. 61 has been stuccoed and its parlor floor window lintels shaved.

No. 63 has had its doorway lintel replaced and brackets shaved. All of the
lintels have been shaved at No. 65. The parlor floor windows of No. 69

have been shortened and its doorway lintel hrackets shaved. All of the iron-
work, except for that at No. 67 is of a later period. No. 61 was the home of
Alonzo Follett, a jeweler, amd No. 67 of William S. Alexander, a bookkeeper.

No. 71 maparking 1otmwhich stood a thme—storymvl‘nuse, probably part
of the row at Nos. 61-69.

No. . 73-78. The seven-story cormer huilding is the Chancery of the Roman
Catholic Dipcese of Brooklyn and was erected in 1930. The building is divided
into three sectinns and is ornamented with decorative forms that are basically
Colonial Rewival in feeling. The first two floors on both the Greene and
Clermont Avernue facades ave articulated by brick pilasters with stylized stone
- capitals that support a molded stone beltcourse. The rectangular first floor
windows are recessed within shallow blind brick arches and are ornamented with
bwickmsplayai lintels, splayed stone keystones and rectangular stone and
blocks.! On Greene Averme the entrance way is enframed by a pair of fluted
half colums with stylized Corinthian capitals supporting a hroken segmental-
arched pediment. The narrow Clermont Avemue entrance is ornamented with
attenuated stone pilasters supporting a window enframement flanked by volute
panels. A stone beltocourse separates the fifth and sixth floors, and a
balustrade tops the building., The fifth and ssventh floor windows are
ornamented by splayed keysoones. Brick quoins grnament the corners of the

¥

]

GREENE AVINUE, swth;side between Adelphi Street and Clermont Averme.,

Nos. 54-72, With the exception of the corner house at 54 Greene Avemue this

Tmpreassive blockfront of Italianate residences remains amazingly intact.

Mbantnuseswereerectadbymmklynmilderhma%llyinumgmps:

" Nos. 54-66 were built c. 1868 and have their stoops and doorways on the left

while Nog. 68-72 were erected ¢. 1862 and have their stoops and doorways on
the right. The crnamental forms are typical of Italianate houses built in

. the 18608, These Italianate forms include high stoops with bold cast-iron

railings (replaced at :No. 70) and octagonal newel-posts topped by balls

" (replaced at No. 64 and 70 and|one missing at Nos,60 and 66), double doors,

doorway enframements {(stripped at No. 68) with paneled plers (with rondels at

" Nos. 56 and 58), foliate hrackets and keystmmea that support segmental-arched
pediments, rusticated basements with segmental-arched windows ard iron guards,
full length parlor flecor windows with eyebrow lintels and table sills, all
supported on foliate hrackets, upper story eyebrow lintels resting on console
brackets, prejecting sills on corbel clocks and wooden bracketed ocornices with

-arched fascias. Most of the areaways retain their original iron

work . (missing at Nos, 58, 64 and 66). The Clermont Averme facade of No. 72 is
faced with brick, Al'mris:rrepmssed-uetal two-story, three-sided bay window
with basement projects from the center of the facade. It is adorned with
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paired colums, ormate friezes and halustrade.

Unfortunately No. 54 has been stripped of all of its ormament and has
been covered with small. white tiles. No. 58 has had its stoop removed and
parlor floor windows shortened. In 1860 Skelly sold No. 54 to John H. Mchuley,
dealer in stoves; No. 56 to Susan M. Ellig, a widow; No. 58 to Charles ard
Mary Thurman; No. 62 to Albert Cushman, a storage warshouse owner: No. 64 to
Albert G. Goodall, Vice-President of a firm in New York City: No. 66 to Frederick
W. Flagler of Grasser Launy's Copper Co., New York City. In 1869 Skelly sold
No. 68 to J.7. Ponpilly, an agent and No. 72 to Daniel A. Snith, a physician.

No. 60 was sold to Samuel B. Leonard, Superintendemtof Buildings for ﬂmenrooklyn
Board of Bducation. The earliest record of Leonard's work with the Brooklyn
school system is 1859 when he was Superintendent of Repairs. He worked for the
Board of Pducation for at least twenty years until 1879. Leonard designed a
large number of 8rooklyn's earliest public schools, most in the early Romanesque
Revival stvle. Among his finest school buildings, some of which are still in
uge as public schools, are P.S. 9 (now P.S. 111) on Sterling Place in Prospect
Heights (1867-68), a designated New York City Landmark, P.S. 13 on DeGraw
Street in Cohble Hill {1861, now a Yeshiva), P.S. 24 on Arion Place and

Beaver Street in Bushwick (1873, abandoned), and P.S. 34 on Norman Street in
Greenpoint (1867).

GRFENE, AVENUE, north side between Clermont and Vanderbilt Avenues.

No.. 81-89 is the side elevation of the building described at 363-371 Clermont
Avenue,
&

No. . 91-99. Bishop Louglin Memorial High School on the northwest corner

of Greene and Vanderbilt Averwes was designed in 1931 by J. Frederick Cook forr
the Roman Catholic Diocese of Brooklyn. The school was named for the Right
Reverand John Loughlin (d. 1891), the first Bishop of Brooklyn, appointed
October 30, 1853. The yellow brick school is very simple in its massing.

The huilding is a rectangular structure with a rectangular extension along
Varderbilt Avenue (erected 1932). The Gresne Avenue facade features an
entrance vestibule with a Gobkhic entry way and niches and tracery. Above the
vestibule is a shallow projecting three-sided Elizabethan oriel. A false gable
with a riche at its peak extends above the roofline of the building, On
Vanderbilt Avenue the buttressed facade is divided into two stories while the
extension is four stories high.
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GREINE AVENUE, south side between Clerment and Vanderbilt Avenues.

No - 74-84. This vacant lot was the site 6f the Reformed Episcopal Charch
of the Messiah, one of Brooklyn's more dmpressive 19th-century church
structures. The congregation of the Church of the Messiah was founded in either
1848 or 1849, ! At this time there were alveady two Episcopal churches in
the area, St. Iake's P.E, Church and St. Mary's P.E. Church. Both of these
were high church congregations, and the €hurch of the Messizh was fourded to
appeal to the more progressive low church wing of the dencmination. The first
church built by this congregation was a small wooden structure exected on
Adelphi Street between Willoughby and DeKalb Avenuwes, In 1859 a new brick
church was bullt on the same site, but by 1863 a need was seen for a new church
building. ‘The Greene Avenue Presbyterian Church on the southeast corner of
Greene and Clermont Avenues was offered for sale, and the congregation of the
' Church of the Messiah bought the unfinished building. The main part of this
dmrchlmdmtbemrmfedarﬁwasm{dergdﬁlocal sportsmen to be the -
best place in the region to shoot pigeons new church was completed

- and ogcupied on April 1, 1865 and the old site was sold to St. Mark's P.E.
Charch {see 222~232 Adelphi S__treet) .

The Greéne Avenue Presbyterian Church was built in 1865 and its dgsign

is attributed by W to James H. Giles. @ The
butlding was a typi early Romanesque Revival style hrick structure with gabled

front flanked by towers of unequal height. All of the openings were round-
arched and were recessed within larger hrickamhes.

In 1890 Robert H. Robertson (1849-1919}, ome of the most praminent 19th-
century ecclesiastical: architects in America, was hired to design a new
chapel for the church, to be huilt on Greene Avenue. At about this time
RFobertson also alteved the exterdor of the church placing unusual Ramanesque
style bee-hive spires.on the towers, Romanesque pinnacles on the towers and
on the Sunday school facade on menmt avemie, and an ornate porch and wheel
window on the gabled facade.

Robertson also designed a new chancel for the church which was completed.
in the fall of 1893. This chancel was "pure Byzantine, in 50 far as it is
'suitabletothe oftl'lertestantEgiscopaldmrch" This Byzantine

y grand with mosaics, frescoes and white Carvara marble
i.nlaid with Mexican myx ard NMumidian marble. The adjoining baptistry .
demed roof, columns and mosaics, a font desiqned by sculptor William Orduay
Partridge and Tiffany stalmd-glass windows. ,

The church was traglcally qutteﬂ by fi.re in 1971 aml the remains were
‘subsecquently desmlmhed' (‘mlv the md-19th~genmry iron fence and gates
still stand. ,

No. 86 is an extremely wide’ Italianate style brownstone residence The house
15 typical of the Italianate houses erected in the 1860s and includes such

comron details as a rusticated basement,evebrow lintels, projecting sills,

a full dscrway enframement, cast-iron railings and a wooden bracketed cornice.

The parlor floor windows have cast-ivon quards, an usugual feature for
Ttalianate houses in Brooklyn,
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No. 88 has been omitted from the street numbering.

No. 90 is a fine neo-Grec style multiple dwelling designed in 1881 by Brooklyn
architect Amzi Hill and built by D.H. Fowler to accommodate eight familijes.
M1l was a major fiqure in the design of nec-Grec style buildings in Brooklyn
and excellent examples of his work in this style can be found in Clinton Hill,
Crown Heights and in the Stuyvesant Heights Higtoric District. This building,
known as "The Clinton” is a four story red hrick structure with bands of light-
colored sandstone ornament. A columar one-story wooden portico projects
fram the center of the front facade on Greene Averma. This portico is flanked
by projecting bays with paired windows flanked by brick pilasters with stone
capitals. Each window opening is topped by a stone lintel with incised neo~
Grec ornament. Above these lintels are brick corbel courses and unornamented
btone plaques.  The long Vanderbilt Avenue facede is cut by rhgtimically .
massed rectanqular windows connected by stone belteimrqaa This facade is
ornamented by incised lintels amd a projecting window bey with pilasters,
corbel courses and stone plagques. The building is- bopped by a wood and metal
bracketed cormice. A very fine gast-iron ferce encloses the entire site.

FOOTNOTES

1. Rev. Charles R. Baker, Church of the Mesgiah: Sermon by the Rewv, Charles
R. Baker on the Tenth Anniversary of his Rectorate Fehruary 4, 1883 '
TBrookIyn: Tremlett & (o., 1983}, p. 6. s

2, 1B4d, p. 12.

3. Norval White and Elliot Willensky, A.I.A. Guide to New Yark City (New
York: Macmillan Publishing Co., revised edition, 1978), p. 570. :

4. New York Times. 42 (October 1, 1893) 12.
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Lafayette Avenue Presbyterian
Church; Grimshaw & Morrill,
architect, 1861-1862.

Photo credit: Andrew S. Dolkart,
Landmarks Preservation
Camission

116, doorway enframement; Robert
White, builder, c.1860.
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lafayette Avenue was named for the Marquis de Lafayette (1757-1834),

the prominent French soldier and stateaman who fought for the American
forces in the Revolutionary War and was instnmmxtalingettimr‘rameto
support the Americm cause.

f

,MM mr&sidebetweenSouthPortlmﬂAvemeandSmﬂanford
- Street.

No. 9 ﬂwlmmmtofamoffowmﬁnﬂpimkmseserectedc.
1868 by wn builder John Seely. The three and one half-story brownstone
houge rests on a high rusticated basement that is pierced by two segmental -
arched windows with keystones and iron guards. The high stoop, ornamented
with cast~iron halustrades and octagonal newel-posts, leads to a round-arched
doorvay enframement with a triangular pediment resting on foliate brackets
and keystone. The enframement piers have been stripped as have the parlox
floor window moldirgs. meuppershorywi:ﬂowsaresumnﬂedbyfullenfram-
ments with raised lintels and projecting sills.’ Tha corner of the house is
accanted by stone quoins. A wooden bracketed cornicé supports the steep slate
mansard, The mansard is punchured by two round-arched dormers with triangular
‘pediments and is topped by an ornate iron cresting, The side facade on
South Portland Avemue is faced with prick and is accented by a two-stoxy, three-
aided wooden bay that' rests on a wooden basement ornesmented with niches. A
unmﬂonehalf-sborymimwithabayandamnsardpiemedbyasmgle
dormer extends to the rear.: merearfacadeistraoandmhalf—sborieshigh
withmdomrwirﬂms '., _

The apartment buildings at 93-99 Lafayette Avenue (1936) and 101-109
Lafayette Averme (1931) are ‘outside of the district.

!1
LAFAYETTE AVENGE, north side between South Oxford and Omberland Streets.
No. 111-121 is the side elevation of the house described at 73 South Oxford
Streat : ' .
mg-—_]iggamfmrbrmkmusesresﬁmmsmbaments The entire

row was probably erected in the 1860s and once exhibited Italianate detailing,
but 2ll of the original ornamental forms on these houszes have been stripped.
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JAEAYETTE AVENUE, south side between South Oxford and Ciberland Streets

Nos,102~-108. ) .

The Laflayette Avenue Presbyterian Church, erected in 1861-62, to the
designs of the architectural firm of Crimshaw & Morrill (undoubtedly
Marshall J. Morrill- see 2-4 South (xford Street) is one of the finest early
Rmanesque Revival style church structures in Brocklyn. The congregation
of the church was organized in 1857, when it was resolved "that in the
Providence of God the time has now arrived when it is not only desirable, but

expedient that a Presbyterian church should be zed in the Eleventh Ward
to be connected with the of Brooklyn;' 4 There was already a
Prestwterian church. in the area, Greene Avenue Presbyterian Church on

the corner of Greene Averue and Clermont Street, later to became the Reformed
Episcopal Church of the Messiah (see 74~84 Greene Avenue), but this was an
Old School congregation affiliated with the Presbytery of New York. The
schism between the conservative 014 School Synod of New York and the more
liberal New School Synod of Rrooklyn developed in 1838 when the First
ian Church on Henry Street in Brooklyn Heights decided to join the

New School Presbytery. More conservative members 6f the congregation
establiahadanewcmrch,arﬁtmstwoantagonisticmmyteﬂansects
develq:aﬂinamoklyn.

The New School congregation in the Fort Greene area was officially
organized on July 9, 1857, and purchased a brick chapel on Carlton Street
and PeKalb Avemae, that had belonged to the Park Oongregational Church. The
new ocongregation became known as the Park Presbyterian Church. On April 24,
1860, the Rev., Theodore L. Cuyler, one of the most dynamic preachers active
in Brooklyn during the 19th-century, was ealled to the ministry of the church.
Theodore Ladyard Cuyler (1822-1909), borm in Aiwrora, New York, was a des-
cendent of one of New York's oldest Nutch families, Cuyler graduated from
Princeton in 1841, at the age of m.netam, ard from Princeton Theological
Seminaxy in 1846 and entered into the ‘ministry in Buriington, N.J. In 1860
he became pastor of the Lafayette Avenue Presbyterian Chmuch whére he remained
until his retirement' in 1890. Quyler was a leader of the evangelical revival
of the mid~19th century and was active in the temperance movement. The small
triangular park located between Cumberland Street and Pulton and Greens Avemes,
just outside of the district, is named for Cuyler. It was early in Quyler's
long temwre as minister thattthe present churchiwas erected. Ground was .
broken for the new church in Novewber, 1860, and it wvas dedicated on March 16,
1862. Tha church, which is faced with Belleville freestone, a form of
hrownstone, was built at a cost of $42,000.,

The early Romanesque Revival, or round-srched, style was the most prom-
" inent architectural foom for urban churches built by the congregations of the
. Qigsenting Protestant sects frpm 1846 until after the Civil War. The
earliest use of this style in America was Richard Upjohn's Congregational
. Church of the Pllgrims (1844-46 now Our Lady of Iebanon R.C. Church) which
still stands on Henry Street in the Brooklyn Heights Historic District. 2
The design of this Congregational church became tremendously influential as
dissenting oongregations realized that traditionally plammed Gothic style
churches were not appropriate to their needs. The austerity and simple
rectilinearity of this style held great appeal for these congregations since
they did not need the apses, chancels, aisles and other liturgical spaces
necessary for Episcopal and Roman Catholic services, The Congregationalists,
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Presbyterians, Methodists, Baptists, Unitarians and Universalists needed
mndmsﬂmtmedasiqmdforpmaclﬂngwﬂmtforml PUXpOses .

The boxy forms of these early Homanesque Revival churches, which were generally
wadorned both inside and out, were functionally perfect for the dissenting
sects and appealed to these congregations, which by the very nature of their

beliefs were m;ec;g the reverential symbols of traditional Christian
embellishment . itectural Historian Carroll L.V. Meeks, in his pioneer

study of the early Romanesque Revival style, noted that: -

' the dominant type in the United States from 1850 to
thecivilWarwasmttheIatbard nor yet the
Norman, but & more Germanic variation, executed in
red brick or hrownstone...usually with one
aswnetricauyplacedmrmmtedbyaspire
+eoIn almost every case, the principal tower is
accampanied by one or more minoy towers flanking it,

‘ or at the cormer opposite it, or back of it.4

The mssing of the Lafayette Aveme Preshiyterian Church is closely
related to that of Upjolm'acmrchofthepilgrimsandlﬁo' that.
church it is built of stone, ‘a material used lese oftcn than birick for
these churches ., 'The basic form of the lLafayette Avenuwe church is that of
a boldly-!mssed gabled central section flanked by square towers of differing
heigh On the street level the gabled facade is pierced by three

doormyawiﬂtcothicnavivaldoorsofaldta:period Above
the entry portals is a large round-arched centrally-placed window that is
flanked by ‘smaller round-arched windows and the entire window camposition
is surmounted by an arched, molded beltoourse. ¥ach window rests on a
projecting sill. A small ocular window is)located near the peak of the gable
vhich is topped by a corbelled round-arched wooden cornice.

To the left of the gable is the smaller of the two square towers.
This tower is divided into three levels. A asmall round-arched window oper-
hxgartimlaheatlwstreetlmelofthiawver Above this is a pair of
round-arched windows. A stringoourse separates thase windows from a
final muﬂ-amhed ope:ﬂng that is located below the corbelled cormice.of the
tower.

The taller tower £0 the right is also divided into three sections. On
the lafayette Averne facede the tower exhibits a pair of very small windows
above which, on the second level, is a taller window. A short flight of
steps leads to the round-arched tower entrancelocated on the South Oxford
Strest facade of the tower. A pajr of narrow round-arched windows articu-
lates the second level of this facade. The second and third levels of the
tower are separated by a band of carved Norman-derived ornaments, an unusual
farm for this generally austere style of architecture. The thixdldevel
ofthetmerriaesabovethegablea:ﬁhasamnmnﬂ-mhedwirﬂowon
each of its four faces.

Eachfacadeofthemlm originally topped by a corbelled gable
ﬂ\atmpportﬁatall,omatemodmspimmmhedwithpimmcleaand
crockets.  The spire originally rose to a height of 150 feet. The corbels
and the entire spire, with the exceptdéon of its base, were removed in 1932,
The base, with rondels carved cn each facade and pimacles rising along
each of its cormers, still remains.,

MSouthMordStmtfacadeiscmrposedoffivebaysseparatedby
huttresses. A pair of round-arched windows articulated the street level
of each bay. A larger window rises above each of these pairs and this
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entire section is topped by a corbelled cornice. A gabled section that
visually forms a transept, but is in fact the clwreh offices and the
original Sunday School rooms contimues the South Oxford Street facade.

This projecting saction has a rectangular street level window with a drip
lintel above which ié-a large round-arched window recessed into a stome axch.
The South Oxford Street facade is completed by a three-story end pavilion
with a rectanqular dooxway flanked by rectanqular windows all with drip
lintels, BAbove the entrancewny is a wide segmental-arched window flamk:

by two round-arched windows, The thind story has a central grouping of three
amall round-arched windows separated by colomnettes and flanked by paire of
gimilar openings with colonnettes. The wooden cornice continmues across this
section. The east facade, visible through a ndrrow passageway on lafayette
Averue, is of hrick.

The interior of the church is based on the plan of Joseph C. Wells'
Puritan Congregational Church (1849) on Orange Stmeet in Brooklyn Heights,
but “with improvements 'suggested by experience." 5 The fact that the interior
of the Lafayette Avenue Presbyterian Church was based on Wells' plan has

y led to the incorrect attribution of the church to Wells. In
fact, the Puritan plan became quite influential and the nearby Hanson Place
Baptist Church (now the Hanson Place Seventh bDay Adventist Church) was
modeled on the same prototype. The original windows weve all ef eulored
glass arranged in gecmetric patterns. Seven of these windows are still ex-
tant in the towers. All of the other windows are now of stained glass, nine
designed by Tiffany Studios. In 1891 Montrose Morris made alterations to
the interior of the tower, and in 1899 the architectural firm of Babb,

Oock & Willard (architects of the Andrew Carmegie Renidence on Fifth Avenue
and two 6f the Pratt houses on Clinton Avemue) albemdthe&nﬂaywmlmng

Nos, 110 and 112 are a pair of brick Italianate reai.denoes erected . 1859
by builder Cornelius Pangborn. The houses have been altered. No. 110

stillretainsitaironbasmntvd.ndmg\mds, dezp cast~iven eyebrow window

+ lintels and bracketed cornice. No. 112hasbeenstr1pped of all of its
criginal details,

Nos. 114-118 are a row of t-hreebrick Italianate residences erected c¢. 1860
- by Brooklyn builder Robert White. The beautiful house at No. 116 retains
most of its original: details and i3 most notable flor its superbly carved
hrownstong door enframement with paneled plers, extremely bold follate
brackets, and eyebrow lintel topped by a foliate acroteria, Other notable
" details are the brownstone winfiow lintels and table sills and the wooden
. bracketed cornice. Nb.llélm' keen altered, its stoop and cornice
been removed and a basement and fourth story added. At No. 118
.. the oornlce of the front facade has been removed, and the doorway enframe-
ment has lost its acroteria. A slate mansard roof has besen added to the house,
and it also exthibits a three-sided wooden oriel window at the parlor
floor on its Cumberland Street facade. In 1863 No. 116 wasg sold to John A.

Baush, a thited Stated appraiser, and’ in 1864, No. 118 was scld to wool
marmfacturer Charles S. Messinger,



FG-HD - -92-
Lafayette Averme

LAFAYETTE AVENUE, north side between Curberland Street and Carlton Averue.
1
y Mhasbe&mmittedfmnﬂmstmetmﬁﬁrmg

No, 133 is a four-story brick 3tmct.ure with a commercial ground floor,

y erected in the 1870s. The most notable features of this huilding
are the bold neo-Grec window lintels at the second and third floors. These
lintels have eared enframements and central acroteria. A stone belt~-course
eeparatesthethirdandfmrthfloorsmﬂservesastheaillsformemnﬂ-
arched fourth floor windows. Apressed-amtaloomicet:opstlmtmse

No, 135 is a three-story, brick French Second Brpire style building with
mansard raised on a high hrownstone basement and probably built ¢, 1865. The
house has a lovely round-arched stone doorway enframement and is further en~
hanced by bracketed table sills and flush stone lintels. An unusual bracketed

cornice supports the slate mansard. ﬂ'emsaxdispiemmdbyapaixofdmr '

windows. The brick sills, sboopwalls,amamyparapetsandimwkamall
later additions.

M_l,ﬁwereorx:efmr Italidnate brick rowhouses dagthg from the 1860s.
In 1938 architect Horace B. Mamn radically altered the houses, combining them
into a multiple dwelling. A round-arched tunnel has been cut through the
'mildi.ngleadjngtosideentramesmﬂagaxdm N> original ornament has been

retained, Now known as the "Monaco Apartments,” rehabilitionofthiscmplex
i3 planned,

No, 147 is a two-story, four-bay brick structure, with a central entrance.
mumgnarrwfirstandsecmﬁﬂoorwindowahweﬂushsmne lintels above
which are five small rectanqular attic windows with projecting stone sills.

Amodmbracketedcomicetopatlmh:ildmg The house was probably erected c.
1860.

No, 149 is an unornamented five-story hrick structure with a commerical

ground floor. mmw:gmdesigmdmlﬂabyamhitectHuraceB.mm
am is of little architectural interest.

' [AYAYETTE AVENUE, south side between Cumberland Street and Carlton Avenue.

No. 120-126 is the side facade of the building deseribed at 277 Cumberland
smto e

Nos, 128-138, The entire blockfront of the south side of Lafayette Aveme
between Cumberland Street and Carlton Averme was probsbly erectad by
Brooklyn huilder, John Ross, ¢. 1856. Nos. 128 and 134 best retain their
mid-19th century appearance, and they are typical of the brick Italianate
residences built during this period in Fort Greene. Among the details used
on these two houses are brownstone door lintels that rest on foliate
brackets . (stripped at No. 128), full length parlor floor windows with
molded brownstone lintels, flush stone lintels and projecting sills on the
upper story windows, and simple bracketed wooden cornices. No. 134 re-
tains its original areaway railing. Nos. 130, 132, 136 and 138 have all
lost their stoops aid now have basement entrances. Among the original
owners of these houses were Robert Hutchinson, Jr., a shipmaster at No.
130, Fllen Rash, a widow at No, 132, Bdward Cavendy, a shipmaster at No.
136, and Jarvis Brush, a Manhattan fancy goods merchant at No. 138,
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LAFAYETTE A"INUE. mrth side between drmcm Averme and Adelphi Street

hbs,lSlmdlSBareapairofimosingtransitimlmehSmdwim/
mo-GracstyleMusesﬂmt,wﬁorhmtely,Mvebeenrmtlyabarﬂomﬂam
varndalized. The three-story pair of buildings with mansards have quoined
corners and full window enframements with raised lintels at their first and
second floors and projecting lintels at the third flcor. The window en-
framement friezes of the first floor have incised decoration. A neo-Grec
wooden bracketed cornice surmounts the third story of each house and supports
the slate-clad mansards that extend around the side ard rear of the pair of
houses. Fach mansard is pierced by pedimented dormers. The stoops have
been removed froam both houses, The palr were designed and built in 1874 by
. Brooklyn builder/aml‘nitect'ﬂnms H. Brush who lived nearby at 249 Adelphi
Street.

-

!

. 155 and 159 (No. 157 has been omitted from the street mumbering) are a
of five-family multiple dwellings designed in 1897 by local -architect

Frank Bosworth for G.R. Barteaumx. The buildings are mirrcoe images of each
other, The Brownstone first floors have end entry porches with Iomic columns
supporting full entablatures with friezes ornamented by allarge Greek key
design. Beside the entry porches rise full-height three-gsided bays. The
upper four stories of the buildings are brick with stone lintels and sills
and quoins at the angles of the bays. Each face of the angled bays is pierced
by a simple rectangular window. The second stories of the flat facade over
‘the entry porches have Palladian style windows with stone enframaments and
brick arches. Tripartite rectangular window groupings accentuate the third
and fourth floors, and the fifth floors have tripartite round~arched window
arrangements. The apartment buildings ave toppad by a contimous galvanized -
iron cornice with a large fascia that is ornamented with pairs of dwarf
pllasters and recessed panels with rosettes.

Nos. 161 and 163 are three-story Italianatelmsesﬂmthavebemmdically
altered; neither house retains any of its mid-1%th-century detalling. Both
houses have amooth, stuccoed facades, basement entrances and parapets.

. 165 13 a brick Ttalianate dwelling erected in the early 1860s. The

hag a sémple doorway with a slab lintel resting on oonsole brackets
and windows with molded lintels and projecting sills. A simple dentilled
cornice surmounts the house. The building has recently been restored, area-
way railings have been replaced and new period Houble doors added. The in-
appropriate first and second floor casement windows are also a new addition.
The basement and stoop have bgen stnocoed and scored and the stoop walls are
a later addition.

No, 167 is a three-story brick Italiamate structure with a cammercial ground
floor. The detailing is simple, with flush stome lintels at the second
floor, molded lintels and projecting sills at the third floor and a mxdest,
wooden bracketed cornice. The Adelphi Street facade is pierced by rectangular
windows with flat stone lintels.
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IAFAYETTE AVEAUE, south side between Carlton Avemue and Adelphi Street.

Nos. 140-142. . The bwrned cut shell at No. 140 is all thkt remains of a

palr of brick Italianate houses erected c. 1856 for Levims J. Lansing.

Mong the detalls of the house that are still intact are eyebrow window
1intelamtm1afayettehmmfacade, flush stone lintels and a pressed-
metal rectangular oriel on the CarYton Avenue facade, and a steep slate
mansard that was added to the house late in the 19th century. No. 142 did not
have a mansard roof. The ore-story extension with basement on Carlton
Avamgnwithitsmm-ardmmmmbablymeaﬂyzothceﬂumy
mit »

\ Nos, 144-148 are a group of three typical brick Italianate residences

erected ¢. 1856 for Levims J. Lansing. No. 146 retains much of its mid-
19th-century detailing including a hrownstone doorway enframement with

. foliate brackets and eyehrow lintels, eyebrow window lintels, a bracketed
" wooden cornice-with a esgmentalarched foliate fascia, and cast-iron stoop

railings and newel-posts. Mamymiumemmissimarﬂmems-
ticated |brownstone basement of this house has been stuccoed over. Although
the rusticated basement is extant at No. 144, this house has lost its stoop
and first floor window lintels ard sash. No. 148 has been radically
altered and retaina only its window lintels. In 1856 this house was seld
to Ralph Hunt, a bookkeeper. InlBS?AntlulyR.Dyett.aNewYorkcity
lwyerpm'cmsedhb 146,

Nog, 150~156 are a yow of four brick Italianate mesidences raised on high
rustisated browmstone basements. The houses were emected ¢. 1857 for
Greenville Jenks. No. 154 best retaind its detailing. The house has a
stoop, slab doorway lintel and parlor floor lintels, all of which rest on -

. follate brackets, second and third story projecting sills resting on

corbel blocks, molded 1mhels,mc‘!abr&chatedmdmoornice with jigsaw
mtacmllamungmefascia This house has Jost its parlor floor table
s8ills with console hrackets, but these remain at Nos. 152 and 156. With the
exception of the stoop railings at No. 154 the fow has lost all of its

original irommork. No. 156 has lost its stoop; the box stoop and preased-
metal lintels of No. 152 are later 19th-century additions; the three-sided
oriel window of the Lafayette Avenue facade and the two-story pressed-

1mta1rectangularbaywiﬂ1bamntmtlw?ﬂe1phi9treetfamdeofm. 156

are also later 19th-century additions. No. 150 has recently been restored

. and, althpugh its doorway lintel is still missing, a new stoop has been

added and the parlor ﬂoorwirﬂowslnvebemlengﬂmmtlwirongiml

In 1856 Jenks sold No. 150 to New Yorlé City drygoods merchant Israel
A, Barker, No. 154 to ngusta J. Bridge, a Manhattan doctor, and No. 156
to Carleos Burchaxd., -
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LAPAYETTE AVENUE, north side between Adelphi Street and Clemmont Avenue.

No. 169 is a one-story camerclal taxpayer with a pressed-metal facade on
Lafayette Avenue and an unornamented brick facade on Adelphi Street. ™

No. 171 has been amitted from the street mmbering.

- No. 173 is a simple three-story brick Italianate residential building erected
c. 1860 By local builder Joseph Campbell who lived on Carlton Styeet in a
house that has since been demolished. This building has a gtone husement and simp)
detailing, Ornamental forms include a slab doorway lintel supported on
follate brackets, parlor floor table sills, flush stane lintels above all of
the- w:l.:ﬁowa, projecting sills, and a wooden hracketed cornice. ‘The original
aresway i.roruork is still extant, but the stoop railingg are of a later date,

Noa 1?5-18 areagmupoffourimpressivetransitimmlmmchm

! brownstone dwallings. The houses were ervected in 1876 for -

; mildm:(;iddmgsﬂ Pinnay. Nos. 175 and 177 are three bays wide and Nos.

| © 179 and 181 are narrcwer two-bayrstructures. All four houses are three
stories above high basements-that are ornamented by raised neo-Grec belt-
courses! The decorative doorway enframaments are composed of oblong-paneled
plers, éoliahe brackets and keystones, and triangular pedimenta, All of the
windows have full enframements-—those at the parlor floor having raised lintels.
Bracketaed wooden cornices surmount each house and support the slate mansard
roofs, Each mansard has two round-arched dormer windows flanked by paneled

piersarﬁ‘summtedbytrwarpedimtsa@ortedmamularmo-emc
borac] Lan

Nos. 183-187 areagxmpof three, three—ai:ory frmb ddellmgs erected c. 1857
for Baldwin C. Reeve. Although abandoned, No. LB'?heatretains its original
l_ detailing. The house still has its shingled siding, wooden stoop, freme
doorway hood with ornate hrackets and pendants, three-sided, one-story pro-
Jecting bay adorned by arnate jigsaw-carved brackets beneath a flat roof, full
: uppar-story window enframements, and bracketed cornice.: The areaway iron at
- No. 183 is original. Nos. 183 and 185 are now clad in synthetic siding and
have lost most of their window enframement elements and their doorway hoods,
'| No. 183 retains its slab window lintels, No. 185 has its original stoop and
: bmudstemardbothlmseestillhavethe&baywtﬂowamﬂcmmicea In
' 1858 tb. 185wns sold to ahimight Petermpheraon

Mo, 13_9_ is the side facade of q}m house described at No. 338 Clexmont Avenue,
o ' L \

m mthaidebeﬁamhdelphiStreetarﬂClemntl\mue ’

No. 158-162 is the side facade of the house described at 329 Adelphi Street.
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Nos, 164-174. The Lafayette Avenue blockfront between Adelphi Street and
Clermont Avenue ishﬁlzeupwiﬂ\avery fine row of six French Second
Brpire row hoises erected c. 1875 by builder Giddings Pinney. With the
exception of No. 174 which has recently been stripped of its decorative
detalls, the row retains its original form to an amazing extemt. The
houses are three stories high, resting om rusticated basements and crowned by
steep slate mansards. Tall stoops with heavy cast-iron balustrades and
octagonal or, square newal-posts lead to round-arched doorways. The door
-enframements are composed of piers with oblong panels, bold foliate brackets
" and keystones; paneled spandrels and triangular pediments. The basements
are plerced by segmental-arched window openings, surmounted by paneled
keywtones and shielded by iron guards. The large parlor floor windows have
full. enframements with raised molded lintels and molded sills resting on
angular neo-Grec brackets. The upper story winfows are articulated by
full enframements with projecting lintels and sills. A bracketed weoden
cornice summounts each house. Fach mansard has a pair of dormers with round-
arched windows, jigsaw carving and raking cornice. No. 174 has a quoined
corner and a brick facade on Clermont Avenue that is ornamented by an
umisual three-sided parlor floor oriel with pointed-arched windows and
jigsaw-cut spandrel decoration. All of the areaways retain their original -
cast-iron balustrades. No. 174 has lost its cormice.

13
P g

LAFAYETTE AVENUE, north side between Clermont and Vanderbilt Avenwes.
No. 191-)99 i3 the side elevation of the Brocklyn Masonic Temple described

- at 313-323 Clermont Avenue.

No. 201-209. The Queen of All Saints ocomplex wag designed in Flamboyant
Ga—th]EstylebyﬂlemtadCaﬂblicanardﬂthcts;mﬂey&Stemback.
The school, on the nortimest corner of Lafayette and | Vanderbilt Avemues, '
and the church,,visible alony Vanderbilt Avenue, were .built in 1910, but the
apse of the church and the regtory on Vanderbilt Avenue were not built until
1915, The complex is built of artificial stone #opped by a copper roof.
The parish of Queen of All Saints was originally called St. John's
Parish and was founded in 1878, St. John's Chapel, dddicated on Decauber 27,
1878, was the only completed part of ‘the planned Cathedral of the Immaculate
Corception (see Episcopal Residence of the Roman Catholic Church, 363-371
Clermont Avenue). The chapel soon proved to be too small for the growing
parish and the new church, originally called the Cathedral Chapel Queen of
All Saints, was erected on the site of one of the Vernon mansions (see
Broocklyn Masonic Temple, 313-323 Clermont Avermse). Bishop Mundelein, in his
appeal to the congregation, is reputed to have proposed "a church that would
be in great part a reproduction pf one of the Gothic glories of the
Thirteenth Century's amhitecmrg.l triumphs on the Puropean continent, the
Sainte-Chappelle of Paris, and a' school house after the model of the Hotel
de Ville of Rouen,"6 © | \
OConstruction on the imposing church and school complex began in 1910,
The bullding was dedicated on November 27, 1913, and "there was umusual
assent that the new Cathedral Chapel Qieen of All Saints was the most beauti-
%@ﬁi&sﬁc&lﬁnmﬁnejn&mklynmﬂmoft&mmv important
to the architectural adorrment of the countxy." 7 The Brooklvn
Dally Eagle reported that:
The chapel is not a vast building, but it is one
of the two or three most beautiful specimens of
church architecture in the United States. .....It is
somathing of which any Brooklynite of any creed ,
aligrment may regard as one of the city's charms...8
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The Queen of All Saints school huilding faces énto lLafayette Avenue.
The school is basically a symmetrical, five-story rectangular building
surmotinted by a tall hipped roof and clad in Gothic facing., The building has
. & centrally-placed Gothic entry portal flanked by paired buttreaeses, each
ornzmented with a column that supports a statue of a saint set into a
canopiled niche. Similar paired buttresses mark the corners of the huilding.
A band of quatrefoils separates the first floor from the upper stories.
The second, third and fourth floors are punctuated by groups of rectangular
openings with leaded windows and stone transom and million bars. These floors
amsepamtedbyblirﬂ-tramiedpmulaa:ﬂmmmteﬂbyacomiceommented
with foliate forms and supporting projecting gargoyles. A traceried parapet
set. above the cornice supports baldochin forms pimmacles and cusped arches
runs in front of two gabled dormers that flank a large central gable. Flying
huttress forms connect the pinnacles and dormers.

The Vanderbilt Averme facade of the school uses similar ornamental
© forms, but has a Gothic portal flanked by two ogee~-arched windows on the
grourd floor and a parapet swmounted by a cusped~-arched screen topped by
pimnacles, an angel and an eagle. The high hipped roof is pierced by tiny -
.peak—mofeddmamrsmﬂacemralocmgmalumtornmtedwithblmd
rointed arches and projecting gargoyles.
, dmhfacadamvaﬂderbiltnvmueia,likeitsprcbotypemmte-

e, primarily built of glass. The church isnseven bays wide, each
bay being flanked by a buttress with colomnettes that support canopled niches
with sculpted saints., The main magss of the facade ig divided into three
horozontal levels: a low arcade with segmental~etched openings each in-
corporating thréee pointed-arched windows, a biind-arched triforium separated
from the arcade by a quatrefoil band, and a tall clerestory with cusped-
arched tracery windows surmounted by pantafoll rondels. 'lheclereatory
windows are set into gabled enframaments topped by crockets. A cornice and
tracariedpanpatmaﬁmgacmssﬂefamdestpmﬁtpmjecwggargoyles
ard narrow pinnacles connected to the church by cyoss buttresses. An
octagonal tower marks the apsidal end of the church, and the huilding is
mmnhedbyasteeppitclmc‘lmf ierced by tiny dormers. A quarter-

turnad stajrway with ‘traceried bal riges from the sidewalk to a
terraced triforium entrance in the northern-most bay. °
The rectory, dating from 1915, is a simple f£ive and one half-story

structiure projecting out from the church. The rectory has a central
entrance with elliptical arch flanked by ogee-arched windows., On the second
floor are a band of quatrefoils as well as narrow buttresses that separate
the large sexpartite window openings. The third and fourth floors have simple
. vectangular windows. The fifth floor is composed of a large cemtral dormer
cxrnamented with flying huttres#ea pinnacles and a crocketed gable. This is
- flanked by smaller dormers. steep pesaked roof has two tiny dormers and
:I.smmmtedbyapairof 1rmc:mmfinials

!
\

LAFAYETTE AVENUE, south side between Cle:modt and Vanderbilt Avenues.
The playground of Bishop Loughlin High School takes up this entire blockfront.
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SOUTH ELLYOTT PLACE

SCUTH ELLIOPT . originally called Hampden. Plaoe, was named for Henry .
Elilott, a waal 19th-centmy Brooklyn shoe merchant.

SOUTH ELLIOTT PLACE, east side between DeKalb and Lafayette Avenues.

Nos. 1-11. This row of six houses was erected c. 1872 by Prooklyn builder
John Doherty. Although basically Italianate, the ornament used on these houses
is beginning to show the influence of the neo-Grec style. With the ex—
ception of No, 1 with its storefront and stripped moldings, the row re-
‘mains almost completely intact. These three-story, three~bay hrownstones
rest on rusticated basements pierced by segmental-arched windows with cast-
iron guards (replaced at No. 5). All of the high stoops were originally
-adornadbyheavycaat-imnbalustradesarﬂoctaml newel-pogts. Each of
the paneled doorway enframements is surmounted by a segmental-arched pediment
supported by foliate conscle brackets and a keystone, both ornamented with -
- stylized neo—Grec decoration. All of the window openings have full en
framements with raised lintels and molded sills. The parlor. floor sills
rest on ised hrackets, while those above are supported on corbel blocks.
Each houge has a wide, wooden cornice with dentils, modillions and foliate
brackets, Nos. 3 and 5 have steep msnsard roofs which, if they arenst
original, were added shortly after the construction of the row. The
mansards are faced with slate, arﬂeachxapiemedbyumpedjnmted darmers.
All of the areaways were originally enclosed by cast-iron fences with
heavy balasters and gate posts, as at Nos. 7 and 9.

&g, 11A-15, Magmxpofﬂmlmelym&ecmjseaminsexactlyas
hailt,withnllofﬂ\ecriimldetailsstillmplaoé The brownstone
houses were designad in 1881 by Brooklyn architect Robert Dixon for
Isabella and John Gordon, local builders. Robert Dixon (b.1852) was a
prolific late 19th-century architect. Born in Brooklyn he apprenticed as a

to his father, the builder Domenick Dixcmn. He\].at:erstudied
in the office of Marshall J. Morrill,. one of Brooklyn's most :
architects, and in 1879, set up his own architectyral office. Dixon worked
extensively in the Fort Greene and Clinton Hill areas and there are many
examples of his work in the Park Slope Historic District. Besides resi-
dential buildings, Dixon was the architect of the Second Sigmal Corp. Armory
. (1883) .on Dean Street in Progpect Heights. .

‘ ﬁnsethree-sborytmaesmftmhighhamntsthatamommedmth
raised belt courses. The window'and doorway enframements are all adorned
with incised lines. Skylized hrackets support slab lintels on the windows
and triangular pediments on the doors. The 51119 of the long firat-floor
wixﬂmsammpportedbyinciaedamularcorbelhlocks Thege hrackets and
those supporting the first floor lintels flank inset panels. Upper floor
8ills are supported by corbel blocks and lack the panels of the parlor floor
enframements. The houses are topped by concave cornices with stylized enmd
brackets. Heavy cast-iron areaway railings, stoop balustrades with bold

ml-postswmndbymﬂmiafmarﬂmllargatepostsamtthestmet
level of this row.
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In 1882 the Gordons' sold these three houses: No. 11A to Edward Storey,
a New York City shipper, No. 13 to Sabra Charters, a secretary in New York,
and No, 15 to David S, Skinner (b. 1844), a Brooklyn dentist who "as a

dentist,...takes the highest rank, it being his constant effort to do the
best work in his profession.®

No, 17 1= a grand Italianatebromstomstructuxearﬂthewidesthmmeon
the block. The house was probably erected c. 1870. A wide stoop with
-flaring cast-iron balustrade and heavy ‘octagonal newel posts tepped by balls
leads to a pair of double doors. The paneled doorway enframement is typical
of the Italianate style, with its trianqular pediment,paneled spandrels and
ornate foliate keystone and brackets., Above a rusticated basement with
rourd-arched windows with ivon quards, are two full-length paplor floor
windows that share a projecting, bracketed table sill. These windows are
surmounted. by raised, molded slab lintels supperted by foliate brackets
that flank. carved panels. The upper windows exhibit similar lintels with
simple brackets and simple molded sills. A deep modillioned cornice with
paired neo-Grec inspired brackets and paneled fasciacrmthisveryfme
structure ~

*

Nog, 19-23 are a group of uinple Ttalianate residences erected ¢.1870. The
hrownstone buildings are three stordes raised on tall rusticated basements.
All thrke houses retain their original doorway enframements composed of
panaled piers arnd foliate bwackets that. support shallow eyebrow lintels.

The full-length parlor floor windows are surmounted by eyebrow lintels

resting on foliate brackets (stripped at Nos. 19 and 21). The upper

story openings are ornamented by eyebrew lip lintels and molded sills supported
on corbels. A wooden bracketed cornice tops each house. All of the original
cast-iron railings have been replaced by masonry walls. -

wmapairoftall,mbtmhalﬂesmﬂtbyut&ﬂeld
& Dickinson and designed in the neo-Grec style by their architect, Charles
Werner, in 1881. High stoops with stylized baluters &4 lasge square newél-
poetstomadbyunmleadbosegrmtal-—-a:tﬂmddoozmys The seqmental arches
. of the enframements are ornamentad with ocak-leaf moldings. Keystones with

* bell flowers and stylized brackets support eared triangular lintels, each with
a central rosette and simple incised forms. The most notable feature of the
lmaesaxetheﬁall—heightmojectirgangleﬂbaﬁs typical of the neo-Grec
style, The basements are articulated by crisply cut rectangular windows that
are topped by grooved moldings and protected by cast-iron guards. A belt
ooarse with incised decoration ornaments each basement. The rectanqular

. parlor floor windows are set into angled, grooved enframements that are
flanked by simplified columnar'forms. Below each window is a raking panel

. with parallel incised lines. stone, coved cornice with stylized leaf
molding surmounts each; parler and separates it fram the rest of the

* bay. 'Ihepedinenhedupperﬂoorwimsal;havefullgrwvedenfm
and are ornamented with incised carving, rosettes and stylized sill hbrackets.
The second floor windows are segmentally arched, while those of the third
floor siw sestangular. An umisual galvanized-iyon cornice with decorative
krackets, dentils and rectangular panels further enhances these houses.
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In 1882 No. 25 was sold to Fdwin S. Pratt (1840-1904). Pratt was
rorn in Biddleford, Maine and studied at Harvand and Columbia Law School.
He began to practise law in New York and specialized in theatrical cases.

Nog, 29-31%, In 1875 builder lawrence Kane comissionad architect John
Wilson to design this row of three transitional Italianate/nec-Grec style
houses.' lLawrence Kane is the most interesting of the builders who worked

in Fort Greene. Most of Kane's buildings are Italianate in style, although
he built a few neo-Grec style buildings in the mid-1870s. These tow houses
use a particularly umisual decorative vocabulary, unlike that employved by
any other Brooklyn huildexr. ZXane's earlisest known works in Fort Greene date
fram 1866. Same of the early works are typical Italianate row houses, but
many others are ornamented with baroque ornamental forms. Nos. 29-33 is the
latest known Kane row in the district and the only one that can be attrihuted
to a specific architect working with Kane., Whether or not Jaohn Wilson was
responsible for the actual decorative details of this and other Kane-built
houses is unknown.

Built on narrow lots, these three-story houses with hasements are only

two bays wide. Typical high stoops lead to round-arched double doors

{(original at No, 3lk%). These doors have unusual brownstone enframements,
2s is typical of other structures built by Kane in the district, the carving
of these enframements is rather baroque in feeling with stylized foliate

. brackets supporting a gambrel-shaped lintel. RAbowve the rusticated basements

with their segmentally-arched windows with iron guards are wide one-over-one
plate-glass parlor floor windows that are surrounded by full enframements with
raised lintels. The sills rest on paneled hrackets that flank inset plagues
with raised diamond forms. The narrower, upper story windows also have full
enframements and raised lintels, but the sills here are supported én more -
typical neo-Grec hrackets.. Simple modillioned wooden comices and cast-iron
railings add further comament to the buildings. One original newel-post and
one origm ﬁmtlmin at No. 31%, OQuriously, these house are -
intels of door enf: ts not 1 with
il b Hhe e enéisaents ot Jindng wp vith
In 1876 Kane sold No. 29 to Willlam G. Wiley (1834-1915), the foundei ot
the firm of W.G, Wiley & Co., a New York City gstock brockerage. In 1876 No.

31 was sold to Alfred Ketcham, a fish dealer atl the Fulton Fish Market, and

No. 31k was sold to J.S. r«mj.cket;-,"armther ‘stock broker,

M. 33 is a four-story, four<family, tenement designed in 1890 by the noted
Brooklyn architect Frank Freeman (1861-1949). Freeman was born in Canada
ard arrived in Brooklyn in 1886. His earliest known work dates from 1889
and from that year until c. 1893 he designed buildings in the Romarmscue
Rewrival style that ave among the finest works in this style built anywhere
in New York City. Under the stylistic influence of Henry Hobson Richardsom,
Freeman designed the Behr Residence (1890) on Plerrepent Street and the
Hotel Margaret [1889) on Columbia Heights, both in the Brooklyn Heights
Historic District, the Brooklyn Fire Headquarters (1892) on Jay Street and

" the Bushwick Democratic Club (1892) on Bushwick Avenue, both designated New

York City Landmarks, and the Eagle Warehouse and Storage Company (1893-94) in
the Fulton Ferry Historic District. The classicism of the World's Columbian
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BExposition in Chicaqo in 1893 cauaed Freeman's atyle to change, and buildings
such as the Brooklyn Savings Bank (1893-demolished) and Crescent Athletic Club
{1906) , both on Pierrepont Street reflect this new influence.

Although designed during the period when his finest buildings were
erected, the structure at 33 South Elliott Place, the only tenement known to
have been designed by Freeman, is not one of his most notsble works. Only -
the first floor with its hox stoop, rock-faced stone bands that sexrve as
transom bars and window lintels and the exceptionally fine terra-cotta plagque
with the date "1890" inscribed as a cipher in two rondels that are surrounded
by stylized foliage are Freemanesque motifs.

The' tenement is built pri.marily of pale yellow pressed brick. This brick
is used in an ornamenta) fashion on the second and third flocrs with raised
brick beltcourses, splayed lintels and end pilasters. These two levels
are separated from the first and fourth floors by brick corbels that support
stone courses that serve as window sills., The top story is more interesting
than those below with its two paired and one single window with small
rectangular transcm lights. An ormate and not unimpressive galvanized-iron
ocornice ornamented with dwarf columns and corbelled forms that echo the brick
gtj:;;s used below, completes this interesting, if not exceptmnal, Freeman

No. 35~a vacant lot that has recently been tarned into a community park.

No. 37 is a narrow three-and-one-half-story frawe dwelling built in the
neo-Grec style and dating from c. 1873, The projecting doorway enframement
of this house exhibits stylized brackets supporting a hood, the cornice
of which extends across the facade. The singleé first floor window has a
full enframement above which are a pair of hrackets supporting the cornice.
The second floor window has a full entablature and projecting dentilled
lintel, while the smaller third floor window lacks this lintel. A =mall,
rectangular double attic window projects into the dentilled cornice of
the house. This wooden cornice is also ornemented by brackets with drip
pendants, A shallow shed dormer tops the building. The entire structure
has been sheathed in synthetic brick and shingling.

No. 39-a vacant lot.

No. 41 ‘is an early frame building that until recently albamd exhibited
many Greek Revival details. Probably erected c. 1855 the house had eared
window enframements and a high stoop. Today the structure, which is clad in
synthetic shingling, still retains its Greek Revival style dentilled
cornice and wide Italianate double doors.

No, 45 (43-47) is a five-story brick and limestone apartment building desigmed

in 1914 by Harold L. Young to house twenty-five families. The limestone

first floor of the building is pierced by a segmental-arched entry portico with
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fasces daroration and central cdrtouches. The upper floors are ornamented by
. raised brick panels, limestone panels and cartouches., The building is
topped by a crenellated parapet and central, limestone rondel.

No, 49-53, This row of three Italianate houses was hullt ¢. 1862 for builder
- lawrence Kane (see 29-31% South Elliott Place). These three-story brick houses
rest on rusticated brownstone basaments that are pierced by segmental-arched
window openings with iron guards. High stoops lead to double doors
{original at No. 53) with -and-dart transom bars (msaing at No . %. a.nris
sequental —arched transom’ lights. The doorways are topped by
raised above carved panels and rosettes and resting on ccmsole brac}:ets that
have all been stripped of their decoration. The windows of the houses all have
shaved eyebrow lintels and projecting rectangular stlls. The profiles of the
original lintels are still visible con all three houses. The row is topped by
modillicned and bracketed cornices with arched fascias. ‘The stoop walls
and areaway parapets were probably added to the row when the moldings were
stiippad. In 1864 No. 42 was sold to James H. W:lncheater, a shipmaster, and
in 1863 No. 51 was sold to Charles H. Oliver, / '

. 55 and 57 are two of the finest Anglo~Ttalianate style buildings in the
 district. The pair of narrow brownstore and brick houses were built c.
1864 by Lawrence Kane (see 29-31% South Elliott Place). As is typicil in
the Anglo-Italianate style, low stoops lead to elegant round-arched door . -
enframements, each with a pyramidal keystone and double doors, those at No.
57 being original. The rocund-arched doorway enframements ave echoed on a
smaller scale by the single parlor floor window at esch house which is raised
above an inset panel. The entire first floor is constructed of rusticated
hrowmstone and is topped by a full cornice. The brick upper stories are
plereed by two-over-two window openings--those on the second floor being full
heights and segmental-arched, while the smaller third story windows are
round-arched. All of the window lintels except for thogse of the third story.
&fﬂh:: ssmgeenizhavm ﬁnmﬁﬁaamulmm mﬁfm

an arched fascia ormsfen triangular rectanqu panels,

The irorwork at No. 57 and thedo:rys at No. 55 are, later addit:.ons Tn 1865 No.

55 vas s0ld to shipwright Henry C. Webb. £ foc D

Bo, 5 iaanmrtricfmhmsemweladinsyntheticaiding. A short

gtoop leads to a recessed porch that is supported on brick piers. Clustered
porch colwmns support the four-bayed upper facade. The only notable features
of the house are the segmental-arched doorway enframement and the three-sided
open ariels that project from the third story. Each oriel is supported by

a pair of spindly colonmettes and is topped by a projecting polygonal roof.

Aai:rplebracketedmodmcomioeeﬂerﬁsmthempofthehouse

Nb. 61-6lA. Like Nos. - 25-27 South Elliott Place these two neo-Grec style
were designed by Charles Werner for Litchfield & Dickinson. These
nirrow three-story brownstone houses with basements were erected in 188S.
The high stoops of the houses lead to double doors that are surrounded by
enframements ornamented with inciszed decoration, stylized rosettes, anthemia -
and brackets with quttae (the iron gates are a recent addition). The en~
- framemants are topped by triangular pediments. ‘The basements,each with a
single window with cast-irem guards, are ornamented by raised beltcourses with
vertical incised lines. The single parlor floor window at each house has a
full enframament with a raised cormice. The sill of the window rests on
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paneled brackets., These brackets flank another carved panel. A wide, raised -
beltoourse separates the basement from the parlor floor. Raised elements eact:
with a carved rosette support the entire window enframement. The upper floor
windows, "also with full enframements, are supported on small angular neo-Grec
corbel blocks. Above the third floor windows are very fine pressed-metal
cornices that eshibit incised brackets, brnamental penels, and a dog-toothed
boarder. The lovely stoop and areaway rail.'lngs are original

No. 63 is a transitional Italijanate/nec-Grec house designed in 1875 by
Biward Van Voorhis. The basic massing and ornamental form of this brownstone
hougse are Italianate in feeling, but much of the specific detailing is more -
neo-Grec in style. The segmental-arch of the dooxrway enframement rests on
foliate hrackets that are more stylized than stypical Italianate hrackets.
The keystone of the enframement arch is also quite stylized, as are the
small brackets on the inner faces of thig arch. Alloftlmwirdcwopenings
have full enframements, eyebrow lintels resting on foliate brackets, and
projecting sills. 1he parlor floor sills rest om foliate brackets that flank
recessed panels, while the other sills are supported on simple corbel blocks.
A wooden Italianate bracketed cornice completes the camposition. The stoop

walls, aresway parapets, iromwork, and the alumimm windows are later
additions. .

Nos, 65 and 67 are a paly of mich altered early-Italisnate style frame
huildings epected c. 1854 by Brooklyn builder William Nichols. The frame house
rest on masonry basements that are pierced by rectangular windows with iron -
guards, The high wooden stoops of these houses lead to recessed porches

that are supported on Tuscan colonnettes. The porches originally exhibited
balustrades, now remsved. Square paneled porch posts, as at No. 67, support
the contimwous bracketed porch roofs., Spindled screens once hung fram the
porch cornices, The screen-frame still exists at No. 67. The porch posts and
screen at No. 65 have recently been sheathed in synthetic ocoverings. Both
houses had double doors (remowed), and the doors and all of the windows had -
simple wooden enframemants with projecting lintels, all still visible at No.
67. PBoth houses retain their original bracketed wooden cornices, but the
facadesofbothhwebemcmmedlwsynﬂwdcaidim The areaways retain
their original wrought-iron fences with cast-iron gateposts that are bopped

by anthemia forms. :

Nog, 69 and 7)1 are two early-Italianate style hrick row houses erected c. 1853
B. Nichols, one of the first Brooklyn builders to have beocome

active in the Fort Greene area. Both houses remain substantially intact.

The houses rest on brick basements that: are plerced by pairs of crisply-cut

rectangular windows with iron guards. Wide stone beltoourses (stuccoed at

No. 71) separate the basements fram the first floors and also serve as the

lintels for the basement windows. High stone stoops, originally displaying

cast-iron railings, as at No. 69 originally led to beautiful, recessed round-

arched double doors {(replaced at No. 71). The elegant door lintel . of No.

71 are ornamented with a centrally-placed abstracted foliate form. This is

a Greck Revival motif that is found on many early-Ttalianate houses in the

district. The full-length parlor floor windows and the shorter windows above,

all have flush stone lintels and simple stone sills (parlor floor sills
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stuccoed at No. 71). A bold wooden cornice with modillions and foliate
brackets completes the campogsition. The neo-Grec style door lintel at No.

69 was added later in the nineteenth century. Only No. 69 retains its
original areaway cast-iron fence.

The remainder of the block is not included in the aistrict.
FOOTNOTES

1. Henry R, Stiles, The History of the '6f Kings and the City of
Brooklyn, New-York (New York: W.W. Mmsell & OO., d), p. 949,

-
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69~71, The Roanoke Apartments;
attrlh;ted .o Montrose Morris,
architect, ¢.1890.

Below: 24-26; Montrose Morris,
architect, 1893.

Photo credit: Andrew
S. Dolkart, Landmarks
Preservation Camm-
ission
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South Oxford Street was named for Oxford Street amd Oxford Circus in London.,
London's Oxford Street was built up in thé eighteenth century with terrace
housing, mansions and cammercial buildings. The street runs at right

angles to John-Nash's Regent's Street, meeting thia major thoroughfare at
Nash's Oxford Circus.

SOUTH OXFORD STREET, west side between Lafayette ardd DeKalb Averues.

Nos. 2-4 South Oxford Street and 153, 154, and 155 DeKalb Averue.  These five,
very narrow neo~Grec houses were designed mlwmmokl
architect Marshall J. Morrill for Samuel F. Engs. Morrill was born in
Danville, Vermont in 183)l. His father, Amos C. Morrill, was a builder ard
mrshallmrkedwithMmfortenyearsbefommvhqtofbmoﬂyninlsso. In
1860 Morrill began to work with' builder James Grim Steed and upon Steed's

death in 1868 he set up his own practise. Morrill worked throughout Brooklyn,
primarily in the neo-Grec style, and there are examples of his work in the
Oobble Hill, Brocklyn Heights, Carroll Gardens and Park Slope Historic Districts.

" Nos. 2, 4, 153 and 154 are identical two-bay, four-story residences with

ornate incised aecoration. Narrow stoops with cast-iron balustrades and
square nevel-posts lead to double doors that are recessed into ornate en-
framements. These enframements exhibit incised plers, stylized hrackets and
lintels incorporating pediment forms. Each basement has a single rectangular
window with a grooved molding. 'l'heparlarfloarwindmahmreenfrmments
identical to those of the doorways. These enframements rest on blocks
flanking recessed panels that are supported on projeating bracketed sills.
The second floor enframements are similar to those below except that the
plers are unornamented and grooved sills are supported on incised corbel blocks.
The third and fourth floor enframsments have more traditional pedimented
lintels. The houses are crowned by wooden hracketed cornices with half-wheel
ornaments on their fascias.

. The corner house, No. 155, has a central entrance on DeKalb Avenue with
a stoop running parallel to the street. Above the door are extramely narrow
double windows. The bay on this facade is flanked by paired windows. The
South Oxford Street facade displays a single bay of paired windows, All of
the enframaments and the cornice of ‘No. 155 are similar to those on the other
honges, Only No. 153 retains its original irormork.

Nos, 6-12 are a row of four Italianate brawnstones, three of which have
mansarded fourth stories of a later date. ‘The houses were erected c. 1864 by
Brooklyn uilder John Doherty, None of these buildings is totally intact,
although No. 8 retains mogt-of its original features including its paneled
round-arched door enframement with segmental-arched pediment resting on
foliate brackets (stripped here, but original at No. 10). Abowve the rusticated
bagement of No. 8 rise full length parlor floor windows with table sills and
eyehrow lintels, both supported on hrackets (brackets stripped at No. 8, ut

b
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lintel brackets are original -at Nos. 6 and 10 and s8ill brackets are original
at No. 10), The upper story windows are ornamented by evebrow lintels and
molded sills. A wooden bracketed cornice with segmental)-arched and paneled
fascia crowns the house. Nos. 6 and 10 have late 19th-century hox stoops with
classical ornament; No. 12 has had 21l of- its window lintels stripped and all
of the houses have lost their original cast irarmork. The slate mansards
that were added to Nos. 8-12 have two dormer windows, but each pair of
domers is different ag are the sizes of the slatee, thus leading to the
conclusion that the mansards were added at different times. The dormers at No.
8 are round-arched with triangular pediments, the doxmers at No. 10 have orn-
amented pilasters flanking twelve-over-one windows beneath segmental-arched
pediments; those at No. 12 have seagmental arches with eyebrow pediments. In
1864 No. 8 was sold to Ellen E. Wilcox, No. 10 to R.F. Mason and No. 12 to
James W, Shanahan, a New York City hardware merchant.

No. 14 was huilt ¢. 1864 by John Doherty and is-almost identical to 8-12

South Oxford Street. The major difference between this house and its neighbors
is that each window opening at No. 14 has a full paneled enframement. The
details, such as the high stoop, decorative enframements with foliate hrackets
and seqmental-arched pediments at the doorway, eyelrow lintels at the windows,
rusticated basement with round-arched windows, keystone and iron quards,

and the bracketed wooden cormice are typical of Italianate row houses erected
in Brocklyn . in the 1860s. In 1864 Doherty sold this house to real estate agent
Daniel McCabe who sold it in 1865 to John B. Oole, a New York City bag

Nogs. 16-20 are a Fow of simple Italianate brownstones built c. 1864. No. 16
can be attributed to Brooklyn builder Robert Bommett and the rest of the row .
was probably also built by him, The doorways are topped by molded slab -
lintels that rest on emal) conmole hrackets. "i~h rusticated basements are
cut by rectangular windows with iron guards (missing at No. 20). Projecting
beltoourses separate the basement from the upper stories. The full length
parlor floor windows have projecting sills and molded eyebrow lintels. Wooden
hracketed cornices with paneled, segmental-arched fascias camplete the row. -
All of the stoop walls, areaway parapets and irormork are later additions.

In 1864 Bonnett sold No. 16 to Henry W, Starr, a firearms manufacturer. No.
18 was the home of Lewis A. Parsons, a Manhattan jeweler. .

No. 22 is an early Ytalianate brick structure that was probably arected in
the early 1850s. No. 24, now part of the double house at 26, originally was
similar tn design to this house. The building iz three stories raised on a
high stone basement. Its ornament is very simple with double doors, a stone
door lintel resting on console hrackets, and flush lintels and projecting
sills on the upper stories. Most interesting are the Greek Revival-inspired
fintels of the full length first floor windows. The classical curving motif
of these lintels is a holdover from the earlier style and is found on

many early-Italianate buildings in the district.
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No. 26 is actually two houses (Nos., 24-26) that were combined in 1893 by

Rew York City leather merchant Frank Healey and provided with a new facade

by architect Montrogse Morris. Morris was "an architect whose work has given

t0 Brookiyn many of the handgsome private structures that grace the fashionable
sections of the city." 1 Morris was born in Hempstead, L.I., and studied with .
the prominent New York architect Charles-W. Clinton (architect of the Apthorp
and Langham Rpartments, both New York City lLandmarks) for eight years. In 1883
he opened his -own very successful office in New York City, although almost all
of his work was done in Brooklyn. Morris was one of the most sophisticated prac-
titioners of the Romanesque Revival style in Brooklyn. Among Morris' most not-
able structures built in this style are the Henry C. Hulbert Residence (1892)

in the Park Slope Historic Distritt and the Arbuckle Residence (1888) on
Clinton Avenue as well as row houses on DeKalb Averue in Clinton Hill and Han-
cock Street in Bedford-Stuyvesant. The Roancke Apartments on the east side of
South Oxford Street is attributed to Morris. In the 1890s Morris began to
design buildings in a Classical Revival style. Frequently limestone, these
buildings are often grand in conception, ut cold and precise in their om-~
amentation. Many of Morris® Classical Revival style structures are found on
Eighth Avenue, ‘and on. Prospect Park West in the Park Slope Historic District.

No. 26 combines two houses that were built at different times during the

I5th Century: No. 24 was an Italiapate style structure huilt in the early
1850s as one of a pair with No. 22, No. 26 was one of three neo-Grec houses
(Nos. 26-30) designed hy Charles Werner in 1879. The Morris-—designed facade.
is fairly austere and is made most notable by the play of its angled and curved-
bay facade. The facade that was originally No. 26 now steps out in an angled
fashion to connect with No. 24, No. 24 now has a two story curved bay rising
fram a basement. The entire house is three stories high raised on a planar,
smooth-faced limestone basement. A box stoop with follate corbels ard a
classically-carved placque on its front facade leads to the doorway. The entire
first floor is built of rusticated limestone with altermnating bands of narrow
and wide stone blocks, a favorite devise of 'Morris. All of the rectangular
vwindows on this level have stone transom bars and flat arches splayed

with rusticated voussoirs and keystones. The upper floors of the house are of
smooth-faced limestone. On the secord story are two oval whivlows with florid
enframements that enliven the facade. On this floor the angled bay is marked
by four fluted Ionic pilasters raised on paneled bases and supporting a full
entablature with a projecting cornice. These filasters flank rectangular
transomed windows recessed behind leaf moldings. The swelled bay has similar
pilasters, but they support an entablature with a fasces design in the frieze
and a modillioned cornice surmounted by a balustrade. The crisply-cut rec-
tangular window openings of the third floor are unormamented with the exception
of the window above the curved bay which is divided into three parts by Ionic
oolums. The entire facade is crowned by a galvanized-iron modillioned cornice
w:l.tlg balustrade. A fourth floor has been added abowve the old No. 26.

Nos. 28-30 &are the two remaining neo-Grec houses of a row of three designed by
Charles Werner for the huilders Litchfield & Dickinson. Other examples of o
houses designed by this architect for these huilders can be found on South
Elliott Place and South Portland Avenue, These houses are typical of the neo-
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Grec structures built in Brocklyn in the 1870s. Among the most notable
facade elements are bold cast-iron railings and newel-posts (missing at No.
28) , .angled bays, full enframements with incised ornamentation and wooden
cornices with stylized brackets. 'No. 28 has had a mansard roof with three
dormer windows added, and it has been painted an imappropriate white. In
1882 No. 28 was sold to Orrisk Eldredge, a New York City dry goods merchant.

Nos, 32-34 were originally three-story Italianate hrownstones with basements -
arected ¢. 1864 by builder Richard Claffy. The houses have been stripped of
all of their moldings and have had their stoops removed. Basement entrances
and fourth stories have been added to each building. In 1864 Claffy sold both
houses to real estate broker Daniel McCabe who so0ld No. 32 to James Galway, -
a fruit dealer, and No. 34 to Samuel N. Stebbins, an insurance agent.

No. 36. Like Nos. 32-34, No. 36 was once a three-~story Italianate residence
with basement, built c. 1864. The house has heen totally altered and
retains no orndmental evidence of its Italianate origins. *

Nos, 38-40 are a pair of Italianate houses huilt c. 1864 by Richard Claffy.
are typical of the Italianate style, although hoth have lost

some of their original detail. 2Among the more notable ornamental features of

the facades are round-arched door enframements with segmental-arched pediments,

rusticated basements, eyebrow lintels, and brackebed wooden cornices. In

1865 No. 38 was sold to Thomas Porter a New York City button mamufacturer, and

No. 40 to Gilbert G, Guild who manufactured ocombs.

Nom. 42-64. These twelve buildings were all originally three-story Italianate
residences. MNos. 42-50, 54, 60 and 64 are all now four stories high and have
been stripped of all detailing and covered with modern hrick veneers. Nos.
52 has been stucooed, stripped of ‘all of its original ormament, and has had

a fourth story added. : o

Although stripped, No. 56 retains its original windows and wooden cornice.

No. 62 has also been stripped, hut retains its stoop (railings are late 19th
century) , double doors, windows, basement window guards and cornice. Only
No. 58 stil]l retains its holdly carved Italianate details. Here’the stoop
leads to round-arched double doors recessed behind a paneled enframement with
a seqgmental-arched pediment supported .on foliate brackets and keystone. Full
paneled enframements with eyehrow lintels and foliate brackets surround the
windows, and a long table sill projects below the floor length parlor windows.
The stoop and areaway irorweek 1s'of a later pericd.

The buildings were erected by Brooklyn builders Richard Claffy, John
Flanagan, Robert Cornolly and Thomas Fagan, all of whom sold the lots to each
other thus making an attribution to a single builder difficult. WNo. 44 was
originally owned by Joseph H. Cunningham, an alcoho) merchant, No. 48 by -
John H. Frost, an importer, No. 50 by Birdseye Blakeman, president of the
Mrerican Book Co., No. 52 by James E. Raymond, a dry goods merchant, No. 54
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by Cha:cles R. Thayer, No. 56 by James H. Redfield of the silverplate business,
No. 62 by E.H. Fosdick, adressgoodsmchantarﬂbb. 60 by Henry W. Derby.
Allofﬂmeseuenumkedinlﬂewmrkclty '

The apartment house at No. - 66-74 is outside of the district.

SOUTH OXFORD STREET, east side between DeKalb and Lafayette Averues.

Nos. 1-15 (No. 3 has been cmitted from the street mmbering). This row of
seven very grand Italianate row houses was erected ¢. 1869 by Brooklyn builder
William A. Brush. The unified grouping 6f four-story brownstones raised on
rusticated basements forms an extremely impressive entry to the street. All
ofthelnusesareidmticalintheirdetailimvdththee:mptionofm.
vhich has been stripped and has had its stoop removed and No. 1 which has a row
of quoins at its corner. The houses have high stoops that were originally
lined with cast-iron.balustrades as at No. 5 and newel-posts (all missing).

The stoops lead to round-arched double doors, best preserved at No. 7. These
doors are set within holdly carved enframements composed of paneled .piers and
foliate hrackets and ledystones with cartouches. The enframements are

crowned by pediments. Each level of each house has a different type of
window enframement, with linte) forms that beoome flatter as one moves up the
facade. The rectangular basement windows with their iron guards have simple
architrave moldings as enfrzmements. On the parlor floor, full length windows
have paneled plers and pediments that are supported by foliate krackets
flanking recessed panels. Each of these windows has a table sill resting on
large foliate hrackets that also flank recessed panels. All of the upper
stories have paneled enframements with molded sills resting on small corbel
blocks, - On the second floor segmental-arched lintels are supported by foliate
brackets that flank a narrow horizontal panel., On the thind floor umusual slabs
lintels topped by eyebrows are supported on simple incised hrackets while on
the top level slab lintels are also supported on incised brackets. Each
house 1s crowned by an  impressively scaled bracketed cornice with a paneled
fascia. The DeKalb Averue facade on No. 1 is faced in brick. In the center
of the first floor of this facade is a one-story, three-sided wooden oriel.
The three tiers of windows on this quoined facade all have brownstone en-
framements identical to those of the front facade. The roof of the house

is peaked and provides for an attic that is pilerced by centrally placed
arched windows with simple brownstone enframements. All of the stoop walls
and masonry newel-posts are later additions. Only Nos. 1 and 5 retain small
pleces of their original cast-iron areaway railings. In 1869 Brush sold No.

1 to Bverson M. Knowles, a stockbroker .who moved to this house from 33

South Oxford Stwreet, No..7 to Francis $. Smith, a publisher, No. 9 to Nathaniel
W. Burtis, a hardware and crockery merchant, and No. 11 to James B. Ames.
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Nos. 17 and 19 are four-story hrownstone houses with basements evectedcc.
william A. Brush. This pair of Italianate houses is very similar in
feeling to the Brush houses at 1-15, No. 19 pretains most of its original
decorative forms, but No. 17 has had its.ornament stripped. No. 19 is
ornamented with typical Italianate details including a door enframement with
paneled piers, foliate brackets and keystone supporting a pediment. The full
length parlor windows of this house have paneled enframements with pedimented
lintels, and sills that rest on paneled blocks that flank another recessed
panel. The blocks rest on wide horizontal moldings supported on corbels.
The upper story windows have paneled enframements with slab lintels resting on
ornate console hrackets and projecting sills supported on corbel blecks. Both
houses have bracketed wooden cornices. The stoop wallg, areaway parapets and
irorwork are later additions to the bu:.ldings

Nos. 218rﬂ25 {(No. 23 has heen omitted fmtlmstreetmnmermg) These
houses are a pair of French Second Empire Structures erected c. 1871 by the
bullding firm of Powell & lLowden. The houses are three stories above high
rusticated basements and surmounted by slate mansards., The facades are
crnamented with detailing typical of Italianate and Seécond Empire houses.
These forms include segmental-arched basement windows with iron gquards, eye-

brow lintels, table sills, cast~iron balustrades and octagonal ruewel—posts
(alltnissmgatm. 21), and round-ayched dnor enframements with paneled
piers, bold foliate b:ackets and gegmental-arched lintels., Each house origi.nally
had a cornice (removed) on which the mansard rested. Each mansard is pierced
by two round-arched dormers with triangular pediments. A.line of iron crestw-
ing extends along the ridge of the mansard. .'The hrewmatrona of both houses
has spalled badly and both houses are in need of immediate attention. At
No. 21 the stoop walls, areaway parapets, iremwork and third mansard window
are all later additions to the house, mlﬁ?lm.zlmsaoldtzonr.
Harris Teller.

No, 27 is an atypical Italianate residence erected in the 1860s. As with .
matItalimteMmesofﬂxeperiodﬂxehxﬂdimisﬂmeesboriesabwea
high rusticated basement and uses such typical ferms as flat window lintels
ard molded sills all carried on brackets, paneled double doors, a bracketed
oornice and a pedimented doorway enframement with ornate foliate brackets and
keystones and paneled piers and spandrels. Mwnmmlmthetiree-sided.
full height quoined hay that articulates the facade, This is the only
Italianate house in the district that uses this bay form. The original cast-

iron newel-posts and areaways are missi.ng, but the balustraded stoop railings
are intact

No. 29hasbemanittedfrunthestreetmxrherh‘n;

. 31-4] are six transitional Greek Revival/Italianate row houses erected
0s.

Nos. 31, 33 and 35 were erected ¢. 1853 by True Rollins, No. 37 ¢. 1853 by
George W. Brown, and Nos. 39 and 41 c. 1857 by Augustus Knowlton, all Brooklyn
hallders. The houses are three-story brick bulldings above rusticated stone
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basements (stucocoed over at Nos. 33, 35, 39 and 41). Although not bailt

as a wified grouping all of these houaes originally exhibited similar
details including stoops (removed at No. 33), Greek Revival cast-and wrought-
iron stoop ra;.lx.ngs:.slerﬂer cast-iron newel-posts (as at Nos., 37, 39 and

4l1) , iron basement winfow guards, simple door lintels that rest on foliate
brackets (as at Nos. 31 and 37) » Greek Revival-inspired parlor floor

window lintels (extant at Nos.' 37 and 41, but only the ghosts of these lintels
are visible on'most of the other houses), simple molded lintels on the upper
stories (shaved at Nos. 33, 37 and 41) bracketed wooden corices and

‘cast- and wrought-iron areaway railings (removed at Nos. 31, 33 and 39). Nos.
3% and 41 have later 1%th-century pressed-metal door lintels. At No. 35

Italianate stoop railings and a grand brownstone door enframement with attanﬁted

console hrackets have been added. This house was the residence of builder
True Rollins. Rollins was a prolific Brooklyn builder best known for having
erected, the Surgeon's House at the Brooklyn Navy Yard (1863), a designated New
York City Landmark. In 1853 No. 31 was sold to Joseph Havens, a merchant.

No. 43 is an ehrly Italianate brick building raised on a rusticated basement.
se was erected c. 1855 by builder Augustus Knowlfon. In 1862 the
building became the residence of John Kellum, cne of the most distinguished
architects in New York City and Brooklyn during the mid-19th century. Kellum
(1807-1871) achieved fame as the architect for department store magmate A.T.
Stewart. Xellum designed Stewart's second store, a mommental cast-iron
structure built in 1859-62 on Broadway and 10th Street, as well as Stewart's
palatial mansion (both demolished). Kellum was born in Hempstead, Long
Island, where he began work as a carpenter. Be moved to Brooklyn where he
becare foreman for Gamaliel King who eventually took him into a partnership.
King & Kellum designed the cast-iron Cary Building (1856) on Church, Chambers
and Reade Streets, and the Friends Meeting House (1859) on Gramercy Park, now
the Brotherhood Synagogue and a designated landmark. In the 1871 edition-of.
Appleton's Anmual Cyclopedia it was noted that Kellum "was acknowledged to
be the most camplete master of the renaissance style, as well as of classical
architecture in its adaptation to business purposes, in this country™ <.
Arong the extant buildings that he designed alone are six in the SoHo-Cast
Iron Historic District, the old McCreey's Dry Goods Store (1868) on Broadway .
ard 11th Street and the Tweed Courthouse (1872). In Brooklyn Kellum designed
a rumber of cast-iran store fronts on Fulton Street as’well as Brooklyn's City
Hall (now Borough Hall). RAlthough Kellum lived in Brooklyn, most of his known

Kellum's house is a simple Italianate structure most notable today for
its cast-iron railings, newel-posts and gateposts, all of which are totally, in-
tact and beautifully maintained. The most interesting ormamental details are
the slab door lintel-resting on foliate hrackets, the hracketed cormice with
its strapwork fascia, and the bracketed table sills. All of the window lintels
have bzen stripped. The lintels of the parlor floor seem to have had the
rrofile of the Greek Revival style lintels found at 37 and 41 South Oxford
Street, as well as elsewhere in the district.
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Mo, 45-51 were erected c. 1856 by local builder True Rollins. These four
houses are fairly simple Italianate’ brownstones with umical door enframements
and cornices. . The original enframement is best seen at No. 47. This en-
framement has a flat lintel that rests on square rosette blocks. These
blocks are mpported by stylized hrackets resting on plers, each pier having
two incised grooves. The lintel is raised above a segmental-arched panel
withinsetpsmﬂo—spandrelandpsmﬂo—kevm muueeof stylized forms and
incised detailing is quite early, such motifs not generally becaming popular
until the 1870s. The lovely wooden cornices with their foliate brackets and
strapwork fascias are identical to the cornice at No. 43, but they are found
nowhere else in the district. Other Italianate forms include the rusticated
basements, iron basement window guards and molded upper story window lintels
ard sills. All of the stoop walls, areaway parapets and iromwork are later
additions. At No. 45 the ddorway enframement and parlor floor window moldings
have been strippaxd of their decorative ornament, and the basement has been
stuocoed so as to lose the effect of the chamnelled rustication. In

1856 tRis house was sold to Elias Braman. At No. 47 the brownstone is .
spalling very badly and the malti-sash windows arealater addition. The
original resident of this house was Walter Greenough, an auctioneer who
.worked on Wall Street. 2% No. 49 the rosette blocks have been stripped and two
of the soond floor lintels removed. No. 51, owned originally by Charles C.
Duncan, a Wall Street ocoamercial merchant,)has had its stoop removed, abase-
ment entrance added and all of its window lintels shaved.

No. 53 is an Ttalianate row house erected c. 1855 by True Rollins. The house
has lost most of its original detailing, retaining only the round arch and
spandrels of its doorway enframement, its cast-iron areaway railing, iron
basement window quards, amd wodden hracketed cornice.

Nos. 55-61 are four Italianate brownstones eregted c. 1863 by Brooklyn builder
. ly. These houses are typical of the modest Italianate structures
being erected in Brooklyn for middle~class families during the 1860s. None of
these three-story houses retaing all of its original detail. Originally raised
on rusticated basements (as at Nos. 57 and 59) pierced by segmental-arched win-
dows with iron quards (at Nos. 57, 59 and 61) the houses have paneled doorway
enframements topped by eyebrow lintels (partially intact at Nos. 57, 59 and 61)
resting on foliate brackets (at No. 59) and raised above seqnental—arched
elements with incised panels (at Nos. 57, 59 and 61). The full length parlor
floor windows have projecting sills (at Nos. 55 and 57) and eyebrow lintels
(at Mos. 55, 57 and 59) resting on foliate brackets (at No. 59). Al of the
houses retain their upper story eyebrow lintels and Nos. 57 and 59 have their
original molded sills. All but No. 55 retain their wooden.bracketed cornices.
No. 55 was originally the house of ILuke T. Merrill, No. 57 of Theodore Luthris,
a New York City leather merchant, No. 59 of Oscar F. Chapman, and No. 61 of
New York City grocer Richard Williams.

Nos. 63-67 were built c. 1862 for Joseph Greerwood, a lawyer who lived on
Renmsen Street in Brooklyn Heights and who spectitated in Brooklyn real estate.
No. 67 has lost all of its original Italianate form. Nos. 63 and 65, although
substantially altered, still retain some original detailing. The cast-iron
stoop rallings are extant at No. 65. Both houses retain their pedimented
doorway enframements and at No. 63 the enframement, although stuccoed, still
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exhibits its paneled piers and incised brackets., All 6f the windowen- .
framements have been lost. The original modillioned cornice with its paneled
fascia remains at No. 65. In 1862 Greerwood sold No. 63 to Letitia Hebert, a
large landowner in the area. She sold the house to Albert L. Scott, a

- _c].othingmerchant. in 1866, No 65msaoldtobrakerJde Norris.

No. 69~71., The magnificently massed Roanoke Apartments was the finest
multiple dwelling built in the Fort Greene District. This superb building
designed c. 1890, can be attributed, on stylistic grounds, to architect
Montrose Morris (see 26 South Oxford Street). The choice of Remanesque
Revival details, and the manner in which they have been employed isusimilar
to that found on many contemporary Morris-designed buildings in nearby
sections.of Brooklyn. When it was huilt the apartment house was five stories
tall and was called the San Carlos. The sixth story was added in the early
20th century, atwhichﬁmthemmewasmobablychamedtomke.

Mbamtarﬂfiretfloorlevelsofthemﬂdhgxarecmstnwtedof
bards of rock-faced stone with alternating bbmds of wide' and narrow stone
blocks, a favorite device of Morris. The flrst floor is pierced by three
wide segmental arches with bold voussoirs. A curving stoop leads to the
central arch which contains a recessed entry, while the other arches are

‘filled with angled window groupings and Byzantine style carved panels. ‘The
. hame "Roancke" is inscribed on a ribbon-panel placed above the central arch.

Carved corbels of Byzantine desian rest on the flanking arches and support
two-story swelled bays that are surmounted by balustrades. The second, third
and fourth stories are built of rock-faced brick with heavy rock-faced stone
beltcourses that serve as window lintels and sills. The brick piers between
the windows of the bays are ormamented with stone capitals. On the second
floor level the windows of the central tier are separated by rows of dwarf
colums, an ornamental device favored by Morris. On the thiid floor two
columns with carved ‘capitals create a loggia effect, another Morris device,
Although not bayed the corners of the fourth story are curved at their edges
in the same manner as the bays 6f the floors below. This level exhibits brick-
work used to give the effect of quoins as well as three sets of angled windows
recessed into crisply cut openings surmounted flat arches with splaved rock-
faced stone voussoirs. On the £ifth floor a colomnade mmns in front of the

window openings and supports scalloped impost blocks and a full entablature.

The frieze of the galvanized-iron entablature is ornamented with ornate
Byzantine decoration and is topped by an extracrdinarily deep hracketed cornice.
The additional sixth story is faced with pressed-metal panels ornamented with
clageical foliate decoration and topped by a small modillioned cornice.

No. 73 is an Italianate row house that has lost all evidence of its original
desgign with the exception of the projecting side hay with its modillioned
cornice

SOUTH OXFORD STREFT, east side between Lafayette and Greene Avenues.

Nos,77-93 is the side elevation of the Lafayette Avenue Presbyterian
Thurch described at 102-108 Lafayette Avenue,
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FOOTNOTES

1. Henry B. Howard, editor, The Ragle anad Brooklyn' History of the City

From its Settlement to the Present ‘I'me,__@i:odclyn- Brookiyn Daily Eagie,
Y8937, p. 220.

2. D, Appleton & Co., Anmial Qrclopedia 1871, Vol. XI {New York: D. Appleton
& Co,, 1872).
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24-32; Thomas B. Jackson, builder, c.1864.

30; doorvay lintel; Lawrcnce Kane, huilder, ¢.1867.
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South Portland Avenue was named for Portland Place in ILondon. Portland Place
was laid out in 1774 with the idea of building a street of palaces. This
ideafailedarﬂinstead,mmmauyapacimmmwrmaesmreerectedlatein
the 18th century, many designed by Robert Adam. In John Nash's executed plan
for Georqian London, Portland Place became the connection between Regent
- Street and the Regents Park Terraces. The scale of many of the houses on
Smthmrﬂmﬂhmmmkesﬂwuseofﬂlem“mrtlmﬁ"mstappmpﬁahe.‘

M&m& west side between DeKalb and lafayette Avenues.

m.zisavacantlctmusedasate@rarypark The house that stood
mmislotmﬁsapartofthemt}mtmhuchﬁesm, 4-6.

s, 4-6. 'Ihesetmoba:omsmdmllirgsmreerecbedc. 1872 by Brooklyn
Lawrence Kane (see 29-31% South Elliott Place). No. 4 is three-and-
ane-half stories high with basement and has a mansard roof, while No. 6 is
a full four stories and basement. No. 6 retains moch of its original
Ttalianate detailing. At this house a wide stoop with heavy cast-iron balus-
trades leads to a pair of double doors. The doors are recessed into an en-
framement: that has lost most of its original ornament,but still retains its
ammtedlintelmﬂkeysminme form of a face. Rising above the rusti-
cated bagsement with two segmentsal+«awched windows is &8 smoth-faced four-
story brownstone facade. All of the windowa have full énframements with un-
usual segmental-arched lintels that are topped with flat and inversely-arched
rmoldings., 'This interesting form is frequently used by Kane. The brackets of
the window lintels have been strippad. All of the windows except those on the
top floor are segmental .arched, The dgarlanded cornice is a later addition.
At No. 4 the stoop and cornice have been removed and all of the moldings
shaved, although their shadows are still evident. Tha slate mansard of this
house is pierced by a pair of pedimented doxmers., In 1872 Kane sold both
houses-Ho. 4 to Biward P. Hatch and No. 6 to George Crary, a grocer.

Nog, 8 and 10 are similar in detail to Nos. 4-6 and were also erected by
lawrence Kane (see 29-31) South Elliott Place), No. 8, c. 1869, and No. 10,
c. 1873. Both of these boldly-detailed Ttaliamate houses remain substantially
intact. No. 8 is a four-story structure, with basement while No. 10 is only
threesstories high with a basement. The high stoops with cast-iron balus-
4wades and octagonal newel-posts topped by balls (newel-posts missing on all
railings except for one at No. 10) have basement entrances on their south
faces and a round-arched panel on their north sides. The door arrangement at
No. 10 with' fts recessed round-arched paneled double doors is original. The
ornate doorway enframements esthibit inset oblong panels and arcuated lintels
that rest on florid @oliate hrackets and keystones, each with small banded
cartocuches, Both of these houses have tall rusticated basements with paired
segmental-arched windows. Below the basament windows is an unusual course of
deeply-cut rectangular panels with raised oblongs (stuccoed at No. 8). The

1}
\
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loor-length segmental-arched parlor floor windows have enframements that:
are quite similar to those 6f the doorway ekcept that they make use of an
urmsual lintel form peculiar to Kane's buildings. This lintel has a flat
top flanked by curving concave elements. The continuous table sills of these
parlor floor windows are extremely deep and rest on foliate brackets, each
of which also exhibits a cartouche. The upper story enframements are similar
in form to those below. The lintels on the upper floors are raised above
recessed elements with keystones on the second floor and inset panels on
both floors. The brackets on the second and third floors are much simpler than
those below. These brackets are ornamented with incised neo-Grec detailing,
the second story hrackets also being ornamented with stylized leaf forms.
The molded sill of the upper floors rest on corbel blocks. The houses are
supmounted by bold bracketed cornices with oblong panels that echo the oblong
foum:i of i:;e enframements and basement. All of the ordginal areaway railings
are missing. _

‘J .

In 1869 Kane sold No. 8 to James Howell, Jr., Brooklyn's nineteenth mayor.
Howell was born in 1829 in Wiltshire, England, and mhigrated tn the United
States at the age of six., He grew up in Chio, moving to Brooklyn in 1845,
Howell became an apprentice at an iron foundry and in 1855 opened his om
foundry, Howell & Saxton, which became quite successful. In 1864 Howell
mselectsd'&mewisorofﬂemmthm:dmﬁmm?abacmememauc
‘myorofBrooklyn,aposttlmtheheldform,mo-yeartems

- In 1873 No. 10 was sold to Peter Cummings, a New York City actuary.

Bos. 12 and 14 are Italianate residences bullt by Lawrence Kane (see 29-31%
South Elliott Place), c. 1868. This pair of huildings is simpler than many
of the other Kane structures on the street. The houses are three stories
resting on sunken rusticated basements that are plerced by segmental-arched
wiridows with iron guards. The areaway of No. 12 had been raised almost to
the window level. The round-arched dcorway enfremements with their paneled
plers and foliate hrackets (stripped at No. }4) and foliate keystones. support-
ing segmental-arched pediments are typical of the Italianate style. The

- narrow, full-length, segmental-arched parlor floor windows are ornamented by
eyebrow lintels and deep table sills all of which rest on foliate hrackets.
(the lintel brackets of No. 12 have been stripped). All of the upper windows
mmlmwlsmwmmmmmﬂmldedsillsmmn
ocoxbel blocks. A wooden cornice with segmental-arched fascia and foliate
brackets surmounts No. 14. The cornice at No, 12 is of later date. Heavy
cast-iron balustrades and octagonal newel-posts topped by iron balls once
ormtedalloftlmstmpsmdareways. Only No. 12 retains the original
stoop railing. ‘

Nos, 16-20. Frected c. 1861, Nos. 16-20 are typical Italianate row houses,
designed by Thomas B, Jackson, the most prolific builder/architect in the
@istrict. Although all of the huildings retain their Italianate character, .
none is totally intact. High stoops, originally ocrnamented with cast-iron
railings, lead to recessed double doors with rectangular transome. No. 18

has a particularly fine carved leaf molding surrounding the doors. At No.

16 the doorway enframement has paneled plers and follate hbrackets that support
a slab lintel surmount by an wmsual projecting element. The enframements

at Nos. 18-20 have been partly stripped. Above the rusticated basements with
their segmental-arched windows (with original iron guards at No. 20) are full-
length, segmental-arched parlor floor windcws with table sills and #lab lintel,
all originally on hrackets. The second flom: windowa have aegnenral arches
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and exthibit shallow raised eyebrow lintels and molded sills. The third - :
floor windows are also segmental-arched and have molded sills, but no lintels.
A wooden cornice with a very large arched fascia, modillions and foliate
hrackets supporting blocks surmounts each  house, although that at No. 18

has been altered. All of the stoop walls, areaway apets, and iromwork

are later additions. All three houses were sold in/ 1861-62. No. 20 was
purchased by lLather Chapin a New York City straw gobds merchant.

Nos, 22 and 24 arevwery:similar to Nos. .16-20 South Portland Avenue and were -
also built by Thomas B, Jackson, ¢. 1864, No. 24 retains most of its original
details, mehmsesamthreeatoriesrestingontall, rusticated base-
ments with crisply cut round-arched windows with keystones and iron guards
(original at No. 22). ‘The high stoops originally led to paneled double doors
beneath round~arched transoms. The doors are surrounded by a finely carved
lotus-leaf moldingy. The paneled doorway enframements are swrmounted by

low segmental-arched padiments that rest on foliate brackets {(enframement
stripped at No. 22). The full length parlor floor windows are adorned with
table sills and eyebrow lintels, all resting on foliate ‘brackets (stripped

at No, 22), The second floor windows have segmental arches and exhibit
shallow raised eyebrow lintels and molded sills. The third floor windows

are also segmental-arched and have molded sills, but no lintels. Bracketed

. comices with bead and reel rims surmount each house.

Nos, 26-32 were erected c. 1867 by Lawrence Kane (see 29-31% South Elliott
Place) and are very similar to Nos. 4-10 South Portland Averme. With

the exxeption of the door lintel and keystone at No. 32, all four houses are
identical and all use the baroque forms favored by Kane, Typical high
stoops, all originaly ornamented with cast-iron balustrades and octagonal
newel-posts topped by iron balls, as at No. 30, lead to double doors beneath
transoms. Although badly spalled, No, 26 best retains its facade details, -
The pancled piers of the doorway enframement of this house are accented by -
extremely bold foliate brackets and keystone, each bracket-being ornamented
by two banded cartouches., The hrackets support an ornate lintel, identical
to those found on other Kane houses on this block. Here the door lintel is
raised above an incised panel. . The lintel at No. 32 is the arcuated form,
also favored by Kane (see 8 and 10 South Portland Avene) and the keystone of
this door enframement is omamented by abanded cartouche. At.No. 26 the
typical tall rusticated hasement has segmental-srched openings that are raised
above inset panels. The basement windows are protected by iron guards and
are ornamented by keystones. A deep table sill, resting on foliate brackets,
separates the basement and parlor floors. The narrow, full length parlor floor
windows and smaller upper story openings are all topped by lintels that

are reduced copies of the door lintel. The upper story windows are further
armamenited by shallow molded sills resting on small corbel blocks. A wooden
cornice with segmental-arched fascia, modillions and ormate foliate brackets
tops this house, The door enframement panels have bheen at least partially
stripped or stuccced at all of the other houses and No. 30 has also lost its
table sill, All four buildings were sold in 1867-68: No. 26 to New York City
lawyer Nathaniel B. Hoxie, No. 28 to New York City shipchandler Jonas Smith
and No, 32 to John H. febert, an oil broker.
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No. 34 is a four-story neo-Grec style house with basement designed by
architect C.B. Sheldon in 1880 for Brocklyn builder George W, Brown., Brown,
who was "in the foremost rank of builders” 1 was born in Columbia, Pennsylvania,
in 1825 and came to Brooklyn in 1842. He erected a large mtber of houses
along Fulton Street and Lafayette Averme, but was ruined in the panic of 1857.
His business revived in the 1860s, and Stiles reported that "his name is
attached tomrgcmweyamesofrealestateﬂmnthntofanyotmrmnm
Kings Coun wanerectednmxyItalianatea:ﬂrm—Gmcstylekmsesin
the Fort Greene district.

The original stoop of No. 34hasbeenra‘rmadandrep1acedbyaneo—

Qlassical basement entrance with a segmental-arched pediment. The neo-Grec
doorway -enframement, however, still survives with its incised brackets support-
ing an eared lintel with cantral pediment form and decorative incised orna-
mental forms. The most ndtable feature of the house is its full-height,
two~gided, chamfered bay. All of the window openings of/ the houge, with the
2vception of the uncrnamented segrmtal—arcmdbaaemntwmiowswim their
iron.guards have full entablatures with stylized forms that include eared
lintels with central pediment forms, carried on brackets, corbel ‘blocks
beneath the sills, and incised foliate decoration The cornice of the
house has benn removed.

g,36arﬁ38mreerectedc.lﬂﬁﬁ_wnmsB.Jad(mnmﬂareidmticalto
the houses described at Nos. 22-24 South Portland Avenue. As at those houses,
the stoop walls, areaway parapets and iromwork of Nos. 36-38 are later
additions as is the door at No. 36, The brackets of the door at No. 36 and
of the door and window at No. 38 have been stripped. The comice brackets at

No. 36 have also been stripped and No. 38hasbeenprwidedwitha later cornice.

Noa 40-50 were built by Lawrence Kane (see 29-31&)Surl-.h Elliott Place) c. 1864,
arﬁintheiruseofummlarﬂomatedmtive forms they are typical of
Kane's work., Although certain details have been changed, most of the row
remaing as built. The high stoops, segmental-arched door openings with re-
cessed round-arched double doors (removed at No. 40), rusticated basements with
sagmental-arched windows with iron guards (replaced at Nos. 46-48), full-
length’ first floor windows, table sills resting on foliatel'lhwackets (stripped
at No. 42), and the shallow molded sills of the upper story windows are all
typical of Italianate motifs. More umisual are Kane's lintels and extra-
ordinarily ornate lintel and cormice hrackets (altered at No. 50). These

forms are almost identical to those. found at Nos. 26-30 South Portland Avenues.
Nos. 48 and 50 are the only houses of the row to retain their original stoop
irormwork, and only No, 48 has the extremely hesvy, bulbous newel-posts that
mstoodinfmntofeachlnuseofthem No. 46 has an added slate man-
sard roof with a pair of pedimented dormers and ormate cast-iron cresting.

The outer pairs of double doors beneath round-arched transoms at Nos. 42,

4 ard 46 are later additions. The transom at No. 42 was removed from another
house, and the address "270" is still engraved on it. The doors at Nos. 44

and 46 date from c, 1890,

-

In 1865 Kane sold No. 40 to Richard C. Gurney (1846-1903) , a mamber
-oftmmlesalelmnberf m of C.S. Langdon & Oo. of No. 68 Broad Street,
Manhattan; No. 42 was sold in 1865 to Parley A. Dailey a New York City clothi::-
. merchant; No. 46 was sold in 1866 to Pdward L. Kadbfleisch 1837-1905), a
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dealer in chemicals and a Brooklyn Park Commissioner: No. 48 was sold in .
1865 to Chestexr piilings, a jeweler,

¥o8. SZatﬂSQamapairofl'Dusesbuilt'bymwrermKam (see 29-31% South
Pllictt Place) c. 1864, The row is very similar in its decorative details to
Kene's buildings at Nos. 16-20 South Portland Averue. The major difference

between this row and the one discussed earlier is that Nos. 52-54 have eyebrow doc

way. lintels and shallow segmental-arched second floor window lintels rather
than the slab door lintels and shallow syelrow window lintels of Nos. 16-20.
The door lintels of Nos. 52-54 are raised above elements with central rondels
flanked by panels. Other typical Italianate details include the rusticated
basements, floor-length parlor floor windows with slab lintels carried on
foliate brackets, molded sills, and bracketed wooden cornices, with arched
fascias, No. 52 has an early 20th-century glass and iron basement entrance
that replaces one of the basement windows and No. 54 has late 19th-century
stained-glass transom lights in the parlor floor windows, As with many

of the houses on this street, the stocp walls, areaway parapets and irormork
are later additions replacing the original cast-iron eléaments. The earliest
occupants of these houses ware both Manhattan merchants-William Chrisfield

at No, 52 and Walter Alexander Bags at No. 54. Chrisfield only lived here for
a short time before moving to 43. South Portland Avemie,

Nos. 56 and 58 are a pair of neo-Grec style houses designed in 1883, They
are typical of the buildings designed by Charles Wermer for the builders
Litchfield & Dickinson. No.58 retains most of its original form. This
three-bay wide houss is three stories high and is raised on a tall basement.
The areaway and stoop of the building are ornamented by heavy cast-iron
railings with bold newel-posts and gateposts that were all originally topped
by anthemia forms (one newel~post is missing). The stoop leads to a pair of
recessed double doors bensath a segmental-axched transom. The top third of
the doorway enframsment piers are incised with parallel lines that are
topped by square rosettes. Simple incised hrackets and a cove ornamented
by rosettes support a table lintel that serves as a deep sill for the floor-
length second story window above the door. This lintel was originally orn-
amented by a cast-iron cresting, a small part of which is still extant. To
the left of the door is a fall-height, two-sided chamfered bay. At the base-
ment level flat-arched windows in grooved enfrmanenta are topped by

stylized incised lyre forms.

Tha parlor floor level of the bay is treated as a single unit with
tall one-over-one plate glass windows, each flanked by a pilaster ormamented
wikth parallel incised lines on its top third, These pilasters support an
architrave that is ornamented with incised rosettes and stylized lyre forms
that, as on the basement level, serve as pseudo-keystones to the grooved
flat-arched windows. The frieze is ornamented with short vertical incised
lines and is topped by a molded cornice. The chamfered facade of the parlor
floor level also serves as a pilaster and: supports an unornamented entablature.
The windows of the upper floors have full enframements ornamented by incising
and rosettes. The raised and projecting lintels have eared ends and a
centrally located carved and inciséd shield form flanked by ormate incising.
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The wooden cornice of the house, although deteriorating, is notable for its
dwarf colums that support projecting pendants. No. 56hashadafourth ’
story added, its irorwork replaced, and ifs stoop removed and replaced by a
basement entrance. This house was sold in 1884 to Salvatore Cantom., a Wall
Street banker, .

No._60 is the only frame building on South rortland Avenue. Now covered

by stucco, the house is one of the earliest on the street, erected c. 1852 by
William B. Nichols, The house is a simple three-story Italianate style
structure, its most notable feature being its bracketed wooden cornice and |
the lavely areaway irormork. The buildirg had severely deteriorated, but has
recently been restored.

M are a. lovely row of simple hbrick early-Italianate houses built c.
1852 by Brocklyn builder William B. Nichols. Although it has lost its
original stoop amd areaway railings, No. 68 has best retained its original
flavor, ‘The stoop leads to a pair of beautiful paneled double doors topped
by a simple stone lintel. The sunken basement is separated fram the upper
stories by a stone beltocurse that also serves as the lintel for the rec-
tangqular basement windows and the sills for the full-length parlor floor
windows. The basement windows have typical iron guards. All of the upper
story windows have flush stone lintels and simple rectangular projecting
aills. A simple hracketed wooded cormice surmounts the house., BAll of the

- irorwork on the row is of later date, as are &ll of the doors except for that
at No. 68, The pressed-metal window and door lintels at Nos. 62 and 64 are
also. later additions,

2 South Portland Avemue are a pair of early-Italianate houses
erected c, 1853 by George B. Brown, a local builder (see No. 34 South
Fortland Averue). These brick houses are three stories high and rest on
sunken basements. A low stoop,,paired with that at No. 72 leads, at No. 70,
to very fine, recessed, panelad, double doors. There is virtually no orne
ament on the house, All of the openings have simple . flush lintels and the .
windows are articulated by marrow rectanqular sills. A wide stone beltcourse
separates the basement and parlor floors. Both houses are topped by wooden
bracketed cornices, No. 70 retains most of its original Italianate cast-
iron railings. The window sash at No. 70 and the stoop walls, ironwork and
ﬁaedmtaldoorenfrmtmﬂwhﬂmlintelaatm. 72 are all later

The remainder of the block is not included in the district.
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east side between DeKalb and Lafayette Avenues.

Mo. ) South Portland Avenue is the ‘only free-standing mansion in the district.
“fhis impressive house, desioned by the New York City architect Biward Kendall
in 1878 in thé style of a Roman palazzo, is rather late in date for a pure

~ Italianate-style structure. FEdward Kendall (1842-1901) was a praminent

' meamber of the New York City architectural profession in the late 19th century.
Born in Boston, Kendall was educated in a Boston Latin school. After graduation
he entered the office of Boston architects Gridley J.F. Bryant (1816-1899)
and Arthar Gilman (1821-1882), remaining with them until ¢. 1865. In 1868
Kendall and Gilman formed a partnership in New York. This partnership lasted.
for only a year, after which Kendall set up his own practise. Among his more
notable works were the Robert and Ogden Goelet mansions, both on Fifth Avemue,
the Methodist Book Concern on Fifth Avenue and the Washington Building on
Battery -‘Park. He also designed many houses and camercial buildings in New
York and elsewhére, including 57-63 Greene Street (1876-77) and 64-68 Wooster
Street (1898-99), both in the SoHo~Cast Iron Historic District. Kendall was
President of the New York City chapter of the American Institute of Architects
fram 1884-89 and president of the national A.I.A. from l891~92

The brownstone dwelling at 1 South Portland Avenue is a three-story,

three-bay structure. The detailing is cquite restrained giving the building
a simple, rich elegance. A beautifully proportioned stoop leads to a pair
of double doors set beneath a glass transam, and the iron frame of a glass
canopy. The paired doors are turn-of-the-century iron and glass and the inside
double doors are of stained glass and have magnificent hardware. The doorway
enframement is restrained in its use of ornament, with stylized Cawposite
pilasters resting on plinths and supporting a full entablature. The house
sits on a rusticated basament that is separated from the upper floors by a
beltocourse. The erisply cut window openings of the house are all surrourded
by simple enframaments with raised cornices. ,Narrow beltcourses at each level
also serve as window sfils; those of the upper floors are supported by amall
corbel brackets., The parlor floor sills are supported on simple projecting
panels, All of the windows of the central tier are French windows; the other
windows being more typical one-over-one plate-glass units. Ouoins articulate
the ends of the facade and a simple wooden cornice tops the house. The stoop
and areaway are adorned by tall, elegant wrought-iron railings and open-work
newel-posts (the iromwork is probably of a later date). The stucco and brick
south facade is ormamented by stained-glass windows and a curving one-story wooden
congervatory with round-arched windows and a slate roof. The DeKalb Aveme
facade’is huilt of hrick with brownstone detailing and is most notable for its
three-sided, full-height bay with ornamental inset hrick penels, -

The house was built by Horace J. Moody, a Brooklyn builder and real
egstate dealer with offices in Manhattan. The first resident of the house
was Col. Nathan Turmer Sprague (1828-1903), "one of the best known citizens
of Brooklyn." 3 Sprague was born in Mt. Holly, Rutland County, Vermont. In
Varmont he worked in a general store before becoming a prominent local farmer.
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He was president of the Branden Farmers and Mechanics Club, the Vermont
Marion Sheep Breeders Association, and the American Agricultural Society,

as well as heing a Vermont state legislator. Although Sprague bought the
South Portland Street house in 1879, it did not became his permanent residence
until 1883 when he moved to Brocklyn and established the Sprague National

Bank which was located on Atlantic and Peurth Avenues, He later helped to

find the City Savings Bank of Brooklyn locatedmﬂmmmrofmurtharﬂ
Flatkuzh Avrenues, ;

s, 3 and 5 have been omitted from the street mmberinq

No. 7 is a large and impressive transitional Second Pwpire/neo-Grec mansion
erected in 1876 by Brooklyn builder Horace Moody. The quoined, five-bayed
brownstone structure rises three-and-one-half stories above a rusticated
hasement that is plerced by segmental-arched windows with paneled. keystones.

A high 'stoop laeads to a centrally-placed, roumd-arched doorway enframement with
stylized neo-Grec hrackets and keystone supporting a segmental-arched pediment.
The doorway enframement is flanked by pairs of full-length parlor floor
windows that rest on shallow projecting sills. The w:.ndow enframement piers
are paneled and are surmounted by brackets and pediments similar to those
ornamenting the doorway. The upper story windows in the central bay have
hracketed enframements supporting triangular pediments, All of the other win-
dows are crownad by slab lintels. All of the windows on the seocond and third
floors have molded sills resting on small neo-Grec corbel blocks. The house
is topped by a slate mansard roof pilerced by three pedimented dormers (this
floor is abandoned and one doamer has disintegrated). Cast-iron balustrades
and octagonal newel-posts enclose the areaways and line the

stoop, On the brick northern facade of the house is a full height ‘quoined
extension. The original resident of the house was Abram Quereau, acamcial
marchant with offices at 51 Stone Street, New York.

ms._ﬂ_am_llhavebemmttadfmthestreetmmﬂ:erm

Nog, 13-19 canprise a row of four Italianate brownstones erected c. 1866 by
Brooklyn builder Lawrence Kane (see 29-31)% South Elliott Place). With the .
exoeption of the stcop that has been removed at No. 13 the row retains most

of its original details. As withrother Italianate residences, high stoops

Jead to recessed double doors set into round-arched enframements with segmental-
srched pediments that rest on foliate hrackets. The rusticated basements are
plerced by segmental-arched windows that are protected by iron quards (missing
at Nos, 17 and 19). The floor-length parlor windows have table sills and eye-
hrow lintels, all resting on foliate hrackets (sills missing at Nos. 13 and

15 and the lintel hbrackets stripped at No. 19). The upper windows have
shallow raised eyehrow'lintels and molded sills on corbel blocks. Wooden
cernices with modillions and foliate brackets crown each house. All of the
houses were sold by Kane in 1866, No. 17 to George H. Tavlor, a New York City
dry goods merchant.,



F~-HD ' ' =124~
South Portland Avene

23 are a pair of transitional Second Bwpire/neoc-Grec houses erected
¢. 1875 by Lawrence Xane (see 29-31% South Elliott Place). The three-story
houses are raised on tall rusticated basements pierced by segmental-arched
windows and are swmounted by slate mansands. Wide stoops with heavy cast-iron
balustrades and extremely tall, octagmal newel-posts lead to double doors
recessed into ormately-carved door enframements with segmental-arched pediments
The full-length parlor floor windows also have segmental-arched pediments and
these rest on umisual atteruated hrackets (identical to those at No. 7). These
window enframements have continuous table sills supported by foliate hrackets.
The upper story windows are topped by slab lintels. Bracketed wooden cornices
with paneled fascias swrmount the third floor. The mansards rise above
these cornices. Each mansard was originally pierced by two pedimented dormers,
all but one of which has been altered. Both areaways retain their original
cast-iron balustrades and No. 21 has one original gatepost. In 1876 the houses
were so0ld to two New York City merchants, Julius(Freudenthal at No. 21 and
Henry Lesinsky:at No. 23", both of whxm hag offices at 45 Walker Street.

Nos, 25-27 are a pair of transitional Italianate/neo-Grec brownstone houses
that, like thelir neighbors at Nos. 21-23, were erected ¢, 1875 by Lawrence
Kane (see 29-31) South Elliott Place). Typical of the houses on South Portland
Averne, this pair is three stories resting on a tall rusticated basement
plerced by segmental-arched windows with iron gquards and keystones. The
massing and ormament of the houses is basically Italianate with full window
enframements, simple molded lintels and sills on coxbels. The pedimented
door enframament exhibits inset paneled plers and stylized neo-Grec keystones
and brackets., Double doors bensath arched transoms are recessed into the en-
framements. At . No. 27 cast-iron balustrades line the stoops and areaway,

and a sirgle newel-post and a single gatepost are still extant. Both houses
ware sold in 1876; No. 25 to Samuel E. Belcher and No. 27 to William French,
a rea) estate broker who purchased the house on speculation and did not live

Nog, 29-29A are a pair of neo-Grec hrownstones designed in 1878 by Brooklyn
architect Charles Mushlet for Bermard Fowler. Both of these houses remain
basically intact. The high stoops of the houses are ornamented with stylized
cast-iron balustrades amd heavy bulbous newel-posts (missing at No., 293).

The stoops lead to lovely paneled double doors recessed into round-arched
enframements that exhibit incised piers, paneled spandrels, and stylized key-
stones and hrackets that support segmental-arched pediments. Behind the cast-
iron areaway railings (missing at No. 29) rise tall basements with arched
windows with iron quards. Stylized pilaster forms, each articulated by an
ornamental beltoourse and ornamental capital, further enhance the basement
facades, The parlor floor windows have full enframements with projecting
81118 and molded lintels, all of which rest on stylized corbel blocks that
flank recessed panels, The upper story enframements are similar, but lack
these panels., Extramely fine wooden cornices with brackets and paneled fascias
camplete these two houses. In 1878 No. 29 was purchased by Frances Page, a
widow and No. 29A by William E. Goodridge, an lnsurance agent.
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No, 31 is a small neo-Renaissance style tenement that dates from the early
20th-century. The basement and first story of this huilding are built of
hrownstone while the upper stories are brick omamented with browmstone belt-
ocourses and terra-cotta window enframements. A garland, terra-ootta cornice
tops the huilding., A low stoop leads to a round-arched entrance that is -
flanked by attached Corinthian coluwmns that are raised on plinths and support
a full entablature., The most: notable feature of this building is its full- .
height swell-bay which rises to the right of the doorvay. All of the second
and third floor windows openings are ornamented by/terra-cotta enframements
with garlanded friezes. The upper story enframamehts arve of unornamented terra
cotta. Stone beltcourses run across the upper storiles and serve as window

.8ills. Very fine wrought-iron fences and cast—irm newel-posts and fence~

posts crmament the stoop and areaway.

are three brownstone houses erected c. 1867'by Bu:ook],)m builder 'nnnas

She11y. These, houses are typical Italianate etructures using such details
as rusticated basements, foliate hrackets, table sills, segmental-arched door
enframements, eyebrow lintels, round-arched doorways and bracketed wooden
cornices. No. 33 retains it original cast-iren rajlings but its newel-posts
are missing.. All of the houses have iron basement window guards. No. 35
has had its stoop removed, amd all of its moldings stripped. In 1867 No. 33

was sold to Brerson M. Knowles, a New York City stockiroker who lived here

briefly before moving to 1 South Oxford Street.

No. 39 was erected c. 1866 by builder Thomas Skelly and is practically
identical to Nos. 33~37 with the exceptions of it#:segmental-arched basement
windows and its doorway enframement plers that lack rondels. The fourth
gtory was added to the house in 1881 by architect Marshall J. Morrill, The
stoop walls and arcaway parapets are later additions., In 1866 the house was
soldt:oNelaunH. Benson, Jr., & New York City grocer.

Nos, 41-43. Like Nos. 33-37 and 39, Nos. 41-43 were erected by Brooklyn ‘builder

Themas Skelly c. 1866, The houses are virtually identical to Nos. 33-35,
e:mptﬂnttheirbasamtwﬁﬂmmaresegmtal..udmdmﬂthemmelblodm
of their table sills are smaller. Poth houses retain their original cast-iron
railings, and their original octagonal newel~posts and gateposts., In 1868
No. 41 was s0ld to Theodore Chichester, a clerk, and No. 43 was sold to
William Chrisfield who moved here from 52 South Portland Avenue where he had
lived for two years. c:l'n-:isfield (1815-1880) was a prominent dealer in drugs
and pharmacuticals.. :

No. 45 is an Ttalianate brownstone house erected c. 1866 for Thamas Comnolly
and s0ld to a New York City flour merchant, Richard S. Homan. The house is
a typical Italianate structure with high stoop, paneled door enframement with
foliate hrackets and eyebrown lintel, rusticated basement, extremely fine pan-
eled double doors, projecting eyebrow window lintels on the parlor floor,

‘molded-lintels and projecting sills above and a wooden bracketed cormice. The

stoop railings are original, but the aresway railmqs and newel-posts are
later additions.
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No. 47 is an Italianate row house that has had its stoop and iromwork re-
moved and a basement entrance added. As with most of the Italianate row
houses on South Portland Averue, this house is three stories raised on a tall
rusticated basement. Other Italianate motifs include a segmental-pediménted
door enframesment and eyehrow window lintels, all resting on foliate brackets
and a bracketed.wooden cornice. .

Nos. 49-57 are a row of five typical Italianate hmses erected c. 1866.
Although built as a uniform row, it is difficult o determine who the builder
was since the building lots were frequently exchanged between three buillders
who were active in the area--Richard Claffy, John Magilligan and William

. Flanagan. These houses use fairly traditional Italianate forms including
round-arched doar enframements with segmental-arched pediments resting on
foliate brackets, rusticated basements, table sills, eyebrow lintels and
wooden bracketed cormices. No. 55 retains its original Italianate

railings. The neo-Grec style iromwork at Nos. 51 and 53 was probably added
in the 1870s. The stoop walls, areaway parapets, and ircowork at Nos. 49
and 57 are of a later period. The table sills have been'removed at No. 55.
These houses were sold in 1866-67--No. 49 to New York City lawyer Charles C.
Converse, No. 51 to D.M. Bacon, an umbrella merchant, and No. 55 to
Valentine Snedeker, a clothing merchant.

mg,%@ 1 are a pair -of unusually tall Italianate brownstone residences.

Both houses are four stories raisad on tall rusticated basements, and both
were erected ¢. 1867. Like the houses at Nos. 49-57, the builders of these
homes remain obsoure since the lots were transferred between William Flanagan
and Michael Murray, two Brooklyn builders. Both houses have suffered
alterations. At No. 6l the original stoop with its cast-iron balustrades and
newal-posts leads~to double doors with a rectangular transom.. The doors are
recessed into an enframement ormsmented with foliate hrackets and keystone
that support a segmental-arched pediment. No. 59 has a round-arched enframe-
ment that is missing its hracketed pediment. The iromwork of No. 59 has been
replaced by masonry walls. No. 59 retains all of its ariginal eyebrow lintels
supported on console brackets. The moldings have all been removed at No. 6l.
Both houses-have table gills on their parlor floows (brackets stripped) and
bracketed wooden cornices. In 1867 No. 59 was eold to John Wood, a machinist,
and No. 61 to Colman Benadict, a New York City stockhroker, :

No, 63, built c. 1868 by builder John Seely is very similar to the ITtalianate
brownstones at Nog. 59-61, Like those houses No, 63 is four stories resting
on a tall rusticated basement. The butlding retains its-original cast-iron
raillings, pedimented door enframerent, and wooden cornice. All of the window
mfrmtshavebmshwed. In 1968 the house was sold to Joseph A. Burr.

No. 65 1s a transitional Second Empire/nec-Grec style house erected c. 1875
By Brooklyn builder George W. Brown (see 34 South Portland Avene). A wide
stoop leads to new double doors that are set into an enframement with oblong~
paneled piers and stylized hrackets and keystone supporting a projecting
angled lintel. The lintel supports a secord story angled bay. The three-
and~one-half-story house is raised on a tall rusticated basement with
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vermiculated stone blocks and round-arched windows with iron quards. All of
the facade windows have full enframements with raised lintels and paneled

friezes. The full-length parlor floor wimiows share a large table sill that
vests on brackets. The third story is topped by a wooden bracketed cornice

that supports a. slate mansard roof. This mansard has two. pedimented dormers
with round-arched windows. All of the bold cast-iron remains intact.

No, 67-75 is the side elevation of the house described at 91 lLafayette Avenue.
FOOTNOTES .

1. Ferry R. Stiles, The History of the of Kings and the City of
Brocklyn, New-York (New -?orE: W.W. }Tnﬁg%. & Co., 1884), P B859.

2. Tbid, p. 840, | /

3. New York Times,; May 24, 1903,.p. 3..



VANDERBILT AVENUE

1889,

’

, architect

286A-290; William Tubby

B

=

w I

LT

eyt

LY
| .”\4,%.\‘.. v G g

»
'
=

My 415 J
T i hm}\ i ,..w..._h'

S are . v i o
. - - AL
8\

] .-“.. Ay V.Ynﬂp

Ty
%

IRy &

_:.

*d

i SR

MR
AR

architect/builder, c.1877-1878.

92-298; Thanas B. Jackson,

vation Camission

rart, Lanvlmarks Preser

Nnll

o
3

hylrew §.

Photo credit:




FG-HD | '- ‘ -128-

_VANDERBILT AVENUE

Vanderbilt Avenue was named for local 1andomer and politician John
Vanderbilt. ,

VANDERBILT AVENUE, west side between DeKalb and Lafayette Avenues.

No. 264-270 is the side facade of the house described at No. 248
Avenue.

Nos. 272-276 are a group of modest French Second Bwpire style houses erected
c. 1871 by uilder William O. Purdy. The ornament on these houses is very -
simple with rather awkward doorway enframements camposed of pilasters
supporting shallow triangular pediments, plus rusticated basements,
segrental-arched window lintels, hracketed wooden oornicea and slate mansards -
with pairs of dormer windows with segmental-arched roofs. No. 276 is the
only house to have a section of its original areaway irorwork and all of
the stoops have new iron railings. The dormer windows of Nos. 274 and

276 have been enlarged. At No. 274 they cut into the original cornice, but
at No. 276thecorm.oehasbeenmwed

No., 278 is a simple three story Italianate house erected by either

#illiam or Abram Purdy c. 1865. The brick building is raised on a high
rusticated basement and ornamented with simple decarative forms including a
glab doorway lintel resting on hrackets (strlpped) » molded lintels,
projecting sills and a wooden bracketed cornice.

Nos. 280-284 are a row of three neo-Grec brownstone houses designed in
I875 by Brooklyn architect L.W. Seaman, Jr. for Abram Purdy. The narrow
houses have typical neo-Grec decorative forms including a doorway enframe-
ment with grooved, incised piers (altered at No. 284) and stylized
brackets, full window enframements with incised decoration, and wooden
cornices with stylized brackets. No. 282 retains its original cast-iron
railings and heavy newel-posts topped by urn motifs., In 1880 Purdy sold

No. 280 to James Foster, Jr., No. 282 to Charles H. Hooper, a bockkeeper,
and No. 284 to Edward L, Harriott, a clerk.

No. 286 is a small two-story French Second Bmpire style brownstone residence
with Mansard erected c. 1868 for William O. Purdy. The house has a low
stoop leading to an entranceway surmounted by an eyehrow lintel supported
an foliate brackets. A three-sided, full-height bay rises to the right.of
the doorway. The parlor floor windows rest on sills supported by paneled
brackets that flank a paneled plaque. All of the windows have molded eye-
brow lintels, and the second story windows have molded sills. A wooden
bracketed cornice supports the slate mansard that is pierced by three
round-arched dormer windows. A lovely iron cresting runs along the ridge of
the mansard., The areaway ironwork is original. The m.ntlows of the front
facade of the bay have been closed up.
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Nos. 286A, 288, 288A, 290. These four narrow Romanesque Revival-Queen
Anne style houses were designed in 1889 by William Tubby and built by the
Morris Building Campany for Charles Pratt. William Tubby (1858-1944) was
born in Des Moines, Iowa, and studied at the Brooklyn Polytechnic Institute
and in the office of Brooklyn architect Fbenezer L. Roberts. lle was the
architect for Charles Pratt's Morris Imlldmg Co. and in 1890 opened his
o office and designed many buildings in Brooklyn including the Charles
Millard Pratt residence on Clinton Avenuve (1893) and the 83rd Precinct
Police Station (originally the 20th Precinct) in Bushwick, a designated
New York City lLandmark. Oil magnate Charles Pratt lived arcund the corner
on Clinton Avenue and owned a great deal of land in Brooklyn. His firm, the
Morris Building Co., erected many row houses in Brooklyn, most designed by
Tubby.

" These extremely narrow (13'3") houses are built of deep-red brick with

rock—faoed sandstone basements and doorway lintels. The paired stoops lead
to paneled doors beneath clear-glass transam lights surmounted by the

rock-faced lintels, each ornamented by foliate end forms. Swooth-faced .
stone bands contime the line of the doorway lintels ant';l serve as lintels
for the large rectangular parlor floor windows, The round- and flat-arched
upper story windows are arranged swmetrlcally across the facade of the row.
The rectangular windows have splayed voussoirs of terra-cotta molded

to resamwble pressed brick and the voussoirs of the round-arched windows are
of a similar terra cotta form. These arches spring from bands of terra-
cotta egg-and-dart moldings. The upper sash of the rectangular windows of
the third floor are composed with a border of small square panes of glass.
Terra-cotta panels, most with sun burst motifs, are placed on the facade

where the two pairs meet and between the pairs of round-arched windows at the

third floor. A corbelled brick, terra~cotta and galvanjzed-iron cornice
surmounts the row of houses. All of the stoop and areaway wrought~ and
cast-iron railings are still in place.

292 is a three story Italianate brownstone residence erected in the
IEEUS. The house has a rusticated basement, table sills and an ornate wooden
cornice, but is most notable for its segmental-arched window and doorway
gpenings with simple full enframements topped by segmental-arched lintels.
The stoop walls and areaway parapets are later additions.

No. 294 has been omitted from the street mmbering.

Nos. 296-316 are the rectory, church and school of Queen of All Saints,
described at 201-209 Lafayette Avenue.

VANDERBILT AVENUE, west side between Lafayette and Greene Avenues.

Nos. 318-364 are the playground and side facade of Bishop I.outhm High
+ described at 91-99 Greene Avenue.
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VAmEi?BILT AVENUE, west side between Greene and Gates Avenues.

‘Nos. 366-372 is the side elevation of the building described at 90-92
Greene Avenue.

No. 374 is a transitional French Second Bwpire/neo~Grec style brownstone
residence. The main feature of the facade of this quoined, two story struc-
ture with mansard is a two story, three-sided bay with rusticated basement
that projects to the left of the entryway. The doors are set into a typical
enframement with pancled piers, foliate hrackets and keystone, and segmental-
arched pediment. The long, parlor floor windows have sills supported on
paneled blocks that flank a recessed plaque. The sagmental-arched lintels-
of these windows are supported on foliate brackets. The second story win-
dows have projecting sills and segmental-arched lintels. 7The slate mansard
has twd dormer -windows. The dormexr over the projecting bay is an unusual
tripartite form. A large pedimented central section is flanked by smaller
recessed windows. A single, pedimented dormer is located above the

doorway bay. These dormers are ornamented with angled neo-Grec hrackets,

Nos. 376-408 (378 has been cmitted from the street mumbering) are sixteen
transitional Italianate/nec-Grec brownstone residences designed and built
by Brookiyn builder/architect Thamas B. Jackson. These houses can be divid-
ed into four groups of four houses each. The massing of all of these houses
is identical. There are subtle differences in the detailing of each group.
The houses are basically Italianate in form, but the details have a neo-Grec
feeling. The three-story houses are raised above smooth-~faced basements
ormamented by raised beltcourses with parallel incised grooves, The belt-
courses at Nos, 376-384 are slightly different from those on the other
houses. The doorway enframements have oblong paneled piers and styllzed
foliate brackets and keystones that support triangular pediments., The
foliate brackets at Nos. 402-410 are of a different form than those on the
other houses. All of the windows have full enframements, those of the first
and second floors having lintels raised above friezes ornamented with incised
carving of two designs. The parlor floor sills rest on simple foliate
brackets that flank recessed panels. No., 376 differs from the rest of the
row in that the doorway bay projects out to meet the facade of the house at
No. 374. All of the houses are crowned by wooden modillioned cornices with
paneled fascias. Bold cast-iron railings with octagonal newel-posts topped
by acorns, a symbol of hospitality, line the stoops. The areaways are enclosed
by cast-iron fences with small gateposts and the basement windows have iron
guards.

The detailing of the row remains -in an incredibly fine state of

. The stoop ironwork remains. at all of the houses except Nos. 386,
390, 400, 406 and 408, although Nos, 376, 384, 392 and 402 are also missing
newel-posts. All of the areaway ironwork and -all of the facade ornament

remains in pristine condition. Only Nos. 382, 396, 400 and 408 have had
their double doors removed.
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Nos. 376-384 were erected c. 1879, In 1879 Jackson sold No. 382 to David
M. DeWitt, assistant corporation counsel of Brocklyn. Nos. 386~392 were
erected ¢. 1878. In 1879 No. 386 was sold to Helen A Davis, a widow. In
1878 No. 388 was sold to Charles E. 'Tuthill, (d.1903) principal of P.S.

25 at Sumner and Lafayette Avermues, No. 390 to George W. Ketchum, a tailor,
and No. 392 to’'Daniel Van Nostrand, a poultry merchant. Nos. 394-400 were
erected ¢, 1877. In 1878 No. 396 was sold to Robert W. Derby and in 1877
No. 398 was sold to William H. Waltoh, a machinery merchant, and No. 400 to
James H. Sturgen, a broker. Nos. 402-408 were erected ¢. 1874. In 1874 No.
404 was s0ld on speculation to Sylvester Groesheeck who lived at No. 424.
In 1876 No. 406 was sold to Henry F. Williams, a butcher.

Nos., 410-416 and 418-432 are two rows of twelve almost identical Italianate
brownstone houses bullt by Brooklyn buildér/architect Thamas B. Jackson C.
1872. The buildings are fairly simple three-story structures raised above
rusticated basements. The houses have paneled, segmental-arched doorway
enframements supported on foliate hrackets raised above spandrel panels:

that vary slightly at the two rows. All of the windows have smooth,

shallow projecting drip lintels topped by projecting molded cornices.

Molded sills resting on corbel blocks project below the second and third
floor windows. Fach res:.dence is crowned by a wooden modillioned cornice with
a paneled fascia.

With the exception of No. 432 which has had its comice removed,
parlor floor windows shortened, doors replaced, and a fire escape added,
the row remains virtually intact. The heavy cast~iron stoop railings and
octagonal newel-posts are missing at Nos. 410 and 412 and the newel-posts
alone are missi.ng at No. 422. All of the houses retain their areaway
fences and iron basement window guards. The iron and glass double doors
at No. 414 are an early 20th oentmry replacement and the window sash at
No, 208 is an alteration.

In 1872 Jackson sold No. 420 to Charles B. Hogg {(&. 1911) of Standard
011, No. 422 to Edward Kimpton, a stationer, No. 424 to Sylvester Groesbeeck
a manager who also owned No. 404, Nos. 426-432 to William E. Bolles, a paper
mexrchant who lived at No. 430 and sold No. 426 to Ann A. Phelan, a widow,
and No, 428 to Michael Nevin, a book dealer, both in 1872. In 1873 Jackson
s0ld No. 418 to Erastus New, a lawyer. Jackson retained title to Nos. 410
and 412 for many years, selling No. 410 to T. William Slocum, an agent,
in 1889, and No. 412 to John Haupt, a barber, in 1890,

No. 434 is a modest French Second Empire style brick structure that is not
as impressive as the rest of the houses on the street. The huilding was
erected ¢. 1866 by builder Nicholas Duryea and the first known resident of
the house was William A. Ellis, a surveyor who purchased the property in
1875. The details of the structure are quite simple with a pedimented stone
doorway lintel, flat stone window lintels, simple projecting sills, and a
mansard roof with two dormers. The cornice of the house has been removed,
The Queen Anne style multi-paned double doors are a lovely, but later
addition. The stoop and areaway are lined with very fine cast-iron railings.

The vacant lot at Nos. 436-442 is not included in the district.
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192, portico; Marshall J. Morrill,
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Washington Park is the name of that part of CQumberland Street that
fronts onto Fort Greene Park (originally called Washington Park).

WASHINGTON PARK, east side between Myrtle and Willaghby Avenues.

The -street numbering is continuous with even and odd mumbers on the same
side. .

No. 147-157 is the side elevation of 320 Myrtle Avenue and ' is outside of
Elﬁ i sEErlc d:l.stnct. ,

No, 158 is a neo-Grec row house designed in 1873 by architect R. Van Brunt.

se was built for Andrew Nelson who sold it in 1879 to George Wilson
(1836-1908), secretary of the New York Chamber of Commerce. The house has
sustained a mumber of alterations including the removal/of window lintels,
kut it still retains a rusticated basement, the stylized doorway-enframe-
ment brackets and keystone that support a segmental-arched pediment, full
window enframements with gills resting on small angular brackets, and a
wooden bracketed cornice. :

Nos. 159-163 are the only unified row of multiple dwellings within the
district. The five buildings, each built to house four families, were
desiemned by Brooklyn architect W.H. Hall in 1877 and huilt by Henry and
Isadora Mangels who lived at 185 Washington Park. These neo-Gréc houses
retain most of their original decorative detail including doorway enframe-
ments with stylized brackets, eared lintels, central rosettes and incised
carving, full window enframements with eared lintels, rosettes and incised
decoration, two-sided full height bays and wooden bracketed cornices with
ornate panels. '

Nos. 164-168 are a row of five transitional French Second Bw;re/neo—(“rec
row houses erected c.- 1869-70 by Brooklyn builder/architect ‘Thomas B.
Jackson. The houses all originally had three full stories, high rusticated
basements and slate mansard roofs. The most notable features of the row are
the doorway and window enframements. The doorways are enframed by paneled
piers with simple incised console hrackets that support triangular pediments.
The windows all have full enframements with brackets similar to those of

the doorway, but supporting slab lintels. At the full length parlor floor
windows, the brackets flank plaques with recessed panels and centrally
placed decorative rondels. A single table sill extenxis under these

_windows at each house with a deep, modillioned wooden cornice with a

paneled fascia tops the third story of each house.  Mansard roofs, each
with two dormer windows, rise above the cornices. Much of the original
balustraded cast~iron work is still extant. At Nos. 165 and 168 the
window enframements have been stripped and the triangular doorway pediments
removed. The stoop has been removed at No. 167 and No. 168 has had its
mansard removed and a full fourth story added. In 1870 Jackson sold No.
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Ne. 165 to Thomas Murphy, an auctioneer. In 1871 No. 165 was sold to Wall
Street lawyer Oliver H. Holden. No. 167 was sold to Horace M. Warren in
1869, Warren was the proprietor of H.M. Warren & Son, a morocco leather
factory located in Williamsburg. The factory was orga 1zac1 to "fﬂil and
dress entire sheep sking for shop makers' and book-—b ers' use.

Nos. 169-172 was originally a row of four identical’ Itallanate houses all
of which have been considerably altered with the exception of No. 172 which
still retains 'a doorway enframement that is conposed of paneled piers, bold
foliate hrackets and keystone,and segmental-arched pediment. All of the
bracketed eyebrow window lintels amd projecting sills.on corbel blocks, as
well as the wooden bracketed cornice are in place. The original cast-iron
stoop ard areaway railings, octagonal newel-posts and square gateposts re-
main. Only the parlor floor windows have been altered on this house.

Nos. 169 and 170 have been stripped of most of their original details and
No. 169 has had a slate mansard with three dormer windows added.

No. 171 shows the most radical alteration. In 1884 owner William N.
Dykman coarmissioned Brooklyn architect Mercein Thamas to design a new
facade for the house. Tharas, who designed many Romanesque Revival
and Queen Anne houses and instititional buildings in Brooklyn, placed a brick,
Queen Anne style facade on the building. The once flat facade now has a
two-story three-sided projecting bay above a hasement and is ornamented by
toothed and molded brick bands, a large number of ornate terra-cotta panels
with decorative masks, foliage, sun bursts, goblets and rosettes,and a
wronght-iron balcony. Typical of the Queen Amne style are the small-
paned windows of the third floor. Thomas' stoopandoornicehavebeen
removed and a hrick fourth story added.

Nos. 173-176 are a row of four Italianate houses erected by T.B. Jackson c.

4 retains most of its original Italianate details. These in-
clude a doorway pediment resting on boldly carved foliate brackets and
keystone, full window enframements with projecting lintels raised above panel-
ed friezes, table sills, rusticated basements with segmental-arched windows
with full enframements (unusual for basement windows), a deep modillioned
cornice with paneled fascia and heavy cast-iron railings and octagonal newel-
posts. No. 173 has lost its cornice, stoop and iromwork and has had many of
its moldings stripped. The lintels have been stuccoed and parts of the
cornice and the table sills have been remowved at No. 175 and a mansard roof
with arcuated dormer lintels has been added. No. 176 has been stripped of
almost all of its crmament and is now topped by a rather unsightly mansard
roof with asphalt siding on its front face. The mansard over the brick side
and rear facades of No. 176 still retains its slate shingles and the rear of
the mansard retains its original arcuated dormer lintels. In 1868 No.

173 was sold to Joseph Iee, a tailor, No. 174 to George W. McKee, an iron
merchant, and No. 175 to Abner Keeney, a oontractor.
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No. 177 has been amitted from the street mumbering.

WASHINGTON PARK, east side between Willoughby and DeKalb Avenues.

The street numbering is continuous with even and odd nurbers on the
same side.

No. 178 has been aunitted from the street numbering.

Nos. 179-185 are a row of seven grand French Second Impire style brownstone
residences. All of the houses are three stories high above high rusticated
basements and are surmounted by steep slate mansards with boldly ornamented
dormers. The houses were erected c. 1866 by Brooklyn builder Joseph Ii.
Tovnsend. Most of the houses of the row retain their oricinal detailing.
High stoops (paired at Nos. 179-180) lead to ornate doorway enframements
_with paneled piers and spandrels, foliate keystones and large foliate

- brackets supporting segmental-arched pediments. The rest of the

detailing, including parlor floor table sills and eyehrow lintels supported
on foliate brackets, eyebrow lintels resting on oonsole krxackets, molded
sills supported by corbel blocks on the upper floors and bracketed wooden
ocornices are typical of the ormamental forms popular during the 1860s.

Each domer window has a triangular pediment that rests on four ornate
brackets. Original cast~iron railings and octagonal newe)-posts and
gateposts all originally topped by balls are extant at Nos. 179 and 180.
All of the other houses have later ironwork or masonry stoop walls and
areaway parapcts. The side facade of No. 179 is faced in brick and orna-<
mented with molded stone lintels and projecting sills. The mansard roof

carries around to the side facade of No. 179 and the rear facades of HNos.
179 and 150.

In 1867 Townsend sold No. 179 to Curran Dinsmore, a dealer in rail-
road springs, and No. 180 to Henry A. Richardson, a furnace dealer. 1In
1866 No. 181 was sold to John Clark Morton {(1856-1914}, vice-president
of John C. Morton Son, Co., a dealer in building materials located on
Carroll Street at the Gowanus Canal., In 1866 No. 182 was purchased by
Alfred C. Barnes who worked in the educational book publishing business
founded by his father Alfred S. Barnes. Also in 1866 No. 183 was sold to
Thomas G. Bell, of the United States Navy, No. 184 to mexchent Charles F.
Elwell and No. 185 to real estate hwxoker Henry Mangels, who lived at thise
house and built the row of multiple dwellings at Nos. 159-163 Washmgton
Park.

No. 186 is a three~and-one~half story Italianate residence erected ¢.

1866 by builder/architect Thamas B, Jackson and sold in that year to

Joseph Mayer, a dealer in skirts. Although most of the ornament, including
the rusticated basement, door enframement with segmental-arched pediment,
table sills and eyehrow window lintels are typical of the Italianate style,
the attic story is unusual., A large wooden cornice with paired brackets

spans the attic, and the fascia of this cornice is pierced by three small rec-
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tangular windows. This attic form is more typical of Greek Revival style
dwellings than it is of Italianate residences. The stoop walls and areaway
parapets are .later additions and most of the moldings have severely
deteriorated. ’

Nos. 187-191. . The five Italianate row houses at Nos. 187-191 Washington
Park have all been altered from their original appearance, although No.
191 retains most of its original fomms including its ornate doorway en-
framemment sunwounted by an eyebrow lintel raised on foliate hrackets that
flank an ornamental panel with a central foliate rondel, rusticated basement,
narrow full-length parlor floor windows with eyebrow lintels and foliate
brackets, second floor eyebrow window lintels and molded sills resting

on corbel blocks, third floor molded lintels and sills, and a wooden cornice
with single and. paired hrackets. The glass and iron doors of No. 191 date
fram early in the 20th century, and the stoop walls, areaway parapet and
ironwork are not original. The house is missing its parlor floor table |
sills and brackets, still extant at No. 187. Nos. 187 and 188 have late
1%th-century stoop walls and areaway parapets and have had much of their
ornamental detail shaved off. No. 189 is the only house in the row to
retain ite cast-iron railings, but its newel-posts are replacements and a
two-sided oriel now projects above the doorway at the second floor. No.
190 was radically altered later in the 19th century with a box stoop, one-
story bay above a basement, wrought ironwork, and new double doors and
milti-paned transom light added. Much of the detailing was subsequently
shaved off. The land on which this row was built was owned by Brooklyn
builder John Doherty who sold the entire row to Peter Donolon in 1863.
Danlon sold off the land in 1863 and 1864,

No, 192 is a transitional neo-Grec/Queen Anne style house designed in
1881 by Marshall J. Morrill (see 2-4 South Oxford Street). The asymmetrical
three-story house is quite complex in its massing. The stoop with its
masonry newel-posts and new irormmork leads to a columar portico with
stylized capitals that support a full entablature and parapet. To the
right of the entrance rises a full-height bay. On the basement, first and -
second floor levels the central rectangular face of the bay ds flanked by
curved elements. On the parlor level the windows of these curved sections
have stylized anthemia enframements. The parlor floor level is ornamented
by stylized pilasters and a panel carved with a cartouche flanked by
foliage., On the second floor level are unornamented pilasters and a neo-
Grec panel, while a carved ornamental panel with shell motif separates this
level from the third floor with its fluted pilasters., The attic level has
paneled dwarf pilasters that support a tall triangular pediment cut by a
tiny square window and ornamented with sunburst panels and a centrally-
placed sunflower panel. The attic level of the bay also serves as a large
dormer projecting from the slate mansard roof. To the left of this dormer
is a smaller pilastered dormer with a sunflower panel in its triangular
pediment. The stone coping at the ends of the roof is €apped by grotesque
masks. hAbove the entranceway are two rectangular windows with simple en-
framements, supported at the third floor, by stylized brackets.
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Nos. 193 and 194. The two lots on which Nos. 193 and 194 were built were
owned by builder/architect Thamas B. Jackson and sold in 1870 to Samel

. Burling, a grocer who lived at No. 193. It is probable that No. 193, an
Italianate style residence, was built by Jackson before the land was sold,
bt that the ngo-Grec house at No. 194, although similar in certain
features, was built soon after. Both houses have particularly impressive
doorway enframements with rusticated round-arched entryways and Roman Doric
columns that support trianqular pediments. The Italianate detailing on

No. 193 includes a rusticated basement pierced by segmental-~arched windows
with rusticated voussoirs. The large parlor floor windows have full en-
framements that rest on a ocontinuous sill. The sill is supported by pro-
jecting paneled blocks that flank larger panels. The upper story windows
have pareled enframements with molded sills resting on paired corbel blocks.
All of the windows have slab lintels resting on ornmate lwackets. A large
wooden bracketed cornice surmounts the house. The stone walls of the stoop
with ‘their foliate detail are vprobably original.

i

No. 194 is articulated by a three-sided full height bay ornamented with
fluted pilasters and piers, panels of naturalistic foliate carving on

the first floor, and incised stylized foliate carving on the upper floors.
The windows of the flat facade over the doorway have full enframements with
rope moldings, stylized hrackets and slab 1intels. A hracketed wooden cornice
crowns the house.

Nos. 195, 195A and 196 are a group of three neo-Grec houses designed in 1879
by Brooklyn architect George L. Morse (architect of the Romanesque Revival
Franklin Savings Bank of 1888 located on the soutlwest corner of Montague and
Clinton Streets in the Brooklyn Heights Historic District) for Dwight S.
Richardson who lived within the district at 222 Cumberland Street. The
facades are severely deteriorated. Although much of the detailing has
spalled, No. 196 retains most of its original features., The simple dcorway
and the chamfered one-story angled bay above a hasement are surmounted by a
contimicus wooden cornice. ‘This use of a wooden cornice for the parlor floor
level is quite unusual. The upper story windows have crossetted enframements
that flank large stone panels. Other ornamental forms are cut by parallel
incised grooves. A wooden comice with triple bracket groupings supports

a slate mansard pierced by two triangular dommers, It is crowned by an
omate cresting, only a small remnant of which still exists. No. 195 has
lost both of its cormices and has later stoop walls. No. 195A has had its
stoop and first floor cornice removed. In 1879 No. 195 was purchased by
mamfacturer Albert Newell. :

Nos. 197 and 198 are a pair of related neo~-Grec style houses--No. 198
designed in 1880 and No. 197 in 1881, both by architect John Antrim (or
Antrum) . No. 197 is a narrow, four-story house,with basement that has had
its stoop removed. The former doorway enframement and the window enframement
of the parlor floor are both round-arched and ornamented with stylized
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decorative forms. These arches flank a projecting panel with a decorative,
stylized anthemia and bellflower motif. A three-sided oriel window

with a wooden bracketed cornice projects fram the second floor. The windows
of the oriel and of the upper two floors have simple grooved enframements.
On the third and fourth floors are slab lintels resting on square blocks
supported by stylized anthemia leaves. These windows flank incised foliate
designs. A bracketed cornice crowns the house. '

No. 198 is a wide house with two flat window bays and a three-sided full
height bay. The stoop, with its stone walls and square newel-posts, leads
to a doorway enframement located in the second bay. This enframement has -
stylized pilasters supporting stylized hrackets that flank a grooved, coved
architrave. The brackets support a slab lintel. The pilasters rest on
plinths that are connected to the stoop walls by curving forms and large
stylized anthemia. Al)l of the windows have full enframements with ‘stylized
foliate ornament. Ornamental foliate plaques are located below the parlor
floor windows, .and a stone bracketed cornice surmounts the parlor floor of
ﬁaethree—smed bay. A ocornice, ldentlcal to that at No. 197, crowns the

Nos. 199 and 200 are a pair of typical Italianate houses built c. 1865 by
Builder Thomas Skelly. No. 200 retains most of its ornamental forms in-
cluding a rusticated basement, doorway enframement with a segmental-arched
pediment, eyébrow window lintels and table sills, all resting on foliate
brackets on the parlor floor, eyehrow lintels and molded sills on the
upper floors, and a bracketed wooden cornice. The stoop walls and areaway
parapet are later additions on both houses. No. 199 has-had its parlor-
floor windows altered a.nd table sills removed.

Nos. 201-203 are a group of thrxee, four-story Italianate houses with base-—
ments bullt c. 1865 by builder Thomas Skelly. ' All of these houses have
been radically altered. All have been .stripped of their decorative details.
No. 201 retains its paneled doorway enframament piers and rusticated base-
ment, No. 203 retains its stoop, and all of the houses still have their
round-arched basement windows ornamented with iron guards and their
hracketed wooden cornices. In 1865 Skelly sold No, 201 to John W. Harman,
a New York City dry goods merchant, and No. 203 to machinery dealer Jonathan
C. Brown, No. 202 was sold to Francis W. Goodrich (1833-1906). Goodrich
was born in Havana, New York and graduated fram Amherst College before
attending Albany Law School and being admitted to the bar in 1854. In 1865
he was elected to the New York State Assembly representing Brooklyn and in
1866 was the unsuccessful Republican candidate for State.Senator. Goodrich

. was also defeated in three attempts to become a United States Congressman.
. In 1890 he became chairman of the Republican County Comittee and was also

Chairman of the International Maritime Conference. In 1896 Goodrich was
appointed to the Supreme Court of New York and later was appointed to the
Appellate Division where he served until his retirement in 1903.
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Nos. 204-209 are a row of six grand Italianate row houses built c. 1870 by
bulider William Brush. The houses are four-story structures with basements,
and each house is surmounted by a large hracketed wooden cornice. Nos. 204,
205 and 207 retain most of their or:n.gmal decorative forms., At these houses
wide stoops, originally lined with iron railings and octagonal newel-posts
as at Nos. 204.and 205 (partly stuccoed) lead to round-arched doorways with
unusual enframements composed of slender Raman Doric columns supporting tri-
a.ngular pediments. 'The sunken, smooth-faced basements have round-arched
openings with full enframements. All of the windows have bold, full en-
framements. The first, second and third floor windows have bracketed slab
lintels raised above paneled friezes, The sills of the parlor floor
windows rest on paneled brackets that flank blind balustrades. All of the
areaways are enclosed by later masornry parapets. No. 206 haw :
had its stoop removed and a basement entrance added. No. 207 has new .
stoop walls. Nos. 208 and 209 have had their stoops removed and all of
their moldings.shaved off. No. 209 has also lost its cornice ut retains
its quoined corner. On DeKalb Avenue this house has a, bnck facade with '

a centrally placed three-sided first floor oriel, and it retains its
original cast-iron areaway railing. In 1870 No. 205 was sold to Henry
Richardson. In 1871 No. 204 was purchased by James C. Godfrey, a merchant
and No. 207 by Necian Bliss, No. 208 was the home of William Hunter of

the fimm of J.J. Little & Co., printers located at 10 Astor Place. Iliunter
was active in Masonic circles and was one of t.he fitBt men to use a steam.
printing press in New York City.

FOOTNOTES

1. Henry R. Stiles, The listory of the County of Kings and the City of
Broocklyn, New-York (New York: W.W. Munsell & Co., 1884), p.780.
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Willoughby Avenue was probably named for Samuel Willoughby, a praminent
Brooklyn landowner.

WILLOUGHBY AVENUE, south side between Washington Park an-:] Carlton Avenue.

‘ 2-10" is the lside facade of the house descri.bed at No. 179 Washington Park.

Nos. 12 and J4 are a pair of radically altered Ital:.anate brownstone row-
houses, Both houses have had their stoops removed and their facades shaved.
The wooden bracketed cornice of No. 14 is intact, but that of No. 12 has
been altered.

No. 16 is a simple brick Italianate house erected c. 1865, The house has a projecti
slab doorway lintel resting on foliate brackets, flush stone window lintels,

projecting window sills, and simple bracketed wooden cornice. The brick

areaway wall and iron stoop railing are later additions.

No.. 18 is a brick Italianate residence erected ¢. 1864. The house has a .
Fall doorway enframement with paneled piers and foliate brackets supporting
a slab lintel. All of the windows have slab lintels resting on foliate .
brackets. The lintels of the second and third floors are topped by wooden
segmental-arched pediments. A wooden bracketed cornice with segmental-arched
fascia tops the house. _

No. 20 is the side facade of the house described at No. 206 Carlton Avenue.
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WILIQUGHBY AVENUE, south side between Carl'ton Avenue and Adelphi Street.

No, 22-30 is the side elevatlon of the building descr:.bed at No. 201 Carlton
Avenue.

No, 32-40 is t.he side elevation of the Muilding described at No. 202 Adelphi
Street.

WILLOUGHBY AVENUE, south side between Adelphi Street and Clermont Avenue.

No. 42-62 is the side facade of P.S. 20 described at No. 199-255 Adelphi -
street.

WILLOUGHBY AVENUE, south side bétween Clerment and Vanderbilt Awvenues.

No. 64-72 is the side facade of the Simpson M.E. Church described at No. 201-
299 Clermont Avemue,

No. 74-82 is the extension to the Simpson M.E. Church and is cutside of the
aIstn.ct
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FINDINGS AMD DESIGNATIONS

On the basis of a careful congideration of the history, the architecture and
other features of this area, the Landmarks Preservation Cammission finds that
the Fort Greene Historic District contains buildings and other improvements
which have a special character and special historical and aesthetic interest
and value and which represent one or more periods or styles of architecture
typical of one or more eras in the history of New York City and which cause
this area, by reason of these factors, to constitute a distinct section of
the City.

The Cammission further finds that, among its important qualities, the Fort
Greene Historic District is one of the best preserved 19th-century residential
neighborhoods of New York City; that it was developed over a brief period of
time from c. 1855-75, producing a special quality of hamogeneity and regularity;
that it contains an historic park laid out by Frederick Law Olmsted, this
oountry's leading 19th-century landscape architect; that the area retains
much of its original 19th-century ambiance to an extent rarely found in the
city with excellent examples of late Greek Revival, Italianate, Anglo-
Italianate, French Second Pmpire and neo-Grec style houses; that beirng part

of the "City of Churches” the District contains three fine 19th-century
Protestant churches as well as a beautiful early twentieth century Roman _
Catholic church and the remnants of the Cathedral of the Immaculate Conception;
that the area reflects the architectural aspirations of the 19th-century
middle-class urban residents and was the home of many important Brooklynites;
and that because of its distinguished architecture and its special character as
a carefully planned, homogeneous cammmity, it is an outstanding historic
District within the City which continues to attract new residents.

Acocordingly, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 21 (foxmerly Chapter

63) of the Charter of the City of New York and Chapter 8-A of the -
Administrative Code of the City of New York, the Landmarks Preservations
Oommission designates as an Historic District the Fort Greene Historic
District, Borough of Brooklyn, containing the property.bounded by the east-
arn curb line of St. Edwards Street, part of the southern curb line of
Willoughby Street, part of the western and part of the southexn property .
lines of Fort Greeme Park, the remaining part of the western property line
of Fort Greene Payk, a line extending southerly to the northern curb line

; Of DeKalb Avenue; a line extending southerly to the y curb line of

' S. Elliott Place, part of the northern curb line of S. £lliott Place, part
of the eastern curb line of Si.Elliott Place, a line extending easterly to
the southern property line of 71 S. Elliott Place, the southern property
line of 71 S. Elliott Place, the western property line of 70 S, Partland

. Avemie, the western and southern property lines of 72 S, Portland Avenue,

" a line extending easterly to the eastern curb line of S. Partland Avenue,
part of the eastern curb line of S, Portland Averue, part of the northern
ourb line of Lafayette Avenue, a line extending northerly to the eastern .
property line of 67-75 S. Portland Averue/91 Lafayette Avenue, the eastern
property line of 67-75 S. Portland Avenue/91 Lafayette Avenue, part of the

/ southern property line of 65 S. Portland Avenue, the southerly property line

of 64 S. Oxford Street, a line extending easterly to the eastern curb line

of S. Oxford Street, part of the curb line of S. Oxford Street, a line ex-
tending southerly across Lafayette Avenue, part of the eastern curb line

of 5. (xford Street, a line extending easterly to the southern property line of
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77-93 S. Oxford Street/102-108 Lafayette Avenue, ths southern property line
of 77-93 S. Oxford Street/102-108 Lafayette Avenue, ‘the southemn propexty
line of 77-93 s. Oxford Street/102-108 Lafayette Avenue,ths western property

lines of 302 through 320 Cumberlard Street, part of the northern and the
western property lines of 11 Greene Avenue, a line externding southerly to
the northern curb line of GreeneAvenue, part of the nowtherlv. gurb line of
Greene Avenue, part of the western curb line of Cumberland Street, a line
extending easterly to the southern property line of 311 Cumberland Street,
the southern property lines of 311 Cumberland Street and 370 Carlton Avenue,
a line extending easterly to the eastern curb line of Carlton Avemue, part
of the eastern curb line of Carlton Avenue, a.line extending easterly to the
southern property line-of 375 Carlton Avenue, part of the’ scuthern and part
of the eastern property lines of 375 Carlton Avémie, the remaining part of
the southern property line of 375 Carlton Avenue, part of the southern and
part of the western property lines of 374 Adelphi Street, the western
property lines of 376 and 378 Adelphi Street, the western and the southern
property lines of 380 Adelphi Street, a line extending easterly to the east-
ern curb line of Adelphi Street, part of the eastern curb line of Adelphi
Street, a line extending southerly across Greene Avenue to part of the

property line of 375-383 Adelphi Street/54 Greene Avenue, the southern
property lines of 375-383 Adelphi Street/54 GreeneAvemue through 62 Greene -
Avenue, the western property line of 396 through 402 Clermont Avenue, part
of the western ard part of the southern property lines of 404 Clermont
Avenue, the remaining part of the westexrn property line of 404 Clexrmont
Averue, the western property line of 406 Clermont Avenue, part of the western
| and part of the nothern property lines of 408 Clermont Avenue, the remaining
i part of the western property line of 408 Clexmont Avenue, the western
property lines of 410 through 432 Clermont Avenue, the western and the
- southern property lines of 434 Clermont Avenue, a line extending easterly
to the eastern curb line of Clermont Avenue, part of the eastern curb line of
! Clermont Avenue, a line extending easterly to the southern property line of
! 44} Clexmont Avenue, the southern property lines of 441 Clermont Avenue and
o 434 Vanderbilt Avenue, a line extending easterly to the western curb line of
| Vanderbilt Avermue, a line extending northerly across Greene Avemue, the
western curb line of Vanderbilt Avenue, a line extending northerly across
Iafayette Avenue, the western curb line of Vanderbilt Avemue, a line extend-
“, \\ northerly across De Kalb Avenue, part of the western curb line of
Vanderbilt Avenue; a line extending westerly to the nothern property line
of 247 De Kalb Avenue, the northern property lines of 247 through 241 De Kalb
nvemue, part of the eastern property line of 239 De Kalb Averme, the eastern
and part of the northern property lines of 259 Clexrmont Avenue, the eastern
property lines of 257 through 215 Clermont Avenue, the eastern and part of the
- porthern property lines of 213 Clermont Avenue, the eastern property line of
11 Clermont Avenue, then continuing along the eastern building line of 64-72
¥ Willoughby Avenue/201-209 Clermont Avenue, a line extending northerly to the
southern curb line of Willoughby Avenue, part of the southern curb line of
Willoughby Avenue, a line extending westerly across Clermont Avenue, the

eastern curb line of Adelphi Street, a line extending easterly to the southern '
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southern curb line of Willoughby Avernue, a line extending westerly across
Adelphi Street, the southern curb line of Willoughby Avenue, a line extend- .
ing westerly across Carlton Avenue, part of the southern curb line of
Willoughby Averue, a line extending northeasterly across Willoughby Avenue
to the eastern property line of 1-10 Willoughby Avernue/176-177 Washington
Park through 174 Washington Park, part of the eastern and part of the northern
property lines of 173 Washington Park, the remaining eastern property line of
173 Washington Park, the eastern property lines of 172 through 160 Washington
Park, part of the eastern and part of the southern property lines of 159
Washington Park, the remaining eastern property line of 159 Washington. Park,
part of the eastern and part of the northern property lines of 158 Washington
Park, part of the eastern and part of the northern property lines of 158
Washington Park, the remaining eastern and the remaining northern property
lines of 158 Washington Park, a line extending westerly to the western curb
‘line of Washington Park, part of the western curb line of Washington Park,
the southern curb line of Myrtle Avenue, Brooklyn.






